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The General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series 2007 N4 (the “G.O. Notes” or the “Notes”) and the General Obligation Corporate
Purpose Bonds, Series 2007 BS, (the “G.O. Bonds” or the “Bonds”) are direct general obligations of the City of Milwaukee,
Wisconsin (the “City” and the “State”, respectively), payable from taxes levied on all taxable property within the City, subject to
taxation by the City, without limitation as to rate or amount and are being issued for the purpose of financing various public
improvement projects and fiscal requirements of the City.

The G.O. Notes and G.O. Bonds will be dated the July 17, 2007, will bear interest payable semiannually on February 15 and August
15 of each year, commencing February 15, 2008, at the rates, and will mature on February 15 in the years and amounts, as detailed
on the inside front cover hereof. The G.O. Bonds maturing on or after February 15, 2018 are subject to optional redemption on any
date on or after February 15, 2017, as provided herein. The G.O. Notes are not subject to redemption prior to maturity.
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2007 and are being issued subject to the legal opinions of Katten Muchin Rosenman LLP, Chicago, Illinois, and of Hurtado, S.C.,
Wauwatosa, Wisconsin, Bond Counsel to the City, and other conditions specified in the Official Notice of Sale. Delivery of the
Offered Obligations will be on or about July 17, 2007 (the “Expected Date of Delivery”) in New York, New York.

Payment of the principal of and interest on the G.O. Notes (maturities 2013 through 2017) and the G.O. Bonds (all
maturities) when due will be insured by a municipal bond insurance policy to be issued by the MBIA Insurance Corporation
simultaneously with the delivery of the G.O. Notes and G.O. Bonds.
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THIS COVER PAGE CONTAINS CERTAIN INFORMATION FOR QUICK REFERENCE ONLY. IT IS NOT A SUMMARY OF THE OFFERED
OBLIGATIONS. INVESTORS MUST READ THIS ENTIRE OFFICIAL STATEMENT TO OBTAIN INFORMATION ESSENTIAL TO THE MAKING OF AN
INFORMED INVESTMENT DECISION.
For Further Information Contact:
W. Martin Morics, City Comptroller and Secretary to Public Debt Commission
City Hall, Room 404, 200 East Wells Street - Milwaukee, W1 53202 - Phone (414) 286-3321

June 27, 2007



MATURITY SCHEDULES

$42,740,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION PROMISSORY NOTES, SERIES 2007 N4

The G.O. Notes will be dated the Expected Date of Delivery, will bear interest at the rates shown below, payable
semiannually on February 15 and August 15 of such year, commencing February 15, 2008, and will mature on February 15
in the years and in the amounts shown below. The G.O. Notes are not subject to redemption prior to maturity.

Maturing Interest Maturing Interest
(February 15) Amount Rate Yield (February 15) Amount Rate Yield
2008 $19,930,000 4.00% 3.72% 2013 $2,365,000 4.25% 4.02%
2009 5,230,000 5.00 3.88 2014 1,830,000 4.50 4.06
2010 2,795,000 4.25 3.90 2015 1,845,000 4.50 4.12
2011 2,580,000 4.25 3.94 2016 1,860,000 4.25 4.21
2012 2,430,000 4.25 4.00 2017 1,875,000 4.25 4.25

$7,090,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION CORPORATE PURPOSE BONDS, SERIES 2007 BS

The G.O. Bonds will be dated the Expected Date of Delivery, will bear interest at the rates shown below, payable
semiannually on February 15 and August 15 of each year, commencing February 15, 2008, and will mature on February 15
in the years and in the amounts shown below. The G.O. Bonds are subject to optional redemption on any date on or after

February 15, 2017, as provided herein.

Maturing Interest Maturing Interest
(February 15) Amount Rate Yield (February 15) Amount Rate Yield
2018 $1,170,000 5.00% 4.28% 2022 $1,250,000 5.00% 4.49%
2019 1,190,000 5.00 433 2023 510,000 5.00 4.53
2020 1,210,000 5.00 4.37 2024 535,000 5.00 4.55
2021 1,225,000 5.00 4.40



No dealer, broker, salesperson or other person has been authorized by the City to give any information or to make any
representation other than as contained in this Official Statement in connection with the sale of these securities and, if given
or made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon. This Official Statement does not constitute an
offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy nor shall there be any sale of these securities by a person in any jurisdiction
in which it is unlawful for such person to make such offer, solicitation or sale. The information and expressions of opinion
herein are subject to change without notice and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder
shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the City since the date
hereof. These securities have not been registered pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, in reliance upon exemptions

contained in such Act.
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INTRODUCTION TO THE OFFICIAL STATEMENT

The purpose of this Official Statement, including the cover page and appendices, is to set forth certain information
concerning the City of Milwaukee (the “City”), located in Milwaukee County, Wisconsin, and to set forth information
concerning the following securities issued by the City:

$42,740,000 General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series 2007 N4 (the “G.O. Notes” or the “Notes”)

$7,090,000 General Obligation Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 2007 B5 (the “G.O. Bonds” or the “Bonds”)

The G.O. Notes and the G.O. Bonds shall be collectively referred to herein as the “Offered Obligations.”
The following summary statement is furnished solely to provide limited introductory information regarding the City’s Offered
Obligations, and does not purport to be comprehensive. All such information is qualified in its entirety by reference to the
more detailed descriptions appearing in this Official Statement, including the Appendices hereto.

SUMMARY STATEMENT-THE G.O. NOTES

The following material is supported, where required, by the detailed information and financial statements appearing in this
Official Statement, including the Appendices hereto.

Issuer: City of Milwaukee, Wisconsin.
Issue: $42,740,000 General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series 2007 N4.
Dated Date: The Expected Date of Delivery.
Amounts and Maturities: G.O. Notes
February 15  Amount February 15 Amount

2008 $19,930,000 2013 $2,365,000

2009 5,230,000 2014 1,830,000

2010 2,795,000 2015 1,845,000

2011 2,580,000 2016 1,860,000

2012 2,430,000 2017 1,875,000
Interest Payment Dates: Each February 15 and August 15 commencing February 15, 2008.
Denominations: $5,000 or integral multiples thereof.
Purpose: The Notes are being issued pursuant to Chapter 67 of the Wisconsin Statutes for the

public purpose of financing various public improvement projects and fiscal
requirements of the City.

Security: Principal and interest on the Notes will be payable out of receipts from an irrevocable
ad-valorem tax levied on all taxable property within the City.

Authority for Issuance: The Common Council of the City has authorized the issuance and sale of the Notes in
accordance with the provisions of Chapters 65 and 67 of the Wisconsin Statutes.

Form of Issuance: The Notes will be issued in Book-Entry-Only form, fully registered in the name of
Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company of New York, New York,
which will act as security depository for the Notes. (See “BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY
SYSTEM” herein).



Tax Status of Interest:

Redemption Feature:

Official Statement:

Professionals:

Delivery:

Reoffering:

Continuing Disclosure Certificate:

Bond Counsel are of the opinion that under existing law, interest on the Offered
Obligations is not includable in the gross income of the owners thereof for federal
income tax purposes. If there is continuing compliance with the applicable
requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”), Bond Counsel are of
the opinion that interest on the Offered Obligations will continue to be excluded from
the gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes. Bond Counsel
are further of the opinion that the Offered Obligations are not “private activity bonds”
within the meaning of Section 141(a) of the Code. Accordingly, interest on the
Offered Obligations is not an item of tax preference for purposes of computing
individual or corporate alternative minimum taxable income. However, interest on the
Offered Obligations is includable in corporate earnings and profits and therefore must
be taken into account when computing corporate alternative minimum taxable income
for purposes of the corporate alternative minimum tax. Interest on the Offered
Obligations is not exempt from Wisconsin income taxes. (See “TAX MATTERS”
herein).

The Notes are not subject to redemption prior to maturity.

The City will provide the original purchaser of the Notes and Bonds with up to 50
copies, of this Official Statement, within seven business days following the award of
the Notes.

Bond Counsel: Katten Muchin Rosenman LLP
Chicago, Illinois

Hurtado, S.C.
Wauwatosa, Wisconsin

Financial Advisor: Robert W. Baird & Co.
Milwaukee, Wisconsin

Bagley Financial Corp.
Detroit, Michigan

Delivery of the Notes will be on or about July 17, 2007 at the expense of the City,
through the facilities of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York.

The public reoffering prices(s) or yield(s) of the Notes are set forth on the inside front
cover page of the Final Official Statement.

In order to assist bidders in complying with the continuing disclosure requirements of
SEC Rule 15¢2-12 and as part of the City’s contractual obligation arising from its
acceptance of the successful bidder’s proposal, at the time of the delivery of the Notes
the City will provide an executed copy of its Continuing Disclosure Certificate. (See
“Appendix C-Master Continuing Disclosure Certificate” herein).

(The remainder of this page has been intentionally left blank)



SUMMARY STATEMENT-THE G.O. BONDS

The following material is supported, where required, by the detailed information and financial statements appearing in this
Official Statement, including the Appendices hereto.

Issuer:
Issue:
Dated Date:

Amounts and Maturities:

Interest Payment Dates:
Denominations:

Purpose:

Security:

Authority for Issuance:

Form of Issuance:

Tax Status of Interest:

Redemption Feature:

City of Milwaukee, Wisconsin.
$7,090,000 General Obligation Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 2007 B5.

Expected Date of Delivery, which is anticipated to be July 17, 2007.

G.O. Bonds
February 15 Amount February 15 Amount
2018 $1,170,000 2022 $1,250,000
2019 1,190,000 2023 510,000
2020 1,210,000 2024 535,000
2021 1,225,000

Each February 15 and August 15 commencing February 15, 2008.
$5,000 or integral multiples thereof.

The Bonds are being issued pursuant to Chapters 65 and 67, of the Wisconsin Statutes
for the purpose of financing various public improvement projects.

Principal and interest on the Bonds will be payable out of receipts from an irrevocable
ad-valorem tax levied on all taxable property within the City.

The Common Council of the City has authorized the issuance and sale of the Bonds in
accordance with the provisions of Chapters 65 and 67 of the Wisconsin Statutes.

The Bonds will be issued in Book-Entry-Only form, fully registered in the name of
Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company of New York, New York,
which will act as security depository for the Bonds. (See “BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY
SYSTEM” herein).

Bond Counsel are of the opinion that under existing law, interest on the Offered
Obligations is not includable in the gross income of the owners thereof for federal
income tax purposes. If there is continuing compliance with the applicable
requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”), Bond Counsel are of
the opinion that interest on the Offered Obligations will continue to be excluded from
the gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes. Bond Counsel
are further of the opinion that the Offered Obligations are not “private activity bonds”
within the meaning of Section 141(a) of the Code. Accordingly, interest on the
Offered Obligations is not an item of tax preference for purposes of computing
individual or corporate alternative minimum taxable income. However, interest on the
Offered Obligations is includable in corporate earnings and profits and therefore must
be taken into account when computing corporate alternative minimum taxable income
for purposes of the corporate alternative minimum tax. Interest on the Offered
Obligations is not exempt from Wisconsin income taxes. (See “TAX MATTERS”
herein).

The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity. (See “REDEMPTION
PROVISIONS” herein.)



Official Statement: The City will provide the original purchaser of the Notes and Bonds with up to 50
copies, of this Official Statement within seven business days following the award of
the Bonds.

Professionals: Bond Counsel: Katten Muchin Rosenman LLP
Chicago, Illinois

Hurtado, S.C.
Wauwatosa, Wisconsin

Financial Advisor: Robert W. Baird & Co.
Milwaukee, Wisconsin

Bagley Financial Corp.
Detroit, Michigan

Delivery: Delivery of the Bonds will be on or about July 17, 2007 at the expense of the City,
through the facilities of The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York.

Reoffering: The public reoffering prices(s) or yield(s) of the Bonds are set forth on the inside front
cover page of the Final Official Statement.

Continuing Disclosure Certificate:  In order to assist bidders in complying with the continuing disclosure requirements of
SEC Rule 15¢2-12 and as part of the City’s contractual obligation arising from its
acceptance of the successful bidder’s proposal, at the time of the delivery of the Bonds
the City will provide an executed copy of its Continuing Disclosure Certificate. (See
“Appendix C-Master Continuing Disclosure Certificate” herein).

(The remainder of this page has been intentionally left blank)



THE G.O. NOTES AND G.O. BONDS

AUTHORITY AND PURPOSE

The G.O. Notes and G.O. Bonds are being issued pursuant to Chapters 65 and 67, of the Wisconsin Statutes for various
public improvement projects and fiscal requirements of the City, and to pay the associated financing costs. The Common
Council of the City adopted resolutions on January 18, 2006 and December 12, 2006 which authorize the issuance of the
G.0. Notes and G.O. Bonds.

Proceeds of the G.O. Notes and G.O. Bonds are anticipated to be used for various public improvements and fiscal
requirements of the City as follows:

Renewal & Development Projects $1,170,000
Library Improvements 210,000
Public Buildings 5,995,000
Parking Facilities 1,065,000
Fire Stations & Improvements 1,430,000
Police Facilities 660,000
Bridges & Viaducts 540,000
Street Improvements 2,238,150
Parks & Public Grounds 870,000
Sewer Purposes " 13,810,000
Tax Incremental Districts 6,060,000
Schools 600,000
Harbor 11,850
Financing receivables and other fiscal needs 15,170,000
TOTAL $49,830,000

" Approximately $10,000,000 of the Sewer Projects is being borrowed on an interim
basis in anticipation of a long-term financing from the State of Wisconsin Clean Water
Fund Program. The amount is included in the February 15, 2008 maturity of the Notes.



SECURITY FOR THE G.O. NOTES AND G.O. BONDS

The G.O. Notes and G.O. Bonds shall be general obligations of the City, and payment thereof is secured by a pledge of the
full faith and credit of the City. The City is authorized and required to levy on all taxable property in the City such ad-
valorem taxes, without limitation as to rate or amount, as may be necessary to meet the debt service requirements on the G.O.
Notes and G.O. Bonds.

Under and by virtue of Sections 67.05(10) and 67.12(12), Wisconsin Statutes, the City is obligated to levy a direct annual tax
sufficient in amount to pay and for the express purpose of paying the interest on such Notes and Bonds as it falls due, and
also to pay and discharge the principal thereof at maturity. The City is, and shall be, without power to repeal such levy or
obstruct the collection of such tax until all such payments have been made or provided for.

Under Section 67.035, Wisconsin Statutes, all taxes levied for paying principal and interest on valid notes or bonds are
declared to be without limitation. Under Section 65.06(18), Wisconsin Statutes, the omission from the budget of the payment
of interest on or the principal of any bonded debt of the City when due shall not prevent the placing of the same on the tax
roll for the levy and the collection of the tax and the payment of the money therefor.

Approximately $10,000,000 of the February 15, 2008 maturity of the G.O. Notes is for interim financing of Sewer Projects.
The City has applied for Clean Water Fund (the “CWEF”) loans from the State to finance the Sewer projects. CWF loan
disbursements are anticipated to be used to finance the maturing principal on a long-term basis. CWF loans are approved for
specific projects, and not all projects financed by the G.O. Notes may be approved by the State. For projects not financed by
the CWF, the City intends to issue long-term debt prior to the 2008 maturity of the G.O. Notes to permanently finance the
remaining portion. While the proceeds of the CWF loan are anticipated to be used to repay a portion of the G.O. Notes, the
proceeds are not pledged to the repayment of the G.O. Notes.

MATURITY AND INTEREST RATES

The G.O. Notes and G.O. Bonds are to be dated the Expected Date of Delivery, and will bear interest from that date at the
rates, and shall mature each February 15 in the amounts and on the dates as set forth on the inside front cover page of this
Official Statement. Interest on the G.O. Notes and G.O. Bonds will be payable on February 15, 2008 and thereafter
semiannually on February 15 and August 15 of each year and is calculated on the basis of 30-day months and a 360-day year.

REDEMPTION PROVISIONS
The G.O. Notes are not subject to redemption prior to their maturity.

The G.O. Bonds will be subject to redemption prior to their maturity, at the option of the City, on any date on or after
February 15, 2017 at a price of par plus accrued interest to the date fixed for their redemption. If less than all outstanding
G.0. Bonds are called for redemption, the G.O. Bonds shall be called in such order of maturity as shall be determined by the
City. If less than all of the G.O. Bonds of any maturity are called for redemption, the particular G.O. Bonds of such maturity
to be redeemed shall be selected by lot. Notice of redemption shall be mailed, postage prepaid, to the owners of any G.O.
Bonds to be redeemed in whose name such G.O. Bonds are registered as of a record date, which shall be 45 days prior to the
redemption date. While in Book Entry Form, as the Registered Owner, DTC will receive the Redemption Notice. The City is
not responsible for DTC’s notification of redemption to Participants and Beneficial Owners.

STATUTORY BORROWING LIMITATION

Wisconsin Statutes limit direct general obligation debt the City may issue. The G.O. Notes and G.O. Bonds are within these
limitations. (See “DEBT STRUCTURE” herein for further details).



INVESTMENT POLICIES

The City may invest any of its funds not immediately needed in accordance with Section 66.0603 of the Wisconsin Statutes.
The City, through Common Council Resolution 930358, adopted July 6, 1993, has instructed the City Treasurer to invest City
funds, including Milwaukee Public Schools (MPS) funds, in: (a) Certificates of Time Deposit at approved public
depositories limited to the equity capital or net worth of the financial institution with collateralization required when total
deposits at any institution exceed $500,000; (b) Repurchase Agreements with public depository institutions; (c) the State of
Wisconsin Local Government Investment Pool; (d) U.S. Treasury and Agency instruments and (e) commercial paper which
has a rating in the highest or second highest rating category assigned by Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group, Moody’s
Investors Service, Inc., or some other similar nationally recognized rating agency.

To the extent possible, the City Treasurer attempts to match investments with anticipated cash flow requirements. No limits
have been placed on how much of the portfolio can be invested in any of the above investment categories.

The State of Wisconsin Investment Board (“SWIB”) provides the Local Government Investment Pool as a subset of the State
Investment Fund (the “Fund”). The Local Government Investment Pool includes deposits from elective participants
consisting of over 1,000 municipalities and other public entities. The Fund also consists of cash balances of participants
required to keep their cash balances in the Fund. These required participants include the State General Fund, State agencies
and departments and Wisconsin Retirement System reserves. The Local Government Investment Pool portion of the Fund is
additionally secured as to credit risk.

The Local Government Investment Pool is a local option City depository. The City utilizes the Local Government
Investment Pool in a manner similar to a “money market” account. When other investment options provide more favorable
results, such options are utilized. December 31, 2006, the City had approximately 15.132% ($97,911,638.86) of its and
MPS’s investments deposited in the Local Government Investment Pool.

SWIB invests the assets of the Fund, which includes assets of the Local Government Investment Pool. Overall policy
direction for SWIB is established by an independent, eight-member Board of Trustees (the “Trustees”). The Trustees
establish long-term investment policies, set guidelines for each investment portfolio and monitor investment performance.

The objectives of the Fund are to provide (in order of priority) safety of principal, liquidity, and a reasonable rate of return.
The Fund includes retirement trust funds cash balances pending longer-term investment by other investment divisions. The
Fund also acts as the State’s cash management fund and provides the State’s General Fund with liquidity for operating
expenses. The Fund is strategically managed as a mutual fund with a longer average life than a money market fund. This
strategic advantage is made possible by the mandatory investment of State funds for which the cash flow requirements can be
determined significantly in advance. Because of the role played by the Fund, the cash balances available for investment vary
daily as cash is accumulated or withdrawn from various funds.

A copy of SWIB’s annual report may be obtained by submitting a written request to the State of Wisconsin Investment
Board, P.O. Box 7842, Madison, WI 53707-7842.
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THE CITY
LOCATION, ORGANIZATION AND GOVERNMENT

GENERAL

The City of Milwaukee, Wisconsin (the “City”), is located on the western shore of Lake Michigan in southeastern Wisconsin.
The City is the hub of the metropolitan area and a thriving place to live and work. The City is Wisconsin’s largest city with a
population of approximately 590,370 and is the principal trade, service and financial center of southeastern Wisconsin. The
surrounding Standard Consolidated Metropolitan Statistical Area (SCMSA) consisting of Milwaukee, Waukesha,
Washington, Ozaukee, and Racine Counties, has a population of nearly 1.6 million. This SCMSA is the 24™ largest
metropolitan area in the United States of America.

The Port of Milwaukee provides access to the sea lanes of the world. General Mitchell International Airport is served by
domestic and international airlines. Five rail lines serve the City and provide transportation links throughout the United
States. The City is also connected with the interstate highway system.

The City was incorporated as a city on January 31, 1846, pursuant to the laws of the territory of Wisconsin. Wisconsin
gained statehood in 1848. The City, operating under a Home Rule Charter since 1874, has a council-mayor form of
government.

ELECTED OFFICIALS

The Mayor, City Attorney, Comptroller, Treasurer and Common Council members are elected officials of the City. Local
elections are non-partisan. The Mayor, City Attorney, Comptroller and Treasurer are elected at-large for identical four-year
terms.

The Common Council represents fifteen Aldermanic districts. Each Alderperson represents, and is elected from, an
aldermanic district with a population of approximately 40,000.

CITY OFFICIALS
As of April 6, 2004
(initial year in office follows name)

Mayor Tom Barrett (2004)

City Attorney Grant F. Langley (1984)

City Comptroller W. Martin Morics (1992)

City Treasurer Wayne F. Whittow (1976)

COMMON COUNCIL

Ashanti Hamilton (2004) Robert W. Puente (2004)
Joe Davis, Sr. (2003) Michael J. Murphy (1989)
Michael S. D’ Amato (1996) Joseph A. Dudzik (2002)
Robert J. Bauman (2004) James N. Witkowiak (2004)
James A. Bohl, Jr. (2000) Terry L. Witkowski (2003)
Michael McGee, Jr. (2004) T. Anthony Zielinski (2004)
Willie C. Wade (2003) Willie L. Hines, Jr. (1996)
Robert G. Donovan (2000)

The terms of all the above elected positions expire in April, 2008.
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PUBLIC SERVICES AND FACILITIES

The City, employing approximately 7,263 people (some in a seasonal capacity), is charged with primary responsibility for
public safety (via its police, fire and health departments); public works (including refuse removal and a City owned water
utility); various cultural and recreational services including a library system; and general municipal administration. City
government also participates in housing and neighborhood programs through separate housing and redevelopment authorities.
These two latter authorities have the ability to directly borrow using revenue backed financings.

Other major local governmental units and their related government services are the Milwaukee Public Schools (education);
Milwaukee County (parks, airport/mass transit/highways, social services and court system); Milwaukee Metropolitan
Sewerage District (wastewater treatment); and, the Milwaukee Area Technical College (higher education). Wisconsin
Statutes require Milwaukee Public School purpose debt to be issued by the City. The remaining governmental units cited
each retain the statutory authority to issue general obligation debt.

Two special purpose governmental units exist with the ability to issue debt and tax on a limited revenue basis. The first is the
Southeastern Wisconsin Professional Baseball District (the “District”), a public entity created by State legislation
encompassing five southeastern Wisconsin counties, to finance construction/operations of a new baseball facility (“Miller
Park™) for the National League Milwaukee Brewers baseball club. Miller Park opened in March, 2001. The District has
issued $199 million of revenue bonds supported by a five-county, one-tenth of one percent sales tax and other ancillary
revenue streams. In addition, $45 million of lease certificates of participation have been sold to finance acquisition and
installation of facility equipment, scoreboards, etc.

The second special purpose governmental unit is the Wisconsin Center District, which oversees construction/operation of the
Midwest Airlines Center, Milwaukee’s major convention complex. This complex also includes the existing US Cellular
Arena and the Milwaukee Auditorium facilities, formerly known as “MECCA”. The Midwest Airlines Center was financed
by $185 million of revenue bonds backed by dedicated sales tax revenues from the lodging, restaurant, and vehicle rental
areas. Phase one of the Midwest Airlines Center was completed during 1998. Phase two was completed in 1999. In 2001,
$30 million of Bonds were issued to renovate the Milwaukee Auditorium.

In addition to the facilities noted above, Milwaukee is home to a modern 17,000+ seat indoor sports and concert venue, the
Bradley Center, located in the heart of downtown. This facility serves the National Basketball Association Milwaukee
Bucks, the Marquette University Golden Eagles basketball team and the Milwaukee Admirals International Hockey League
club. Milwaukee also boasts a lakefront Milwaukee Art Museum as well as major symphony, ballet companies, theatre and
other performing arts.

May 4, 2001, marked the unveiling of phase one of Milwaukee Art Museum’s new expansion and renovation, which
combines art, dramatic architecture and landscape design. The new Quadracci Pavilion, the first Santiago Calatrava-designed
building in the United States, features a 90-foot high glass-walled reception hall enclosed by the Burke Brise Soleil, a
sunscreen that can be raised or lowered creating a unique moving sculpture.

Finally, the Milwaukee area is the site of a number of higher education institutions, including Marquette University, the
University of Wisconsin — Milwaukee, Alverno College, Mount Mary College and the Milwaukee School of Engineering.
EMPLOYEE RELATIONS

Approximately 6,070 of the City’s full-time employees are members of bargaining units represented by unions. Labor

agreements are in place through December 31, 2006 with 18 unions representing approximately all but 300 of the City’s
represented employees.
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GENERAL, DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC INFORMATION

GENERAL

The City, with a population of 590,370, represents approximately 40 percent of the population of the greater metropolitan
area. Based on the last U.S. Census, population in the four county retail trade area surrounding Milwaukee is 1,512,400 and
represents 28% of the population of the State of Wisconsin. Over 74 percent of metropolitan Milwaukee’s population is
comprised of residents within the working ages of 18 and older. Forty-eight percent of the Milwaukee SMSA (Milwaukee,
Washington, Waukesha and Ozaukee Counties) residents are under the age of 35.

CITY OF MILWAUKEE
SELECTED ECONOMIC DATA

Adjusted Gross
Income Per

Year Population Return
2006 590,370 N/A

2005 592,765 $30,988
2004 593,920 29,922
2003 595,245 29,402
2002 595,958 28,694
2001 595,508 29,056
2000 596,974 28,834

Sources: Wisconsin Department of Administration, Demographic Service Center and the Wisconsin Department of Revenue, Division

of Research and Analysis.
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BUILDING PERMITS

Another indicator of economic growth is the activity in the building industry. The following table indicates building permit
activity during the period 2002 through December 2006.

General Total

Year Value Permits Issued
2002 $337,028,003 2,756
2003 334,954,154 2,884
2004 294,811,125 2,784
2005 529,251,733 2,599
2006 424,763,947 2,655
Residential Building
Single Family Multi-Family Total Permits
Year Value # Of Units Value # Of Units Value # Of Units Issued
2002 $18,726,773 135 $53,525,650 562 $72,252,423 697 172
2003 20,069,077 159 91,792,191 666 111,861,268 825 187
2004 29,896,986 194 48,346,002 553 78,242,988 747 244
2005 33,751,976 193 113,713,239 500 147,465,215 693 231
2006 25,146,380 162 95,804,142 519 120,950,522 681 189
Commercial Building
Year Value Permits Issued
2002 $87,778,047 89
2003 61,824,799 96
2004 63,485,441 89
2005 166,425,515 106
2006 134,084,138 113
Public Building
Year _Value Permits Issued
2002 $24,122,613 159
2003 54,241,508 202
2004 34,176,914 95
2005 51,889,921 49
2006 38,009,733 243
Alterations and Additions
Year Value Permits Issued
2002 152,874,920 2,336
2003 107,026,579 2,399
2004 118,905,782 2,356
2005 163,471,082 2,213
2006 131,719,554 2,110

Note: Miller Park, the City’s new major league baseball venue, was completed in March 2001. This $350 + million project is not
incorporated within the above schedules.

Sources: Development Center, Department of City Development. Data accumulated from monthly reports submitted to U.S. Department
of Commerce, Bureau of the Census, Construction Statistics Division, Washington D.C.
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LEADING BUSINESS AND INDUSTRIAL FIRMS
LOCATED WITHIN MILWAUKEE COUNTY

The listing of large employers in the Milwaukee County area which follows, reveals the diversity of Milwaukee County’s
economic base. The largest of these are shown in the following list which includes only employers with the majority or all of
their employment in Milwaukee County.

2006
Employment

Employer Estimates Type of Business or Service
Aurora Health Care 15,054 Health Care
Wheaton Franciscan Healthcare 10,840 Health Care
U.S. Government

(Includes Zablocki V.A. Medical Center) 10,800 Government
Covenant Health Care 9,000 Health Care
City of Milwaukee 7,263 Government
Milwaukee Public Schools 7,137 Education
Roundy's Supermarkets 6,800 Grocery Retailer
M&I Marshall & Ilsley 6,139 Holding company banking/finance and data services
Columbia-St. Mary’s 5,749 Health Care
Milwaukee County 5,568 Government
WE Energies 5,177 Electric/natural gas utility
Northwestern Mutual Life 4,839 Insurance
Medical College of Wisconsin 4,625 Medical school/academic/health care
University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee 4,307 Education
Froedert Memorial Lutheran Hospital 3,720 Health Care
Harley-Davidson Motor Company 3,684 Manufacturer, motorcycles
Rockwell Automation

(formerly Allen-Bradley) 3,400 Manufacturer, electrical/electronic products
US Bank (formerly Firstar Corporation) 3,085 Finance, banking
SBC Communications

(Ameritech Corporation) 2,766 Communications

Manufacturer, small engines, automotive locks &
Briggs and Stratton 2,600 keys
Children’s Hospital of Wisconsin 2,500 Health care
Manufacturer, of electronic control systems,

Johnson Controls, Inc. 2,500 automobile interior modules
Assurant Health Care 2,083 Health care
Marquette University 1,843 Higher Education
Miller Brewing Company 1,700 Manufacturer of beer and aluminum containers

() Reflects full-time equivalent employees (FTEs).

Source: The 2007 Business Journal Book of Lists.
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EMPLOYMENT AND INDUSTRY

During 2006, the City’s unemployment rate averaged approximately 7.2%. Presented below are unemployment rates for the
City of Milwaukee, as compared to the State of Wisconsin and the United States for the period 2002 through December 2006.
The information below reflects revisions, corrections, and new inputs from the 2000 census, including the application of the
changes to the prior years shown. For further information on the changes, please contact the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics,
or visit their website at http://www.bls.gov.

ANNUAL UNEMPLOYMENT RATES

Milwaukee
City of - Waukesha State of

Year Milwaukee Metropolitan Area Wisconsin United States
2006 7.0% 4.9% 4.7% " 4.6%
2005 7.3 5.0 4.7 5.1

2004 7.7 54 4.9 5.5

2003 8.7 6.1 5.6 6.0

2002 8.3 5.8 53 5.8

Source: U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics.
() Estimated from monthly data.

RECENT MONTHLY UNEMPLOYMENT RATES
(Not Seasonally Adjusted)

Milwaukee
City of - Waukesha State of
Month Milwaukee Metropolitan Area Wisconsin United States
April 2007 7.5% 5.3% 5.3% 4.3%

Source: U.S. department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics.

The City’s economic structure reveals a diversified economy with strong service and manufacturing sectors. The service
sector (service, finance, insurance, real estate and retail trade) employs over 69 percent of the workforce. Manufacturing
firms employ 17 percent of the work force. The area is not dominated by any large employers. Less than two percent of the
manufacturers have employment levels greater than 500. Less than one percent of the employers in finance, insurance and
services have more than 500 employees.
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County of Milwaukee
Establishments and Employment by Industry Group
2006 - 3rd Quarter

Number of Total Average
NAICS Description Establishments Employment
Utilities 34 1,918
Construction 1,351 13,894
Manufacturing 1,273 61,431
Wholesale Trade 1,527 19,499
Retail Trade 2,495 45,160
Transportation And Warehousing 657 22,018
Information 321 12,015
Finance And Insurance 1,311 29,979
Real Estate And Rental And Leasing 848 7,477
Professional And Technical Services 2,332 24,039
Management Of Companies And Enterprises 196 14,034
Administrative And Waste Services 1,187 38,413
Educational Services 563 32,967
Health Care And Social Assistance 2,680 83,112
Arts, Entertainment, And Recreation 271 9,129
Accommodation And Food Services 1,733 36,629
Other Services, Ex. Public Admin 2,597 15,430
Public Administration 109 22,812
Unclassified 4 51
Total 21,489 490,007
All Government 465 52,413
Private Sector 21,043 437,697

Source: Wisconsin Department of Workforce Development
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TEN LARGEST TAXPAYERS WITH 2006 ASSESSED VALUATIONS

US Bank Corporation $231,049,930
Northwestern Mutual Life Ins. 172,345,420
Metropolitan Associates 107,791,600
NNN 411 East Wisconsin LLC 97,877,000
Marcus Corp/Milw City Center/Pfister 97,491,970
Towne Realty 94,773,970
M & 1 Marshall & Ilsley Bank/Metavante Corp 80,462,090
Crichton-Hauck/Shoreline/Juneau Village 73,276,400
Miller Brewing 68,405,190
100 E. Wisconsin Ave Joint Venture 59,035,950

Source:  City of Milwaukee, Assessor’s Office February 2007.

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.)

18



DEBT STRUCTURE

The City of Milwaukee has never defaulted in the payment of the principal or interest on its debt obligations, nor has the City
issued any refunding securities for the purpose of preventing default in principal or interest on its debt obligations.

LEGAL DEBT LIMITATIONS

Section 67.03 of the Wisconsin Statutes, as supplemented and amended, limits direct general obligation borrowing by the
City to an amount equivalent to five percent of the equalized valuation of taxable property within the City. Section 119.49 of
the Wisconsin Statutes, as supplemented and amended, further authorizes referendum approved bonding in an additional
amount equivalent to two percent of the equalized taxable property within the City for school capital purposes. Such debt
margins, as of June 15, 2007, are calculated upon the 2006 City equalized valuation for 2007 purposes of $30,226,985,500.
After issuance of the Offered Obligations, the available five percent debt margin for City borrowing will be $700,645,313 or
46.4% ($766,645,313 or 50.7% if the $66 million of the Series 2007 R2 Cashflow Notes are excluded) remaining for future
debt issuance. The available two percent debt margin for school purpose borrowing is $589,765,560, or 97.6% remaining for
future debt issuance.

DEBT MARGIN
(Includes the Offered Obligations)

Equalized Value of Taxable Property in the City $30,226,985,500
Legal Debt Limitation for City Borrowing

5% of Equalized Value $1,511,349,275

General Obligation Debt Outstanding subject to 5% Limit
as of 06/15/07*

Plus: GO Notes

$792,058,962
42,740,000

Plus: GO Bonds
Plus: GO CFNs
Less: Provision for current year maturities

Net General Obligation Debt Outstanding subject to the 5% Limit
as of 06/15/07

Total Debt Margin for City Borrowing (in Dollars)

(As a percentage)
(As a percentage excluding Cash Flow Notes)

Legal Debt Limitation for School Purpose Borrowing

2% of Equalized Value
General Obligation Debt Outstanding subject to 2% Limit

as of 06/15/07
Less: Provision for current year maturities

Net General Obligation Debt Outstanding subject to the 5% Limit
as of 06/15/07

Total Debt Margin for School Purpose Borrowing (in Dollars)

(As a percentage)
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7,090,000

(31.185.000)

$14,774,150

*Includes the $66 million General Obligation Cash Flow Promissory Notes, Series 2007 R2, dated March 27, 2007.

$810,703,962

$700,645,313

46.4%
50.7%

$604,539,710

$14,774,150

$589,765,560

97.6%



DEBT REFUNDED
The City has issued the following series of general obligation refunding bonds that have outstanding escrow amounts:

$26,035,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series of 2001-A, dated July 1, 2001, for the purpose of refunding
additional portions of four general obligation bond issues, with a final escrow payment in 2009, and Associated Trust
Company, National Association as escrow trustee.

$159,985,000, General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series of 2002-A, dated October 15, 2002, for the purpose of
refunding portions of seventeen general obligation issues, with a final escrow payment in 2011, and Bank of New
York as escrow trustee.

$45,240,000 General Obligation Refunding Bonds, Series 2005 AS, dated June 7, 2005, for the purpose of refunding

portions of seven general obligation issues, with a final escrow payment in 2012, with Associated Trust Company,
National Association as escrow trustee.

None of the refunded debt is reflected in the “Debt Margin” presentation above.

ANALYSIS OF GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT
OUTSTANDING AS OF JUNE 15, 2007

Public Buildings $141,545,670
Tax Increment Districts 141,416,504
Schools (5% City Borrowing) 99,879,261
Schools (2% School Purpose Borrowing) 14,774,150
Streets 82,119,586
Sewers 76,517,256
Police 41,825,268
Water 20,732,811
Blight Elimination/Urban Renewal 19,786,374
Bridges 19,027,290
Local Improvement Projects/Special Ass 17,169,376
Fire 16,771,540
Finance Real & Personal Property Tax Rec 12,710,128
Parking 11,379,628
Library 8,594,389
Playground/Rec Facilities 7,144,602
Harbor 3,904,198
FMIS Replacement 3,293,000
Municipal Expenses 1,500,000
Grant & Aid Improvements City Share 414,175
Economic Development 129,440
Industrial Land Bank 90,736
Resource Recovery 61,015
Milwaukee Exposition and Conv Center 35,366
Lakefront Development 11,349
Cash Flow Notes 66,000,000
Total $806,833,112
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TRENDS OF GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT

The following table indicates the general obligation debt of the City outstanding on December 31* of the year shown.

Debt Service Fund Balance

Allocated

General Obligation To Specific Debt Less Debt
Dec. 31 Debt Outstanding® Issues® Unallocated® Service Fund Balance
2001 $643,382,647 $13,391,189 $28,745.811 $601,245,647
2002 659,548,890 14,526,317 3,021,809 642,000,763
2003% 660,081,448 22,503,385 12,192,196 625,385,866
2004% 672,642,303 23,707,300 10,625,595 638,259,408
2005 710,409,475 21,981,065 11,294,554 677,133,856
2006 797,462,085 41,319,706 10,964,294 745,178,085

(1) The allocation of the Debt Service Fund balances to specific issues is based upon the debt service due for Tax Incremental Districts,
Parking, Special Assessment, Water and Delinquent Tax borrowings as a portion of total debt service. (For further information
regarding debt service due for Tax Increment Districts, please see “TAX INCREMENT DISTRICT FINANCING.”)

(2) Includes amounts borrowed for Tax Incremental District Program, Parking Program, financing of special assessments, delinquent
taxes and water purposes. See “DEBT-STRUCTURE-TRENDS OF SELF SUSTAINING GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT” on the
following page for additional information.

(3) From Provision for Future Maturities - Principal and Interest.

(4) From Debt Service Fund Revenues.

(5) Beginning with 2002, the portion of the Debt Service Fund needed to pay interest on certain self supporting debt has been excluded

from the balance.
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COMPUTATION OF NET DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING DEBT

JUNE 15,2007
Debt Outstanding
As of June 15, 2007 Approximate Milwaukee's
(Net of 2007 Percentage Share of Debt
Governmental Unit Principal Payments) Applicable As of June 15, 2007
City of Milwaukee " $775,648,112 100.00% $775,648,112
Area Board of Vocational, Technical
and Adult Education, District No. 9 57,890,000 43.61 25,245,829
County of Milwaukee 451,868,794 47.52 214,728,051
Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District 704,188,364 48.55 341,883,451
TOTAL NET DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING DEBT $1,989,595,270 $1,357,505,443

" Includes $117,216,851 general obligation debt outstanding, which financed Milwaukee Public Schools improvements. Excludes 2006
maturities and the $66 million Cash Flow Notes issued in April 2006.
Includes approximately $489,949,947 of low interest loans from the State of Wisconsin Clean Water Fund, supported by the full faith

and credit of the District. Includes the issuance of approximately $97,095,000 in general obligation sewerage system refunding bonds.

(@2}

FUTURE FINANCING

As of June 15, 2007, the City has $364,728,253 authorized unissued general obligation debt, for various corporate and capital
improvement purposes, which can be issued at any time. In addition, the City can issue up to $234 million of revenue
anticipation borrowing in 2007, and anticipates issuing approximately $200 million in August, 2007 for School purposes. The
City is also in the process of authorizing $9,137,066 of general obligation debt for fiscal needs of Milwaukee Public Schools.
(See “FINANCIAL INFORMATION — 2007 Property Tax Levy” herein)

The City is scheduled to close on $15 million of Clean Water Fund revenue borrowing in June, 2007, of which,
approximately $12 million will be used to refund approximately $12 million of the Series 2006 S11 G.O. Bonds. The
authorized unissued general obligation debt includes $60 million for sewer purposes, $10 million of which is being issued
with the 2008 maturity of the G.O. Notes. The City intends to borrow as much as possible of that amount from the Clean
Water Fund program on a revenue bond basis, plus an additional amount to refund the remaining outstanding Series 2006
S11 G.O. Bonds and $10 million of the 2008 maturity of the G.O. Notes. The borrowings from the Clean Water Fund
program are not general obligation debt, but will be secured by revenues of the City’s Sewerage System.

See “FINANCIAL INFORMATION — CITY CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS PLAN” herein for information on potential
future capital needs.

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.)
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REVENUE BONDING

The City and City agencies have issued revenue bonds directly and indirectly. Entities which have issued revenue bonds
include the Redevelopment Authority and the Housing Authority. Collectively, the bond programs of the Housing and
Redevelopment Authorities complement the City financed economic development projects and foster the same development
objectives.

Water System Revenue Bonds, Series 1998 —In 1998, the City and the State of Wisconsin entered into a loan agreement
under the State of Wisconsin Safe Drinking Water Loan Program. Subsidized loans are available for certain projects, are
secured by revenues of the Milwaukee Water Works, and are repayable over a period of 20 years. As of December 31, 2005,
the outstanding balance was $12,921,000.

Sewerage System Revenue Bonds — In 2001, the City created the Sewerage System with the issuance of $29,095,000 of
Sewerage System Revenue Bonds. As of December 31, 2006, total outstanding Sewerage System Revenue Bonds was
$56,075,000 with a final maturity in 2023.

In 2006, the City created the Sewerage System Second Lien Revenue Bonds for the purpose of borrowing from the State of
Wisconsin Clean Water Fund Program. The City is scheduled to close on approximately $15 million in June, 2007 in its first
borrowing under the program. The City hopes to satisfy as much as possible of its Sewerage System capital needs with
borrowings under the program. See “FUTURE FINANCING”.

Industrial Revenue Bonding Program — The City has established guidelines relating to its Industrial Revenue Bonding
Program. These guidelines establish criteria for IRB financing. The guidelines delineate that the primary goals of this
program are additional tax base, additional jobs or both.

Industrial land, buildings, and machinery and equipment used in the manufacturing process and pollution abatement
equipment of new or expanding industries are eligible projects. Since the first IRB issue in 1973, the City has closed 125
issues amounting to approximately $265 million. The City has no responsibility to either secure or redeem IRB debt, and
thus neither guarantees nor lends its own credit to these obligations.

Housing Authority of the City of Milwaukee — Most of the Housing Authority bonds and notes are secured by a lien on all
revenues of the Housing Authority Low Income Housing Program. The Housing Authority has also issued debt for
“stand-alone” projects. The Housing Authority bonds and notes are not a general obligation of the City nor are they
guaranteed by the City. As such, they are not backed by the general credit or taxing powers of the City.

Between the period 1983 and December 1, 2006 the Housing Authority issued revenue bonds of approximately $149 million
of which approximately $11 million are still outstanding.

Redevelopment Authority of the City of Milwaukee — The Redevelopment Authority of the City (the “Redevelopment
Authority” or the “Authority”) is a public body corporate and politic formed in 1958 by action of the Common Council of the
City pursuant to the Section 66.1333 (formerly Section 66.431) of the Wisconsin Statutes, as supplemented and amended
(“Redevelopment Authority Act”).

The Authority has as its purpose the carrying out of blight elimination, slum clearance and urban renewal programs and
projects as set forth in the Redevelopment Authority Act, and is authorized under the Redevelopment Authority Act to issue
revenue bonds for the financing of such programs and projects and to enter into revenue agreements to provide revenues for
the payment of such revenue bonds.

Since its creation, the Authority has provided for the acquisition and improvement of a variety of industrial, commercial,
housing and other revenue-producing projects, and, in some instances, has entered into revenue agreements for the financing
thereof, pursuant to authorization contained in the Redevelopment Authority Act. In connection with the financing of a
number of such projects, the Authority has issued revenue bonds under a number of authorizing resolutions and indentures,
each of which contained separate terms and conditions relating to the respective issues of revenue bonds. In each instance,
the bonds issued constitute limited obligations of the Authority, and do not constitute an indebtedness of the City or a charge
against the City’s general credit or taxing power. As of December 31, 2006, the Authority has sold 99 separate issues in the
total principal amount of approximately $935 million. As December 31, 2006 there remained approximately $608 million
outstanding.
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The majority of these issues are supported solely by the revenues of the various projects. While in each instance, the bonds
issued constitute limited obligations of the Authority, and do not constitute an indebtedness of the City or a charge against the
City’s general credit or taxing power; there are certain issues which involve contingent liabilities of the Authority and/or the
City.

As of December 31, 2006, the Authority had outstanding: one bond issue with $595,000 outstanding secured by a lease with
the City; two bond issues with $37,300,000 outstanding that have a Moral Obligation Pledge of the City; and $298,174,122 in
six bond issues for MPS, one secured by a lease, and five secured by loan agreements, with the Milwaukee Board of School
Directors (“MBSD”). These bonds do not constitute general obligations of the City, or of MBSD, and shall not constitute or
give rise to a charge against the City’s, or MBSD’s, taxing powers. These pledges create only financial obligations of the
City, or MBSD, which are subject to annual appropriation. The loan agreement with MBSD includes a pledge of certain state
aid payable to MBSD.

The Authority has also issued debt payable from tax increment revenues. See “TAX INCREMENT DISTRICT
FINANCING” herein.

Milwaukee Economic Development Corporation — As of December 31, 2006, the Milwaukee Economic Development
Corporation funded loans for 985 small businesses and redevelopment projects utilizing $202 million to leverage a total of
$1,072 million in investment. 681 loans have been enrolled in the Capital Access Program with covered loan amounts
totaling $29 million.

The Milwaukee Economic Development Corporation had notes and debentures payable under the Small Business
Administration’s Section 503 and 504 loan programs in the amount of $13 million as of December 31, 2006.

TAX INCREMENT DISTRICT FINANCING

Five issues of the Redevelopment Authority and Housing Authority involving over $60 million in bonds have financed
projects located within tax increment districts (“TID”). The City has also financed public improvements and provided grants
to the Redevelopment Authority for redevelopment purposes within such districts through the issuance of its general
obligation bonds. As of March 1, 2007, $143,403,488 general obligation bonds for TID purposes was outstanding. Under
current laws, tax increments received by the City have been calculated based upon the assessed valuation and the applicable
tax levy in the tax increment district. The applicable tax levy includes the public school tax levy rate for Milwaukee Public
Schools.

The Redevelopment Authority of the City has approximately $42 million of debt secured by tax increment revenues. One of
those issues, in the approximate amount of $20 million, has the Moral Obligation Pledge of the City. The remaining debt is
owed to developers of projects within the TID, with no recourse to the City in the event that tax increment revenues are
insufficient to repay the obligations. In 1996, the Wisconsin Legislature passed a property tax relief measure which increased
the portion of statewide school revenues funded by State equalization aid to two-thirds from approximately one-half of all
funds’ budgets. The 2005 Assessed Tax Rate for Milwaukee Public Schools is $8.17 per thousand dollars of assessed value,
down from $15.70 in 1995 (amounts are net of the school state tax credit). As a result, tax increment revenues for certain
TIDs received by the City have been, and are expected to continue to be, reduced, and therefore have the impact of either
increasing the time needed to recover incurred project costs, including future debt service requirements; reducing the funding
of active and proposed TIDs; or may require the City to fund TIDs cash flow deficiencies with other City revenues. In
connection with the change in the school aid formula, the State Legislature extended the allowable life of all TIDs established
before October 1, 1995 from a maximum 23 years to a maximum 27 years to accommodate the lower school property tax
rate. Pursuant to 2003 Wisconsin Acts 126, 127, 194 and 231 (enacted in February through April 2004), the allowable life of
TIDs created between September 30, 1995 and October 1, 2004 for blight elimination and rehabilitation purposes is 27 years.
The maximum lives for TIDs created after September 30, 2004 is 27 years for blighted and rehabilitation TIDs, and 20 years
for mixed-use TIDs and industrial TIDs (which, for industrial TIDs represents a reduction from 23 years, though the new law
also makes them eligible for a three-year extension). Extensions are available under certain circumstances. In any year in
which total TID debt service requirements for the ensuing year are greater than total tax increments received, the shortfall is
funded by the general property tax levy.
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION

2007 PROPERTY TAX LEVY

In December 2006, 2007 Combined Property Tax Bills were sent out containing an error in the property tax rate for the
Milwaukee Public Schools (the “MPS”). This will result in tax collections in 2007 of $9.1 million less than called for by the
MPS budget. No determination has yet been made as to whether the shortfall will be funded by the City and/or MPS through:
expenditure control; current revenue sources; future/multi-year revenue sources; fund equity; some other means; or a
combination thereof. General Fund Equity was $85 million for the City at December 31, 2005, and $100 million for MPS at
June 30, 2006. The error is 0.8% of the 2006-2007 budget for the MPS General Fund of $1.1 billion, and 4% of the MPS tax
levy of $230 million.

On June 19, 2007, the Common Council is scheduled to consider a resolution authorizing $9,137,066 of general obligation
debt in order to provide the balance of the levy request. Pursuant to Wisconsin Statutes, once the debt is authorized, the City
may provide MPS with the funds prior to the issuance of the debt. This will permit MPS to receive the funding prior to the
June 30, 2007 end of their fiscal year, while a resolution to the issue is finalized.

BUDGETING

Each department and agency prepares its own detailed estimate of needs for the ensuing fiscal year which is filed with the
Mayor not later than the second Tuesday in May of each year, at which time the Comptroller submits his statement of
anticipated non-property tax revenues in accordance with City Charter provisions. Under the City Charter, changes to these
non-property tax revenue estimates can be made only by the Comptroller. The Mayor holds hearings on departmental
spending requests during July and August at the times and places the Mayor or Common Council by ordinance directs. The
Mayor submits a proposed budget to the Common Council on or before September 28th of each year. This budget includes
the Comptroller’s anticipated non-property tax revenues. Subsequent to receipt of the budget by the Common Council, its
Committee on Finance and Personnel reviews the Mayor’s proposed expenditure budget. The Mayor and Common Council
hold a public hearing on the entire budget no later than the 30th day of October. The Common Council subsequently adopts
a property tax levy, but cannot change the Comptroller’s anticipated revenues budget. The final budget must be adopted by
the 14th of November. The City is under no State or local levy limit strictures with respect to its General, Capital or Debt
Service Funds.
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CI1TY CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS PLAN

The City’s 2006-2011 Capital Improvements Plan (CIP) describes planned capital improvement projects and programs,
together with proposed financing. School purpose improvements are financed by the City for the Milwaukee Public Schools,
but are not included in the CIP.

The six-year City CIP municipal spending plan totals $1,132 million. About $910 million or 80% of planned municipal and
school purpose spending is intended to preserve the City’s existing infrastructure facilities (streets, sewers, alleys, bridges,
etc.). The remaining 15% is for expansion purposes. In addition, the 2007 budget provides $6 million for capital
improvements for the Milwaukee Public Schools (school purpose borrowing), a decline from $11 million in 2006.

Surface transportation accounts for approximately 29% of the CIP, or about $331 million. 30% ($334 million) is planned for
environmental projects including sewer and water improvements plus forestry and subsurface remediation projects. $197
million of capital spending (17%) is planned for economic development projects. These projects are mainly Tax Incremental
District related or Port of Milwaukee capital improvements. The remaining 24% ($269 million) is planned for general
governmental, health & safety, grant and aid, culture and recreation purposes. All school spending is dedicated to deferred
maintenance, repairs and remodeling projects, including $2 million per year of Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA)
accessibility projects.

The portion of the $1,132 million six-year CIP to be financed by the property tax levy totals about $402 million (36%). This
in turn is composed of direct tax levy funding of $29 million (3%) and tax levy supported debt financing of $373 million
(33%). Cash revenues including Federal and State grants, developer financing and other sources, total $215 million (19%) of
planned CIP spending. An additional $158 million (14%) is to be financed by City debt to be repaid with tax increment and
other revenues. The remaining $301 million (276%) of the municipal purpose CIP is to be financed by self-supported debt
issued for special assessments, water, sewer and parking purposes. Of the school purpose borrowing, $2 million per year is
ADA reimbursable debt, and the balance is tax levy supported.

The Adopted 2007 Capital Improvements Budget totals $244 million compared to a 2006 Budget of $253 million. Major

categories include $94 million of public works projects (streets, buildings, etc.), $50 million of water and sewer projects, and
$78 million of economic development projects.
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BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - GENERAL FUND
FOR THE YEARS ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2001 THROUGH 2005

(Thousands of Dollars)

Revenues: 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005
Property Taxes $118,804 $114,096 $126,749 $129,120 $135,610
Other Taxes 12,688 2,944 4,318 3,563 3,709
Licenses and Permits 10,485 10,814 10,883 11,530 13,374
Intergovernmental 278,969 283,068 284,565 273,865 272,875
Charges for Services 54,594 57,749 55,714 60,825 63,410
Fines and Forfeitures 4,408 5,210 6,115 5,647 5,893
Other 12,408 8,706 7.814 8,108 12,179

TOTAL GENERAL FUND REVENUES $492,356 $482,587 $496,158 $492,658 $507,050
Tax Stabilization Fund Withdrawals 5,500 11,000 9,300 16,870 16,621
Other Financing Sources and Equity
Transfers (Net) 24,324 29,681 32,791 34913 39.444

TOTAL GENERAL FUND REVENUES TAX

STABILIZATION FUND WITHDRAWALS

AND OTHER FINANCING SOURCES $522,180 $523,268 $538,249 $544.,441 $563,115
Expenditures:
General Government 162,628 158,645 165,270 179,542 180,590
Public Safety 209,521 211,163 239,698 231,371 248,366
Public Works 87,453 88,094 86,335 89,562 89,180
Health 11,237 10,552 10,677 10,724 10,656
Culture and Recreation 16,948 18,791 17,165 17,822 16,744
Conservation and Development 7,922 7.857 3,833 3,495 2,767

TOTAL EXPENDITURES $495,709 $495,102 $522,978 $532,516 $548,303
SOURCES OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES $26,471 $28,166 $15,271 $11,925 $14,812
Fund Balance - January 1 (excludes reserved 40,465 57,844 76,710 75,111 70,415

for use during the year)

Net Residual Equity Transfers 1,908 0 0 0 0
Fund Balance - December 31 $68.844 $86,010 $91.,981 $87.,036 $85,227
Fund Balance Components:
Reserved for Encumbrances & Carryovers $22.460 $36,585 $33,000 $30,288 $16,382
Reserved for Inventory 5,678 5,801 5,190 5,684 5,095
Reserved for Mortgage Trust 281 276 276 282 297
Reserved for Environmental Remediation 303 303 303 303 303
Reserved for Next Year's Budget 11,000 9,300 16,870 16,621 16,328
Reserved for Subsequent Years' Budget'" 29,122 33,745 36,342 33,858 46,822

TOTAL FUND BALANCE" $68,844 $86,010 $91,981 $87,036 $85,227

" In 2003, balances presented on a Budget Basis do not match balances presented on a Generally Accepted Accounting

Principles (GAAP) basis due to borrowing for certain expenditures authorized in the current fiscal year but not
completed until the subsequent fiscal year. Budget Basis recognizes the revenues and expenditures in the same fiscal
year, whereas GAAP does not recognize the revenues until the year the borrowing actually occurs. On a GAAP basis, the
balances for “Reserve for Subsequent Years’ Budget” and “Total Fund Balance” in 2003 were $34,342, and $89,981,
respectively.
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CITY OF MILWAUKEE
ASSESSED TAX RATES
(PER $1,000 OF ASSESSED VALUATION)

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007
Unit of Government
City Government $10.15 $9.73 $9.19 $8.75 $7.99
Milwaukee Public Schools 9.34 8.96 9.40 8.79 8.04
Milwaukee County 5.40 5.15 491 4.63 4.37
Milwaukee Area Technical College 2.05 2.04 2.00 1.96 1.89
Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage
District 1.74 1.64 1.59 1.48 1.39
Gross Tax Rate Per $1,000 $28.68 $27.52 $27.09 $25.61 $23.68
Less: State Tax Credit 1.43 1.35 1.23 1.11 1.27
Net Tax Rate $27.25 $26.17 $25.86 $24.50 $22.41
CITY OF MILWAUKEE

PROPERTY TAX LEVIES AND COLLECTIONS
($ Amounts in Thousands)

Total Tax _ Current Tax Collections  Delinquent Tax Total Tax Collections Outstanding
Levy " Amount % ofLevy Collections @ Amount %of Levy  Delinquent Taxes
2001  $368,371  $355,575 96.53% $14,805 $370,380 100.55% $22,043
2002 382,873 369,125 96.41% 13,926 383,051 100.05% 21,865
2003 398,220 383,064 96.19% 12,401 395,465 99.31% 24,620
2004 404,892 390,930 96.55% 14,676 405,606 100.18% 23,905
2005 436,427 421,686 96.62% 13,960 435,646 99.82% 24,686

M Includes City and Milwaukee Public Schools levies, adjusted for special assessments placed on tax roll, as well as County delinquent
taxes purchased from the County and included in tax levy collections.

@ Includes amounts from any prior year collected in that year.

® Includes current and prior delinquent taxes.
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COLLECTION PROCEDURES

If no payment of property taxes is received in January, the taxes become delinquent as of February 1. If the taxes are not paid
when due under the 10-month installment plan, they become delinquent for legal purposes on November 15.

A letter is mailed to the taxpayer shortly after February 1st, telling of the delinquency and suggesting partial payments if full
payment cannot be made. As directed by State of Wisconsin Statutes, Chapter 74, interest at the rate of 1 percent per month
is charged from the preceding January 1st. Periodic follow-up letters continue to be mailed.

Taxpayers are given every opportunity to pay their delinquent taxes and satisfactory agreements are arranged to bring this
about. If a property owner continues to remain delinquent and the Treasurer’s Office is unable to reach an arrangement by
which the owner will pay the taxes, the Treasurer’s Office starts foreclosure proceedings. The City enforces its own
delinquent tax collections.

Taxes are foreclosed under State of Wisconsin Statutes Section 75.521, which permits a legal action to be commenced one
year from the date of delinquency. An exception to this provision is that legal action on owner occupied dwellings may be
deferred up to two years if authorized by Common Council action.

The rate of current tax collections continues at this historically high level. Current collections for 2005 were approximately
96.6 percent of the total tax levied.

INSURANCE
The City has property insurance with the State of Wisconsin Local Government Property Insurance Fund. This insurance is
subject to a $25,000 deductible. The City is uninsured for liability. Under Wisconsin law, the City’s exposure in tort liability
is limited to $50,000 in non-automobile cases and $250,000 in automobile cases. The City does carry a wharfinger’s liability

policy on its port with coverage up to $10 million and a deductible of $500,000. The City follows a policy of requiring
contract service providers to provide the City with indemnification and insurance as may be deemed appropriate by the City.

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.)
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PENSION SYSTEM
EMPLOYES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM

The Employees’ Retirement System (“System”) of the City is established pursuant to Section 36 of the Milwaukee City
Charter.

Membership in the System consists of specified classes of part-time and all full-time municipal employees including elected
officials. Persons employed as teachers are specifically excluded from membership. Membership in the System totals
approximately 12,020 active and 3,920 vested, inactive members at December 31, 2005. There were approximately 10,790
retirees and beneficiaries receiving benefits as of December 31, 2005.

Funding of the System, a defined benefit plan, is derived from employee and employer contributions. Current employee
contributions to the System are based on a percentage of compensation as follows:

General Municipal" 5.5%
Elected Officials 7.0%
Police 7.0%
Fire 7.0%

(1) Including non-certified School Board, Milwaukee Area Technical College, and all Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage
District and Wisconsin Center employees.

The City pays the employee’s share of the pension contributions as well as the employer’s share of pension contributions
which are actuarially determined based upon normal cost and amortization of past service liability. The actuarial cost method
for determining these items was changed from the “aggregate cost method” to the “projected unit credit method” as of
January 1, 1995.

For the year ended December 31, 2005, the latest year for which audited figures are available, required member contributions
totaled $32 million and required employer contributions totaled $47,000. Approximately 74% of these contributions were for
requirements of the City of Milwaukee employees. The original cost of fund investments totaled $3.732 billion with a
corresponding market value of $4.547 billion or 122% of the original cost at December 31, 2005.

The Milwaukee City Charter requires that an actuarial study of the System be performed at least once every five (5) years for
the purpose of reviewing assumptions. The last actuarial study was completed by Buck Consultants covering experience
from January 1, 1997 to December 31, 2001

The latest actuarial valuation was as of January 1, 2006. The valuation reveals the System continues to remain actuarially
sound.

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 25 Disclosure of “Schedule of Funding Progress”

indicates an Actuarial Value of Assets of $4.556 billion as of January 1, 2006 and an Actuarial Accrued Liability of $3.706
billion as of that date. This results in a Funded Ratio of 122.9%.
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FIREMEN’S ANNUITY AND BENEFIT FUND

The Firemen’s Annuity and Benefit Fund was established in 1923 pursuant to Chapter 423 of the 1923 Laws of Wisconsin.
In 1947, the Firemen’s Annuity and Benefit Fund was closed to new entrants. The final pre-1947 member retired in 1989.

The Principal Mutual Life Insurance Company made a proposal to provide annuities guaranteeing benefit payments to
entrants and widows, exclusive of duty disability benefits, beginning in February 1990 in consideration of a single premium
payment on January 31, 1990, in the amount of $20,419,207. The Retirement Board of the Firemen’s Annuity and Benefit
Fund and the Common council authorized acceptance of the proposal and payment of the required premium on December 19,
1989. The Retirement Board and the Firemen’s Annuity and Benefits Fund ceased to exist. The City will be liable to pay
retirement benefits if the insurance company defaults on its obligations under then policy.

POLICEMEN’S ANNUITY AND BENEFIT FUND

As of January 3, 2006, the Policemen’s Annuity and Benefit Fund board has been dissolved and the Fund is being
administered by the Employes’ Retirement System.
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BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM

The information contained in the following paragraphs of this subsection “Book-Entry Only System” has been extracted from
a document prepared by The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”) entitled “SAMPLE OFFERING DOCUMENT
LANGUAGE DESCRIBING BOOK-ENTRY ONLY ISSUANCE.” The City makes no representation as to the completeness or
the accuracy of such information or as to the absence of material adverse changes in such information subsequent to the date

hereof.

The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, NY, will act as securities depository for the Offered Obligations. The
Offered Obligations will be issued as fully-registered securities registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership
nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully-registered Bond
certificate will be issued for each maturity of the Offered Obligations, in the aggregate principal amount of such maturity, and
will be deposited with DTC.

DTC, the world’s largest depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a
“banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a
“clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered
pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset servicing
for over 2.2 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market
instruments from over 100 countries that DTC’s participants (“Direct Participants™) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates
the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited securities, through
electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for
physical movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and
dealers, banks, trust companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC, in turn, is owned by a number of Direct Participants of
DTC and Members of the National Securities Clearing Corporation, Income Clearing Corporation, and Emerging Markets
Clearing Corporation, (NSCC, FICC, and EMCC, also subsidiaries of DTCC), as well as by the New York Stock Exchange,
Inc., the American Stock Exchange LLC, and the National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Access to the DTC system
is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing
corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly
(“Indirect Participants”). DTC has Standard & Poor’s highest rating: AAA. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants are
on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com and

www.dtc.org.

Purchases of Offered Obligations under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive
a credit for the Offered Obligations on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Bond
(“Beneficial Owner™) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners will not
receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written
confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect
Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Offered
Obligations are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of
Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in Offered
Obligations, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Offered Obligations is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Offered Obligations deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the
name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of
DTC. The deposit of Offered Obligations with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC
nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the
Offered Obligations; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Offered
Obligations are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will remain
responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to Indirect

Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements
among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.
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Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the securities within an issue are being redeemed, DTC’s practice
is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such issue to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Offered Obligations unless
authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an
Omnibus Proxy to Issuer as soon as possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or
voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts Offered Obligations are credited on the record date (identified in
a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).

Redemption proceeds, distributions, and dividend payments on the Offered Obligations will be made to Cede & Co., or such
other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’
accounts upon DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from Issuer or Agent, on payable date in
accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be
governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held for the accounts of customers in
bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, Agent, or Issuer,
subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of redemption proceeds,
distributions, and dividend payments to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized
representative of DTC) is the responsibility of Issuer or Agent, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants will be
the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct
and Indirect Participants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respect to the Offered Obligations at any time by giving
reasonable notice to Issuer or Agent. Under such circumstances, in the event that a successor depository is not obtained,
Security certificates are required to be printed and delivered.

Issuer may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers through DTC (or a successor securities
depository). In that event, Security certificates will be printed and delivered to DTC.

The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry system has been obtained from sources that Issuer
believes to be reliable, but Issuer takes no responsibility for the accuracy thereof.

NEITHER THE CITY, THE PAYING AGENT NOR THE UNDERWRITERS WILL HAVE ANY RESPONSIBILITY OR
OBLIGATION TO PARTICIPANTS, TO INDIRECT PARTICIPANTS OR TO ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER WITH
RESPECT TO (1) THE ACCURACY OF ANY RECORDS MAINTAINED BY DTC, ANY DTC PARTICIPANT OR ANY
INDIRECT PARTICIPANT; (2) THE PAYMENT BY DTC, ANY DTC PARTICIPANT OR ANY INDIRECT
PARTICIPANT OF ANY AMOUNT WITH RESPECT TO THE PRINCIPAL OF, PREMIUM, IF ANY, OR INTEREST
ON THE OFFERED OBLIGATIONS; (3) ANY NOTICE WHICH IS PERMITTED OR REQUIRED TO BE GIVEN TO
HOLDERS OF THE OFFERED OBLIGATIONS; (4) ANY CONSENT GIVEN BY DTC OR OTHER ACTION TAKEN
BY DTC AS THE HOLDER OF THE OFFERED OBLIGATIONS; OR (5) THE SELECTION BY DTC, ANY DTC
PARTICIPANT OR ANY INDIRECT PARTICIPANT OF ANY BENEFICIAL OWNER TO RECEIVE PAYMENT IN
THE EVENT OF A PARTIAL REDEMPTION OF OFFERED OBLIGATIONS.

(The remainder of this page has been left blank intentionally.)
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LEGAL MATTERS

The City, its boards, officers and employees have been defendants in numerous lawsuits over the years. Experience has
shown that a relatively small number of suits commenced are reduced to judgment. The City of Milwaukee does not carry a
blanket policy of insurance against tort liability. In addition, Wis. Stat. § 893.80 limits the amount recoverable against a
political corporation, its officers, officials or employees for acts done in their official capacity to $50,000 in tort liability for
non-automobile cases and $250,000 in automobile cases.

The City Attorney’s office has reviewed the status of pending or threatened litigation, claims and assessments to which the
office has devoted substantive attention in the form of legal consultation or representation and which individually represent
maximum potential loss exposure in excess of $1 million, existing on June 20, 2007.

Alexander, et al v. City of Milwaukee, et al. Seventeen white male lieutenants in the Milwaukee Police Department have
been plaintiffs in this litigation in United States District Court for the Eastern District of Wisconsin, case number 03-
CV00611. Suit was filed on July 27, 2003. The defendants are the City, the Commissioners on the Board of the Fire and
Police Commission, and former Chief of Police Arthur Jones. The suit claims race and gender discrimination in the
promotions from lieutenant to captain of police. The case was tried in March, 2005, and decided in plaintiffs’ favor. The jury
awarded $2,198,500 in compensatory and punitive damages. In addition, the court awarded $1,540,483 in economic
damages. On August, 29, 2005 the Court entered judgments totaling $3,738,983. On February 3, 2006, the Court awarded
attorney fees and costs to plaintiffs in the sum of $427,701. The total of all damages awards, attorney fees and costs is
$4,167,684. On February 13, 2006, defendants filed a notice of appeal to the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals. On January
18, 2007, the Court of Appeals affirmed the judgment of the district court with respect to liability and reversed the judgment
of the district court as to damages. The case was remanded for further proceedings consistent with the court’s written
opinion, and the parties were ordered to bear their own costs on appeal. The court’s written opinion made several significant
rulings with respect to the assessment of damages which will probably result in significantly lower calculations for economic
and compensatory damages. The question of punitive damages was also remanded for further proceedings, and the amount of
those damages is unknown.

Ketchman, et al v. City of Milwaukee, et al; and Baur, et al v. City of Milwaukee, et al. These two lawsuits have been
consolidated and are pending before the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Wisconsin. The combined
suits have eleven plaintiffs who are, or were, white male lieutenants in the Milwaukee Police Department, alleging the same
discrimination in promotions to captain as the plaintiffs in the Alexander suit. The same defendants are named as in
Alexander. Discovery has been completed and the matter had been held without further proceedings pending the outcome of
the Alexander appeal. At this time, the parties are exploring the possibility of mediation.

Estate of Justin Fields, et al. v. City of Milwaukee, et al. This case involves a fatal police shooting, which occurred on
March 2, 2003. At bar time on Water Street, an officer observed a car that failed to yield to an emergency vehicle, and that
the vehicle was being driven erratically, as if by a drunk driver. The officer approached the vehicle, and its driver, Mr. Fields,
exchanged words with the officer, refused to turn off his vehicle, and fled the scene. A vehicular pursuit ensued, and came to
a stop on North Martin Luther King Drive, after the Fields vehicle collided with another car. Believing that the Fields vehicle
was unable to move and that its occupants might be injured, the officers approached it. The vehicle then accelerated toward
one of the officers. That officer, believing that his life was in danger, fired his weapon at Mr. Fields. Mr. Fields died at the
scene. The case is in the discovery process. The City anticipates a full discovery process, dispositive motions, and ultimately,
if motions fail, a trial.

Kaye v. City of Milwaukee, et al. Kaye, a real estate developer, brought this case against the City of Milwaukee, its
Redevelopment Authority, other agencies, City and Redevelopment officials and employees under the Racketeer Influenced
Corrupt Organizations Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1961 et. seq., and the Wisconsin Organized Crime Control Act, Wis. Stat. § 946.80,
et. seq.

Kaye’s complaint alleges he attempted to bid on certain real property then owned by the City and located at 1152-1158 Kane
Place. His bid was not considered, because the property had been “promised” to Ms. Kohler, who was then Vice Chair of the
City Planning Commission. He claims that the City, and specifically the Redevelopment Authority, made special exceptions
to bid, sale, zoning and other requirements for Ms. Kohler due to her status as a public official. Specifically, he alleges that
Ms. Kohler, in her capacity as Vice Chair of the City Planning Commission, agreed with Mr. Fowler, then a Redevelopment
Authority Commissioner, to “swap” the Kane Place property for another parcel of property located at 2951-2965 N.
Humboldt Avenue. As a quid pro quo for Mr. Fowler approving the Redevelopment Authority’s sale of the Kane Street
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property to Ms. Kohler, she, through the City Planning Commission, approved the sale of the Humboldt Avenue property to
Alterra Coffee Roasters, Inc., a company in which Mr. Fowler is a principal shareholder.

Kaye further alleges that, around this time same, Alderman D’ Amato, the East Village Association, Inc. (“EVA?”), and certain
private citizens, including Ms. Kohler, were seeking enactment of an ordinance that would establish a “Conservation District
Overlay” over a portion of the Third Aldermanic District. The conservation district would limit the types of real estate
development that could occur therein. The conservation district was opposed by the plaintiff and others. As part of their
opposition efforts, Kaye and others became members of the EVA and sought to elect their own slate of directors. He alleges
that Alderman D’ Amato, Ms. Kohler, and the then-officers of EVA engaged in a fraudulent scheme to manipulate the EVA
election in order to retain control of the board from opponents of the conservation district. He alleges that the opposition
members were permitted to believe that the election would be conducted by a simple majority vote. At the time of the
election, however, the opposition members were informed for the first time that a new voting method, a variant of cumulative
voting that emphasized voting coalitions, would be used. The existing officers and directors of the EVA, along with
Alderman D’ Amato and Ms. Kohler, were able to organize a voting coalition, including by means of e-mail, which plaintiff
alleges to have been an act of wire fraud. The opposition members, surprised by the change in voting method, could not
organize in time and were unsuccessful in wresting control of the EVA board.

Kaye also alleges that citizens opposing the conservation district placed yard signs expressing that opposition in various
places in the Third Aldermanic District. Plaintiff alleges that Alderman D’ Amato (or one of his aides, the complaint conflicts
itself on this point) removed such a sign from the property of Jill Bondar, one of the leaders of the opposition group. Kaye
further alleges that Alderman D’ Amato left Ms. Bondar a voice mail in which he implicitly threatened criminal prosecution
for her conduct and that of other members of the opposition group in putting up the yard signs.

According to Kaye, the allegations plead predicate acts of racketeering sufficient to allege that the defendants violated both
RICO, the Racketeer Influenced Corrupt Organizations Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1961 et. seq., and the Wisconsin Organized Crime
Control Act, Wis. Stat. § 946.80, et. seq. Plaintiff asserts claims under 18 U.S.C. §§ 1962(b), (c) and (d). Section 1962(b)
makes it unlawful for any person to acquire or maintain any interest in or control of any “enterprise” through a “pattern of
racketeering.” Section 1962(c) makes it unlawful to conduct or participate in the affairs of an “enterprise” through a “pattern
of racketeering.” Section 1962(d) makes it unlawful to conspire to violate RICO. The complaint asks for over $5,000,000 in
compensatory and punitive damages.

The attorneys for the City and the other defendants moved to dismiss the complaint for failure to state a claim upon which
relief can be granted, which was granted by the court. Mr. Kaye has appealed that decision to the United States Court of
Appeals for the Seventh Circuit.

Milwaukee Police Supervisors Organization (MPSO) v. City of Milwaukee and the Milwaukee Employes’ Retirement
System (ERS). This case is a clone of an earlier case that was filed and subsequently voluntarily dismissed. That case was
brought by the Milwaukee Police Association (MPA represents police officers; the MPSO represents police supervisors.) The
MPA case alleged that the ERS was prohibited by City Ordinance from spending more than $3 million to purchase and install
a computer information system. The suit alleged that the City was liable to pay any of those expenses in excess of $3 million.
It is estimate that the total cost of the ERS information system is approximately $25 million. The dispute in the case was over
the interpretation of a section of the City ordinance that transferred all administrative, operational, and investment expenses
from the City to the ERS. This change was made as a part of a larger settlement of various disputes between the City and the
MPA called the Global Pension Settlement. The MPA voluntarily dismissed the lawsuit earlier this year (2005). The MPSO
has now filed this lawsuit making the same allegations. Another union, the Association of Law Enforcement Allied Services
Personnel (ALEASP) has joined this lawsuit as a plaintiff. Both the City and the ERS view the allegations as without merit
and are vigorously defending the lawsuit.

Frank Jude, Jr., et al. v. City of Milwaukee, et al.; Antonissen v. City, et al.; Brown v. City, et al.; Harris v. Clausing, et al.
On October 24, 2004, Frank Jude, Kirsten Antonissen, Katie Brown, and Lovell Harris attended a party hosted by a
Milwaukee police officer and attended by a number of other off-duty police officers. At some point, a number of the off-duty
officers became involved in an altercation with Mr. Jude. Jude claims that he was beaten for no reason. He suffered severe
injuries. The officers claim that they became involved with Jude only after they suspected that he had stolen a badge from
one of them. They also claim that Jude resisted their efforts to obtain physical control of him. On-duty police officers were
also called to the scene and Jude claims that they, too, used excessive force on him and failed to stop the use of excessive
force by those off-duty officers who were striking Mr. Jude. In addition to issues concerning the cause of the altercation, its
actual participants, and its course, there is a substantial question of whether the off-duty and on-duty officers involved in the
matter were acting within the scope of their employment. The police chief fired most of the officers involved in the incident;
however, the appeal of two of these terminations remains pending. The county prosecutor charged three of the off-duty
officers with crimes, but in April 2006 two were found not guilty and the jury could not reach a final verdict as to one of the
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charges against the third officer. The third officer will be retried by the District Attorney in August 2007. Federal authorities
also reviewed the matter and indicted five of the off-duty officers with federal civil rights crimes on October 19, 2006. The
federal authorities also entered into plea agreements with one of the on-duty officers and one of the off-duty officers. Both
officers agreed to plead guilty to civil rights violations and to testify against the other officers in the government’s case.

Four lawsuits have been filed relative to this matter. Mr. Jude and his wife sued the city and several individuals relative to his
beating. The three individuals who attended the party with him, namely Antonissen, Brown, and Harris, have also filed suit,
alleging that they were unlawfully arrested and that excessive force was used. The City has answered the four suits and
maintains that none of the individually named defendant officers, both on and off duty, were acting within the scope of their
employment with regard to the subject events. The City has also denied all requests by the individual officer defendants for
representation. Discovery has not yet begun, but a full discovery and litigation process is anticipated.

Javier v. Glover. The plaintiffs in this action are various survivors of an unmarried young man who was shot and killed by an
off-duty Milwaukee police officer. The officer subsequently committed suicide following a decision by the local county
prosecutor to charge the officer with homicide and several counts of perjury. The officer claimed that he shot this individual
only after the individual had almost run the officer over, appeared to point what looked like a weapon at the office, and then
ran from the officer on foot after the officer had identified himself and told the individual to stop. Because both individuals
are dead, however, and because none of the nearby witnesses have affirmed that the officer identified himself as a police
officer, there is a substantial question as to whether the plaintiffs will have adequate proof that the officer was acting within
the scope of his employment and whether the City will have to indemnify his estate for any judgment that the plaintiffs might
obtain. In addition, while the plaintiffs claim that the officer’s off-duty conduct resulted from improper training and
supervision by the City, if there is insufficient proof that the officer tried to act as an officer as opposed to merely acting as an
enraged citizen, the plaintiffs cannot prevail against the City. The City’s training and supervision, in any event, likely passes
constitutional muster.

Curtis E. Harris v. Kevin G. Clark, et al. This case stems from the arrest of Curtis E. Harris, which took place on or about
December 10, 2003. Mr. Harris claims that the arresting officers used excessive force during the arrest, and ultimately, that
he was paralyzed as a result. Mr. Harris claims violations of his constitutional rights. This case was recently filed, and to date
has only been served upon the Milwaukee Police Department. We anticipate bringing a motion to dismiss the Milwaukee
Police Department from the case, as it is not a suable entity. Furthermore, should additional defendants be served, we
anticipate engaging in a full and thorough discovery process, along with bringing appropriate legal motions.

LEGAL OPINIONS

The legal opinions of Katten Muchin Rosenman LLP, Chicago, Illinois, and Hurtado, S.C., Wauwatosa, Wisconsin, Bond
Counsel to the City, will be delivered to the purchasers of the Offered Obligations. Drafts of the legal opinions for the
Offered Obligations are included herein as Appendix B.

THE MBIA INSURANCE CORPORATION INSURANCE POLICY
(For Maturities 2013 through 2024 only)

The following information has been furnished by MBIA Insurance Corporation ("MBIA") for use in this Official Statement.
Reference is made to Appendix D for a specimen of MBIA's policy (the “Policy™).

MBIA does not accept any responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of this Official Statement or any information or
disclosure contained herein, or omitted herefrom, other than with respect to the accuracy of the information regarding the
Policy and MBIA set forth under the heading “The MBIA Insurance Corporation Insurance Policy”. Additionally, MBIA
makes no representation regarding the G.O. Notes and G.O. Bonds or the advisability of investing in the G.O. Notes and G.O.
Bonds.

The MBIA Policy unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees the full and complete payment required to be made by or on
behalf of the [Issuer] to the Paying Agent or its successor of an amount equal to (i) the principal of (either at the stated
maturity or by an advancement of maturity pursuant to a mandatory sinking fund payment) and interest on, the G.O. Notes
and G.O. Bonds as such payments shall become due but shall not be so paid (except that in the event of any acceleration of
the due date of such principal by reason of mandatory or optional redemption or acceleration resulting from default or
otherwise, other than any advancement of maturity pursuant to a mandatory sinking fund payment, the payments guaranteed
by the MBIA Policy shall be made in such amounts and at such times as such payments of principal would have been due had
there not been any such acceleration, unless MBIA elects in its sole discretion, to pay in whole or in part any principal due by
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reason of such acceleration); and (ii) the reimbursement of any such payment which is subsequently recovered from any
Owner of the G.O. Notes and G.O. Bonds pursuant to a final judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction that such payment
constitutes an avoidable preference to such Owner within the meaning of any applicable bankruptcy law (a “Preference”).

MBIA's Policy does not insure against loss of any prepayment premium which may at any time be payable with respect to
any G.O. Notes and G.O. Bonds. MBIA's Policy does not, under any circumstance, insure against loss relating to: (i)
optional or mandatory redemptions (other than mandatory sinking fund redemptions); (ii) any payments to be made on an
accelerated basis; (iii) payments of the purchase price of G.O. Notes and G.O. Bonds upon tender by an owner thereof; or (iv)
any Preference relating to (i) through (iii) above. MBIA's Policy also does not insure against nonpayment of principal of or
interest on the G.O. Notes and G.O. Bonds resulting from the insolvency, negligence or any other act or omission of the
Paying Agent or any other paying agent for the G.O. Notes and G.O. Bonds.

Upon receipt of telephonic or telegraphic notice, such notice subsequently confirmed in writing by registered or certified
mail, or upon receipt of written notice by registered or certified mail, by MBIA from the Paying Agent or any owner of a
Bond the payment of an insured amount for which is then due, that such required payment has not been made, MBIA on the
due date of such payment or within one business day after receipt of notice of such nonpayment, whichever is later, will
make a deposit of funds, in an account with U.S. Bank Trust National Association, in New York, New York, or its successor,
sufficient for the payment of any such insured amounts which are then due. Upon presentment and surrender of such G.O.
Notes and G.O. Bonds or presentment of such other proof of ownership of the G.O. Notes and G.O. Bonds, together with any
appropriate instruments of assignment to evidence the assignment of the insured amounts due on the G.O. Notes and G.O.
Bonds as are paid by MBIA, and appropriate instruments to effect the appointment of MBIA as agent for such owners of the
G.0. Notes and G.O. Bonds in any legal proceeding related to payment of insured amounts on the G.O. Notes and G.O.
Bonds, such instruments being in a form satisfactory to U.S. Bank Trust National Association, U.S. Bank Trust National
Association shall disburse to such owners or the Paying Agent payment of the insured amounts due on such G.O. Notes and
G.O. Bonds, less any amount held by the Paying Agent for the payment of such insured amounts and legally available
therefor.

MBIA Insurance Corporation

MBIA Insurance Corporation (“MBIA”) is the principal operating subsidiary of MBIA Inc., a New York Stock Exchange listed
company (the “Company”). The Company is not obligated to pay the debts of or claims against MBIA. MBIA is domiciled in the
State of New York and licensed to do business in and subject to regulation under the laws of all 50 states, the District of
Columbia, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, the Commonwealth of the Northern Mariana Islands, the Virgin Islands of the
United States and the Territory of Guam. MBIA, either directly or through subsidiaries, is licensed to do business in the Republic
of France, the United Kingdom and the Kingdom of Spain and is subject to regulation under the laws of those jurisdictions.

The principal executive offices of MBIA are located at 113 King Street, Armonk, New York 10504 and the main telephone
number at that address is (914) 273-4545.

Regulation

As a financial guaranty insurance company licensed to do business in the State of New York, MBIA is subject to the New York
Insurance Law which, among other things, prescribes minimum capital requirements and contingency reserves against liabilities
for MBIA, limits the classes and concentrations of investments that are made by MBIA and requires the approval of policy rates
and forms that are employed by MBIA. State law also regulates the amount of both the aggregate and individual risks that may be
insured by MBIA, the payment of dividends by MBIA, changes in control with respect to MBIA and transactions among MBIA
and its affiliates.

The Policy is not covered by the Property/Casualty Insurance Security Fund specified in Article 76 of the New York Insurance
Law.

Financial Strength Ratings of MBIA
Moody's Investors Service, Inc. rates the financial strength of MBIA “Aaa.”
Standard & Poor's, a division of The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., rates the financial strength of MBIA “AAA.”

Fitch Ratings rates the financial strength of MBIA “AAA.”
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Each rating of MBIA should be evaluated independently. The ratings reflect the respective rating agency's current assessment of
the creditworthiness of MBIA and its ability to pay claims on its policies of insurance. Any further explanation as to the
significance of the above ratings may be obtained only from the applicable rating agency.

The above ratings are not recommendations to buy, sell or hold the G.O. Notes and G.O. Bonds, and such ratings may be subject
to revision or withdrawal at any time by the rating agencies. Any downward revision or withdrawal of any of the above ratings
may have an adverse effect on the market price of the G.O. Notes and G.O. Bonds. MBIA does not guaranty the market price of
the G.O. Notes and G.O. Bonds nor does it guaranty that the ratings on the G.O. Notes and G.O. Bonds will not be revised or
withdrawn.

MBIA Financial Information

As of December 31, 2006, MBIA had admitted assets of $10.9 billion (audited), total liabilities of $6.9 billion (audited), and
total capital and surplus of $4.0 billion (audited) determined in accordance with statutory accounting practices prescribed or
permitted by insurance regulatory authorities. As of March 31, 2007, MBIA had admitted assets of $11.2 billion (unaudited),
total liabilities of $7.0 billion (unaudited), and total capital and surplus of $4.2 billion (unaudited) determined in accordance
with statutory accounting practices prescribed or permitted by insurance regulatory authorities.

For further information concerning MBIA, see the consolidated financial statements of MBIA and its subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2006, prepared
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company
for the year ended December 31, 2006 and the consolidated financial statements of MBIA and its subsidiaries as of March 31,
2007 and for the three month period ended March 31, 2007 and March 31, 2006 included in the Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q of the Company for the quarter ended March 31, 2007, which are hereby incorporated by reference into this Official
Statement and shall be deemed to be a part hereof.

Copies of the statutory financial statements filed by MBIA with the State of New York Insurance Department are available
over the Internet at the Company’s web site at http://www.mbia.com and at no cost, upon request to MBIA at its principal
executive offices.

Incorporation of Certain Documents by Reference

The following documents filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) are incorporated
by reference into this Official Statement:

(1) The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006; and
2) The Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2007.

Any documents, including any financial statements of MBIA and its subsidiaries that are included therein or attached as
exhibits thereto, filed by the Company pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 14 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act after the date of the
Company’s most recent Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or Annual Report on Form 10-K, and prior to the termination of the
offering of the G.O. Notes and G.O. Bonds offered hereby shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference in this Official
Statement and to be a part hereof from the respective dates of filing such documents. Any statement contained in a document
incorporated or deemed to be incorporated by reference herein, or contained in this Official Statement, shall be deemed to be
modified or superseded for purposes of this Official Statement to the extent that a statement contained herein or in any other
subsequently filed document which also is or is deemed to be incorporated by reference herein modifies or supersedes such
statement. Any such statement so modified or superseded shall not be deemed, except as so modified or superseded, to
constitute a part of this Official Statement.

The Company files annual, quarterly and special reports, information statements and other information with the SEC under
File No. 1-9583. Copies of the Company’s SEC filings (including (1) the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2006, and (2) the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
2007) are available (i) over the Internet at the SEC’s web site at http://www.sec.gov; (ii) at the SEC’s public reference room
in Washington D.C.; (iii) over the Internet at the Company’s web site at http://www.mbia.com; and (iv) at no cost, upon
request to MBIA at its principal executive offices.
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RATINGS

The City has requested ratings on the Offered Obligations from FITCH Ratings, Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. and from
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Group. FITCH Ratings has assigned a rating of “AA+” on the G.O. Notes and G.O. Bonds.
Moody’s Investors Service, Inc. has assigned a rating of “Aa2” on the G.O. Notes and G.O. Bonds. Standard & Poor’s
Ratings Group has assigned a rating of “AA” on the G.O. Notes and G.O. Bonds.

Additionally, with respect the G.O. Notes (maturities 2013 through 2017) and the G.O. Bonds (all maturities), Fitch
Ratings, Moody's Investors Service, Inc. and Standard and Poor’s Ratings Group have assigned their municipal bond ratings
of “AAA”, “Aaa” and “AAA”, respectively, to the G.O. Notes and G.O. Bonds, with the understanding that upon delivery of
the G.O. Notes and G.O. Bonds, a financial guaranty insurance policy insuring the payment when due of the principal of and
interest on the G.O. Notes and G.O. Bonds will be issued by MBIA Insurance Corporation.

The ratings, when issued, reflect only the views of the respective ratings agencies, and an explanation of the significance of
such rating may be obtained therefrom. There is no assurance that the ratings will remain in effect for any given period of
time or that they will not be revised, either upward or downward, or withdrawn entirely, by the respective agencies, if, in
their judgment, circumstances so warrant. A revision or withdrawal of the credit rating could have an effect on the market
price of the Offered Obligations.

TAX MATTERS

Summary of Bond Counsel Opinion

Bond Counsel are of the opinion that under existing law, interest on the Offered Obligations is not includable in the gross
income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes. If there is continuing compliance with the applicable
requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”), Bond Counsel are of the opinion that interest on the
Offered Obligations will continue to be excluded from the gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax
purposes. Bond Counsel are further of the opinion that the Offered Obligations are not “private activity bonds” within the
meaning of Section 141(a) of the Code. Accordingly, interest on the Offered Obligations is not an item of tax preference for
purposes of computing individual or corporate alternative minimum taxable income. However, interest on the Offered
Obligations is includable in corporate earnings and profits and therefore must be taken into account when computing
corporate alternative minimum taxable income for purposes of the corporate alternative minimum tax. Interest on the
Offered Obligations is not exempt from Wisconsin income taxes.

The Code contains certain requirements that must be satisfied from and after the date of issuance of the Offered Obligations
in order to preserve the exclusion from gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the Offered Obligations.
These requirements relate to the use and investment of the proceeds of the Offered Obligations, the payment of certain
amounts to the United States, the security and source of payment of the Offered Obligations and the use of the property
financed with the proceeds of the Offered Obligations.

Offered Obligations Purchased at a Premium or at a Discount

The difference (if any) between the initial price at which a substantial amount of each maturity of the Offered Obligations is
sold to the public (the “Offering Price”) and the principal amount payable at maturity of such Offered Obligations is given
special treatment for federal income tax purposes. If the Offering Price is higher than the maturity value of a Offered
Obligation, the difference between the two is known as “bond premium;” if the Offering Price is lower than the maturity
value of a Offered Obligation, the difference between the two is known as “original issue discount.”

Bond premium and original issue discount are amortized over the term of an Offered Obligation on the basis of the owner's
yield from the date of purchase to the date of maturity, compounded at the end of each accrual period of one year or less with
straight line interpolation between compounding dates, as provided more specifically in the Income Tax Regulations. The
amount of bond premium accruing during each period is treated as a reduction in the amount of tax-exempt interest earned
during such period. The amount of original issue discount accruing during each period is treated as interest that is excludable
from the gross income of the owner of such Offered Obligation for federal income tax purposes, to the same extent and with
the same limitations as current interest.
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Owners who purchase Offered Obligations at a price other than the Offering Price, after the termination of the initial public
offering or at a market discount should consult their tax advisors with respect to the tax consequences of their ownership of
the Offered Obligations. In addition, owners of Offered Obligations should consult their tax advisors with respect to the state
and local tax consequences of owning the Offered Obligations; under the applicable provisions of state or local income tax
law, bond premium and original issue discount may give rise to taxable income at different times and in different amounts
than they do for federal income tax purposes.

Exclusion from Gross Income: Requirements

The Code sets forth certain requirements that must be satisfied on a continuing basis in order to preserve the exclusion from
gross income for federal income tax purposes of interest on the Offered Obligations. Among these requirements are the
following:

Limitations on Private Use. The Code includes limitations on the amount of Offered Obligation proceeds that may be used
in the trade or business of, or used to make or finance loans to, persons other than governmental units.

Investment Restrictions. Except during certain “temporary periods,” proceeds of the Offered Obligations and investment
earnings thereon (other than amounts held in a reasonably required reserve or replacement fund, if any, or as part of a “minor
portion”) may generally not be invested in investments having a yield that is “materially higher” (1/8 of one percent) than the
yield on the Offered Obligations.

Rebate of Arbitrage Profit. Unless the City qualifies for an exemption, earnings from the investment of the “gross proceeds”
of the Offered Obligations in excess of the earnings that would have been realized if such investments had been made at a
yield equal to the yield on the Offered Obligations are required to be paid to the United States at periodic intervals. For this
purpose, the term “gross proceeds” includes the original proceeds of the Offered Obligations, amounts received as a result of
investing such proceeds and amounts to be used to pay debt service on the Offered Obligations.

Covenants to Comply

The City has covenanted to comply with the requirements of the Code relating to the exclusion from gross income for federal
income tax purposes of interest on the Offered Obligations.

Risks of Non-Compliance

In the event that the City fails to comply with the requirements of the Code, interest on the Offered Obligations may become
includable in the gross income of the owners thereof for federal income tax purposes retroactive to the date of issue. In such
event, the City’s agreements with the owners of the Offered Obligations require neither acceleration of payment of principal
of, or interest on, the Offered Obligations nor payment of any additional interest or penalties to the owners of the Offered
Obligations.

Federal Income Tax Consequences

Pursuant to Section 103 of the Code, interest on the Offered Obligations is not includable in the gross income of the owners
thereof for federal income tax purposes. However, the Code contains a number of other provisions relating to the treatment
of interest on the Offered Obligations that may affect the taxation of certain types of owners, depending on their particular tax
situations. Some of the potentially applicable federal income tax provisions are described in general terms below.
PROSPECTIVE PURCHASERS SHOULD CONSULT THEIR TAX ADVISORS CONCERNING THE PARTICULAR
FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THEIR OWNERSHIP OF THE OFFERED OBLIGATIONS.

Cost of Carry. Owners of the Offered Obligations will generally be denied a deduction for otherwise deductible interest on
any debt which is treated for federal income tax purposes as incurred or continued to purchase or carry the Offered
Obligations. As discussed below, special allocation rules apply to financial institutions.

Corporate Owners. Interest on the Offered Obligations is generally taken into account in computing the earnings and profits
of a corporation and consequently may be subject to federal income taxes based thereon. Thus, for example, interest on the
Offered Obligations is taken into account not only in computing the corporate alternative minimum tax but also the branch
profits tax imposed on certain foreign corporations, the passive investment income tax imposed on certain S corporations,
and the accumulated earnings tax.
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Individual Owners. Receipt of interest on the Offered Obligations may increase the amount of social security and railroad
retirement benefits included in the gross income of the recipients thereof for federal income tax purposes.

Certain Blue Cross or Blue Shield Organizations. Receipt of interest on the Offered Obligations may reduce a special
deduction otherwise available to certain Blue Cross or Blue Shield organizations.

Property or Casualty Insurance Companies. Receipt of interest on the Offered Obligations may reduce otherwise
deductible underwriting losses of a property or casualty insurance company.

Financial Institutions. Financial institutions may be denied a deduction for their otherwise allowable interest expense in an
amount determined by reference, in part, to their adjusted basis in the Offered Obligations.

Foreign Personal Holding Company Income. A United States shareholder of a foreign personal holding company may
realize taxable income to the extent that interest on the Offered Obligations held by such a company is properly allocable to
the shareholder.

The opinions of Bond Counsel and the descriptions of the tax law contained in this Official Statement are based on statutes,
judicial decisions, regulations, rulings and other official interpretations of law in existence on the date the Offered
Obligations are issued. There can be no assurance that such law or the interpretation thereof will not be changed or that new
provisions of law will not be enacted or promulgated at any time while the Offered Obligations are outstanding in a manner
that would adversely affect the value or the tax treatment of ownership of the Offered Obligations.

STATE TAX MATTERS

Interest on the Offered Obligations is not exempt from State of Wisconsin income tax or franchise tax.

NO DESIGNATION AS QUALIFIED TAX-EXEMPT OBLIGATIONS

The City will not designate the Offered Obligations as “qualified tax-exempt obligations” for purposes of Section 265 (b)(3)
of the Code.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

In order to assist the Underwriters in complying with SEC Rule 15¢2-12 (the "Rule") promulgated by the Securities and
Exchange Commission, pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the City shall covenant pursuant to a resolution
adopted by the Common Council to enter into an undertaking (the "Undertaking") for the benefit of holders including
beneficial holders of the Offered Obligations to provide certain financial information and operating data relating to the City
to certain information repositories annually, and to provide notices of the occurrence of certain events enumerated in the Rule
to certain information repositories or the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board and to any state information depository.
The details and terms of the Undertaking, as well as the information to be contained in the annual report or the notices of
material events, are set forth in the Master Continuing Disclosure Certificate and Addendums, which shall be made
applicable to the Offered Obligations pursuant to Schedules to be executed and delivered by the City at the time the Offered
Obligations are delivered. Such Certificate, Addendums, and Schedules will be in substantially the form attached hereto as
Appendix C. The City has never failed to comply in all material respects with any previous undertakings under the Rule to
provide annual reports or notices of material events. A failure by the City to comply with the Undertaking will not constitute
an event of default on the Offered Obligations (although holders will have the right to obtain specific performance of the
obligations under the Undertaking). Nevertheless, such a failure must be reported in accordance with the Rule and must be
considered by any broker, dealer or municipal securities dealer before recommending the purchase or sale of the Offered
Obligations in the secondary market. Consequently, such a failure may adversely affect the transferability and liquidity of
the Offered Obligations and their market price.

FINANCIAL ADVISOR

Robert W. Baird & Co. has been retained as Financial Advisor to the City in connection with the issuance of the Offered
Obligations. The Financial Advisor has requested and the City has consented to the Financial Advisor submitting bids for the
Offered Obligations.
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UNDERWRITING

The Offered Obligations will be purchased at competitive bidding conducted on June 27, 2007.

The award of the Offered Obligations was made to Piper Jaffray, Minneapolis, Minnesota, its co-managers and associates.

The public reoffering yields of the Offered Obligations are detailed on the inside front cover of the Final Official Statement.

CLOSING DOCUMENTS AND CERTIFICATES

Simultaneously with the delivery of and payment for the Offered Obligations by the Underwriters thereof, the City will
furnish to the Underwriters the following closing documents, in form satisfactory to Bond Counsel:

()
(@)
3)
“4)

)

(6)
(M

a signature and no litigation certificate;

a tax certificate;

a certificate of delivery and payment;

the opinions as to the legality of the Offered Obligations under Wisconsin law and as to the tax-exempt status of
the interest thereon for federal income tax purposes rendered by Katten Muchin Rosenman LLP, Chicago,
Illinois, and Hurtado, S.C. Wauwatosa, Wisconsin, Bond Counsel to the City, in substantially the forms as set

forth in Appendix B;

copies of this Official Statement issued in conjunction with the Offered Obligations within seven business days
after the award of the Offered Obligations in accordance with SEC Rule 15¢2-12(b)(3);

a Continuing Disclosure Certificate; and
a statement to the effect that this Official Statement, to the best of its knowledge and belief as of the date of sale
and the date of delivery, is true and correct in all material respects and does not contain any untrue statement of

a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made herein, in light of
the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

REPRESENTATIONS OF THE CITY

To the best of its knowledge, the information in this Official Statement does not include any untrue statement of a material
fact, nor does the information omit the statement of any material fact required to be stated therein, or necessary to make the
statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

Additional information may be obtained from the undersigned City Comptroller upon request.

W. Martin Morics, City Comptroller and Secretary
City of Milwaukee, Public Debt Commission
City Hall, Room 404
200 East Wells Street
Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202
(414) 286-3321

/s/ W. Martin Morics, Comptroller
City of Milwaukee, Wisconsin

June 27, 2007
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APPENDIX A

Audited Annual Financial Report of
the City of Milwaukee, Wisconsin
for the Year Ended December 31, 2005

Selected Sections

The complete Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
can be downloaded at the City Comptroller’s web page at:

www.milwaukee.gov
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777 East Wisconsin Avanue
Milwaukee, W 53202

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Honorable Members
of the Common Council
of the City of Milwaukee:

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund information of the City of Milwaukee (the City) as of and for the year ended December 31,
2005, which collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the City’s management. Our responsibility is o express
opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We did not audit the financial statements of
Iousing Authority of the City of Milwaukee, the Redevelopment Authority of the City of Milwaukee, the
Milwaukee Economic Development Corporation, and the Neighborhood Improvement Development
Corporation, which represents 100 percent of the assets and revenues of the aggregate discretely presented
component units. Those financial statements were audited by other auditors whose report thercon has been
turnished to us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for the aggregate discretely
presented component units, is based on the reports of the other auditors.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits comtained in Government Auditing Standards,
1ssued by the Controller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes consideration of intenal control over financial reporting as a basis for
designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant
estimales made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audit and the reports of other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of other auditors, the financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental activities,
the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the
aggregate remaining fund information of the City as of December 31, 2005, and the respective changes in
financial position and cash flows, where applicable, thereof for the year then ended in conformity with U.S.
generally accepted accounting principles.

The management's discussion and analysis and budgetary comparison information on pages 17 1o 31; and
Exhibit E-1, respectively, are not required parts of the basic financial statements bul are supplementary
information required by U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. We have applied certain limited
procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of management regarding the methods of measurement
and presentation of the required supplementary information. However, we did not audit the information and
eXpress no opinion on it.
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In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated July 28, 2006, on
our consideration of the City's internal control over financial reparting and on our tesis ol its compliance
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and granl agreements and other matters. The
purpose of that report 1s to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over
financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance
with Government Auditing Standards and should be considered in assessing the results of our audit.

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the City's basic financial statements. The ntroductory section, combining and individual fund
statements and schedules, miscellancous financial data and statistical section are presented for purposes of
additional amalysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. The combining and
individual fund statements and schedules have been subjected to the auditing procedures applied to the
audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, are fairly stated in all matenal respects in relation
to the basic financial statements taken as a whole. The introductory section, miscellancous financial data
and statistical section have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic
financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on them.

KPMe LP

Milwaukee, Wisconsin

July 28, 20006, except for the financial statements and related
note disclosures for the discretely presented component
units as to which the dale 15 November 3, 2006



CITY OF MILWALIKEE
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

Within this section of the City of Milwaukee Comprehensive Annual Financial Reporl, the Cily's managemenl provides
narrative discussion and analysis of the financial activities of the City for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005. The City's
financial performance is discussed and analyzed within the context of the accompanying financial slatements and disclosures
following this section. This Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) should be read in conjunction with the City's basic
financial statemants, which follow this discussion. Additional information is avallable in the latter of transmittal, which pracedes
Management's Discussion and Analysis. The MD&A focuses on the City's primary government and, unless otherwise noled,
component units reported separataly from the primary govermnment are not included. Dollars are reported in thousands.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The assets of the City of Milwaukee exceeded its liabilities at the close of fiscal year 2005 by 51,038 million (net assats);
$405 million in governmental activities and $633 million in business-type activities. Govemmental activities' unrestricted
assels are a deficit of $197 million. This indicates that the City is financing long-term liabilities as they come due rather
than when they are incurred.

The city's net assels of 51,038 million compared lo the previous year of §1,022, increased by 1.6%.

Total net assets are comprised of the following:

(1) Capital assats, net of related debt, of 51,054 include property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation, and
reduced for outstanding debt related to the purchase or construclion of capital assets.

(2) MNet assets of $117 are restricted by constraints imposed from outside the City such as debt covenants, grantors,
laws, or regulations

(3) Unrestricted ($133) million.

The City's governmental funds reported total ending fund balance of $229.0 million this year. Compared to the prior year
ending fund balance of $205.5 million, an increase of $23.5 milion resulled by year end 2005; an 11% increase.

At the end of the curent fiscal year, total fund balance for the General Fund was approximately 385 million or 14.8% of
total General Fund expenditurés including transfers and 14.9% of total General fund révenues including transfers.

Total liabilities of the city increased by $35 million to $1,410 million during the fiscal year.

General obligation bonds and notes payable increased by $37 million during the current fiscal year from $673 million to
$710 million. The key factors in this Increase were the issuance of over $156 million in general obligation bonds and
notes for the continuing funding of capital projects and the issuance of debt on behalfl of the Milwaukee Public Schools.
Other factors contributing to this increase were schaduled retirement of general debt of $119 million.

For governmental activities, program revenue (consisting of charges for services, and of operating granis and
contributions) supported 19.6% of the total expenses for 2005. Property laxes and other taxes represented 29.2% of the
primary government's govemnmental activilies' expenses and state aids for the General Fund equaled 354%.
Miscellaneous revenues and transfers supported 12.6% of the expenses. As a result of 2005 activity, 3.2% of the
expenses are not funded with current year revenues and transfers.

For business-type activities, program revenue (consisting of charges for services, and of capital grants and contributions)
supported 127.35% of the expenses for 2005; and, in lolal exceeded the expenses by $38,697. Miscellaneous revenue
and transfers out of ($33,621) were 23.77% of the total expensas for the year.

During the year, the City had governmental expenses of $619.0 million more than its program revenues; general revenues
and transfars of $628.5 million resulted in a decrease of net assets of $9.5 milion. This does not include $16.6 million
budgeted use of prior year surplus used to finance the General Fund expendilures for 2005. Business-type activilies
generated $6.5 million of program revenues, general revenuas and transfers greater than its expense at year end; and,
had an increase of net assets of 1% over 2004,

The general fund reporled a positive fund balance for the year of $85 million. Compared to $87 million in 2004; the 2005
year end balance decreased 2.3%. This decraase is primarily a result of the aggregate of total actual revenues and
transfers in ware $2 million lass than aggregate of total expenditures and transfer out during 2005.
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CITY OF MILWALKEE
MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

The operating expenditures of the General Fund ware $8.9 million less than budgeted. This favorable vanance is a result
of savings from general government departments of $8.5 million; public safety departments of $.8 milion and public
works, health, culture and recreation and conservation and development departments, in the aggregate, of $0.6 million.
Several major savings over the final budget for the year contributed to approximately 85% of this total savings, or $8.4
millien. A tolal of $.4 million in depariments was saved in salary accounts due to normal vacancies and funding for union
contracts settled in 2005 which resulted in expenditures less than budgeted.. The Employees’ Retirement System
Administration Deparment saved $2.0 in annual professional fees and other operating costs and $1.1 million on the
special departmantal project of Data Remediation which was complated in 2005. Tha Comptroller and Administration
departments saved a combined savings of $.3 million in other operating costs for 2005. Special Purpose non-
departmental appropriations assigned to the Department of Neighborhood Sarvices saved $.2 milion on razing and
vacant building protections costs by year end. In addition, the combined savings from the Comptroller, Employees’
Retirement and Department of Employee Relations resulted in a favorable variance in various fringe benefil costs that
were allocated to capital projects rather than to general fund accounts, and thus saved $4.4 million for the year

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis serves as an introduction to the City's basic financial statements. The basic financial statements
consist of three components: (1) Government-wide financial statements, (2) Fund financial statements, (3) Notes to the
financial statements. This report also includes ather (4) Required Supplementary Information. Figure A-1 shows how the
required parts of the annual report are arranged and relate lo one another.

The basic financial statements include two kinds of statements that present different views of the City.

The firsl two statements are governmenl-wide financial statements thal provide both long-term and shorl-term information

about the city's overall financial status.

The remaining statements are fund financial statements that focus on individual parts of the cily government, reporting the

City’s oparations in more detail than the government-wide statements.

= The govemmental funds statements tell how general governmen! services like public safely were financed in the
shorl term as well as whal remains for fulure spending.

* Proprietary fund statements offer short- and long-term financial information about the activities that the government
operales like businesses, such as the water and the sewer mainlenance syslems.

*  Fiduciary fund statemants provide information about the financial relationships—like various benefit plans for the
City's employees—in which the city is solely a trustee or agent for the benefit of others to whom the resources
belong.

A summary of the major features of the cily's financial statements, including the portion of the City governmant they cover and
the types of information they contain are depicted in table Figure A-2. The remainder of this overview section of
management's discussion and analysis explains the structure and contents of each of the statements.
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FIGURE A-2

MAJOR FEATURES OF GOVERNMEMT - WIDE AND FUWD FINANCIAL ETATEMENTS

Govemmen!-Wide Fund Financial Btaternenls
Stmlemramis Gavernmanial Funds Propristary Funds Fldueiary Funds
Scope Enfire soflity {sxcapt The day-lo-day openting sctivitas | The day-to-cay openting InEtancas in which tha City administers
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Government-wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide a broad overview of the City’s finances, in a manner similar
to a private-sector business and include both long-term and short-term information about the City's financial status. The
statement of net assels includes all of the government's assels and liabilities. All of the current year's revenues and expenses
are accounted for in the statement of activities regardiess of when cash is received or paid. All of the aclivities of the City,
except those of a fiduciary nature, are included.

The two government-wide statements report the City's net assets and how they have changed. Nel assets—the difference
batween the City's assets and liabilities—is one way to measure the City's financial health, or financial position.

= Over time, increases or decreases in the City's net assets are one indicator of whether its financial health is improving or
deterioraling.

s  Other non-financial factors, such as changes in the property tax base and the condition of the roads are needed to assess
the overall health of the City.

The govemment-wide financial statemenis of the City of Milwaukee are reporied into three calegories on these statements—

governmental activities, business-type activities, and component units. A total column for the city is also provided.

= The governmental activities include the basic services of the City including general government (administration), palice,
fire, public works, health, culture, and development services. Taxes and general revenues generally support thess
activilies.

= The business-lype activities include the private sector type activities such as the water, sewer user charge, sewer
maintenance, parking, and port. User charges or fees primarily support these activities.

» Component units—The City includes four other entities in its report. The Housing Authority and the Redevelopment
Authority of the City of Milwaukee, Milwaukee Economic Development Corporation and the Neighborhood Improvement
Development Corporation. Although legally separate, these component units are important because the City has financial
accountability responsibility.

Fund Financial Statements
The City's major funds begin with Exhibit A-1. The fund financial statements provide detailed information about the most

significant funds; not the cily as a whole. The accounts of the Cily are organized on the basis of funds. Each fund is a
separale fiscal and accounting entity with a saif-balancing set of accounts including assets, liabilities, equities, revenues and
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expendilures or expenses, which is segregated for the purpose of camying an specific aclivities or atlaining cerlain objeclives
in accordance with specific regulations, restrictions or limitations.

Tha City has three fund types: governmental and propristary which use the modified accrual and the accrual methods of
acocounting, respactivaly, and fiduciary funds.

+ Governmental funds: Most of the City's basic services are reported in governmental funds, which focus on the modified
accrual accounting, which measures cash and all other financial assets that can readily be converted to cash. The
governmental fund statements provide a detailed short-term view of the City's general government operations and the
basic services it provides. Governmental fund information helps to determine if more or fewer financial resources are
available to be spent in the near future to finance the city's programs. The relationship (or differences) batween
governmental activities (reported in the Statement of Net Assets and the Statement of Activities) and governmental funds
is described in the reconciliation at the botlom of the fund financial statements.

* Proprietary funds: Operations which are financed primarily by user charges or activities where periodic measurement of
net incoma is appropriate for capital maintenance, public policy, management control and other purposes. Proprietary
funds are reporied in the same way that all activiies are reporied in the Statement of Net Assets and the Statement of
Activilies. The city's enlerprise funds (a component of proprietary funds) are the same as the business-type activilies
reported in the government-wide statements, but provide more detail and additional informalion, such as cash flows, for
proprietary funds.

= Fiduciary funds: The City is the trustee, or fiduciary, for ils employees deferred compensation plan and various
miscellaneous private purpose trusts. All of the Cily's fiduciary aclivities are reporied in separate Stalemenis of Fiduciary
Met Assets and Changes in Fiduciary Net Assels in Exhibits C-1, C-2 and H-1. These activities are excluded from the
city's other financial statements because the Cily cannot use these assels to finance its operations. The city is
respansible for ensuring that the assets reported in these funds are used for their intended purposes.

Motes to the Financial Statements

The nates which fallow Exhibils 1 through D-2 provide additional information thal is essential lo a full understanding of the data
provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.

Required Supplementary Information

In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents required supplementary
information to demonstrale legal budgetary compliance for each major fund for which an annual budget is adopled. Required
supplamentary information is presanted in Exhibit E-1.

Combining and Individual Fund Statements and Schedules and Miscellaneous Financial Data

Combining schedules provide detail in connection with nonmajor governmental funds and nonmajor enterprise funds.
Individual fund statemants provida greater detail, presentad as comparad with tha final amended budgst for the Genaral Fund,
and each nonmajor special revenue fund. Capital Projects are also presented in detail by major category, ie. streets, sewers
within the Miscellaneous Financial Data Section. See Exhibits F-1 through 1-8.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY AS A WHOLE

As year-lo-year financial information is accumulated on a consistent basis, changes in net assets may be observed and used
to discuss the changing financial position of the City as a whole. The net assets and net expenses of governmental and
business-type activities are depicted separately below. Table 1 focuses on the net assels and Table 2 focuses on the
changes in net assets.
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Table 1
Summary of Statemant of Net Assats
{Thousands of Dollars)
Total
Governmental Activities Business-typo Primary Governmant
2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005
Curment and athar assets ... e § TTBATE § 791833 § 116482 § 101,621 $ B84658 3§ 893,454
Capital 8538fs ...........ccocnreverrreeresemsnnnns 841,723 B73, 744 660,664 680,939 1,502,387 1,554,683
Tolal Assels .......ccocceennvnensncvmrnrconeene 1,619,809 1,685,577 777,146 782,560 2,397,045 2,448,137
Long-term liabililes outstanding ... 702,463 749 904 132,838 121,663 835,301 871,567
O NBDMEEE. ........ccoonmninrrarmeressmersssmansans 521,653 510,360 17,885 27.958 539,548 538,318
Tola) lablilos ..........cocrmimemsenrsnisrissinss 1,224,116 1,260,264 150,733 148,621 1,374,849 1,408,885
Met assets:
Investad in Capital assats, nat of
Tl Bl 444 873 492,841 520,213 580,899 974,088 1,053,740
Restricted .........cccconminnnmmme 110,417 109,148 8,123 8,383 118,540 117,532
Liimimieeti - (159,507) (196,677) 89,077 63,657 (70,430) {133,020)
Tolal net assels .........ccccceensenecsiinnennns § 395783 § 405313 $ 626413 § 632939 $ 102219 § 1.038.252

Net assets of the city's governmental activities increased 2.4% to $405.3 million for 2005. These net assets are restricted as
to use of $109.1 or ara invested in capital assets of 34928 (buildings, roads, bridges, etc) less any ralated dabt used to
acquire those assels that is slill outstanding. The City uses these assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these
assels are not available for future spending. The unrestricled net assets deficit ($196.7) at the end of the year does not mean
that the City does not have adequate financial resources available to pay its bills next year. Instead, it is because the City's
annual budgets do not include the full amounts needed 1o finance future liabilities arising from property and casualty claims
and to pay for unused employee vacation and sick days. The City will include these amounts in future years' budgets as they
come due.

The net assets of business-type activities increased 1% to $632.9 million in 2005, The City generally can only use these net
assels lo finance the conlinuing operations of the specific enterprise aclivily il relates lo.

Long-term liabilities for governmental activities increased 6.8% from 2004 due primarily by the issuance of long-term debt. For
businass-type aclivities, long-term liabilities decraased 8.4% from 2004 due to the retirement of existing general obligation and
revenue bond debt.

Total assets, including capital assets increased $51.1 million or 2.13% from 2004. Capital assets of the primary govermnment
increased overall only 3.48% from the previous year. For 2005, business-type activities, the Water Works and the Sewer
Maintenance Funds have 81% of the city’s total net capital assets. These are the City's two largest enterprise funds
(business-type). The Water Works capital assels (54%) consist primarily of water mains and related water facilities and plants;
and, the Sewer Maintenance Fund (37%) includes all the various sewer mains and connections.

Changes in net assets. The City's total revenues totaled $731.7 million in the governmental activities. Of revenues, 31%
comes from property and other taxes and 48% comes from intergovernmental revenues (state aids, federal and state grants).
Charges for services represents only 9% of the total, with the remaining 11% from licenses, permits, finds and forfeits and
miscellaneous other sources.

The City's expenses cover a range of services, with about 34% related to public safety (fire and police, neighborhood
services). The City's general expenses exceeded its revenues for governmental activities by a 5.3% margin while business-
type activities had 22.1% more revenues than expenses. Chart 1 Expenses and Program Revenues — Governmental
Activities and Chart 2 Expenses and Program Revenues — Business —type Activities depict this comparnison.
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Table 2 and the namative that follows consider the operations of governmental and business-type activities separately.

Table 2
Changes in of Net Assets
{Thousands of Dollars)
Total
Governmental Activities Business-type Primary Government
2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005

Revenues:
Program revenues:

Charges for Samvites ... $§ 60825 § 63410 § 177638 § 178,3M § Z4ed 5 241741

Operating grants and contribubions  ............ 82 684 87,718 % - 82,684 ar.718

Capital granis and contributions ... - - 2.236 1.850 2,236 1,850
Genaral ravenues:

Property taxas and other taxes ... 217,782 224 918 - - 217,782 224,918

State aids for General Fund ..., i 273,865 272,875 - . 273,865 272,875

MiSCBlENBOUS .......coomrmmmannsssnnss s e : 568,321 82,796 797 1,460 57,118 84,258

Total revanuBs ..o s . B91,437 731,717 180,672 181,841 872,108 913,358

Expenses

Ganaral govermment ..., y 177,761 180,975 - - 177,761 180,976

[0 -] Sl O — 241,027 263,852 - - 241,027 263,852

Publlo Works ... 150,591 155,048 B - 150,591 165,048

HERR o e R 27,251 27,036 - . 27.251 27,036

Cultura and recraation ... 28014 19,931 - - 29014 19,931

Consarvation and dﬂwrnpmﬂnt .................. 57 967 57,245 - . 5T.867 57.245

Capital contribution to
Milwaukee Public Schools ... 15,686 18,002 - - 15,686 18,002

GO 2 s nasaiersiscinssisionirmessbrrinii 20,582 25,485 - - 20,582 25,485

Intemtnnlmn-tam‘tdaht 24,159 22,589 - . 24,155 22,588

Walar ... - . 54,030 58,230 54,030 58,230

mmwﬂm . - 24,361 26,096 24,361 26,096

Port of Mhmulm ......................................... . . 2,981 3,252 2,981 3,252

Matropalitan Sewarage District Lisar Charges. - - 31,233 31,537 31,233 31,537
Total expenses ............. e 744,038 770,143 134,888 141,484 878,926 911.627
Increase in net assets Imram tmrmrm o —— (62,601) (38,426) 45,784 40,167 (6,817) 1.7
Special item - receipt of loans receivable ......... - 14,325 - - - 14,325
L R TR Y S e Ty 22,622 33,631 (22,622) [33,631) - -
Incraase in Nt asselE ... (28,978) 8,530 23,162 6,526 (6,817) 16,056
NMet assets — Beginning .......cccoommmmusimmmm 425,762 305,783 603,251 626,413 1,029,013 1,022,186
Net assets —Ending .......ocoocvccvnmnissinniinncinies s 305783 § 405313 3§ 626413 S 632939 §1,0221868 § 1,088252
Governmental Activities

Revenues for the city's governmental activities were $731.7 million, while total expenses were $770.1 million for 2005, Al
revenues, excluding transfers, are only supporting 84 8% of the total expenses; or 99.3% with transfers; leaving the remaining
7% funded with available fund balances. Comparable data for 2004 indicates 92.4% of all revenues, excluding transfers
supported 2004's expenses 96% with transfers.

Property taxes represent 30.7% of the tolal revenues for 2005 compared to 31.5% for 2004; a .8% decrease. The slight
decrease in ravenues is primarily dua to a decrease in collections. State aids for the General Fund of $272.9 million
decreased from 2004 by $1.0 million or .37%. The combined property taxes and state aids comprised approximately 68% of
the total revenues for governmental funds in 2005 compared to 71% in 2004, Charges for services equaled 8.7% of the total
revenues in 2005 compared to 8.8% in 2004
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Governmental activities had expenses Increase 3.5% in 2005 to $770.1 milion from 5744 million in 2004. Expenses for
general government, which comprise 23.5% of the tolal expenses, increased 1.8% in 2005. An increase in heallh care cosls is
the main reason for this increase. Public safety expenses represent the largast category of govemmaental activities or 34.3%
of the total expenses for 2005 which is an increase from 32.4% in 2004. Public safety expenses increased due to the wage
seltlements for Fire and Police Departments with significant retroactive pay paid during 2005; and, for Police overlime that
occurred during 2005,

Chart 1
2005 Expenses and Program Revenues - Governmental Activities

Casfure and Conservaion  Coriribuion hhrwlmhw-
o an darwnloprant

Table 3 presents the cost of each of the City's largest programs as depicted in the Chart 1 above, as well as each program's
net costs (total cost less the revenues generated by the activities). General government includes most city departments, such
as, Mayor, Common Councll, Administration and Employee Relations, Municipal Court, City Attorney, Comptroller and
Treasurer. Public safety includes Fire, Police and Neighborhood Services. The net cost shows the financial burden that was
placed on the City's taxpayers by aach of thesa functions.
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Table 3
Govermmantal Activities
{Thousand of Doltars)
Total Cost Net Cost
of Services of Services
2004 2005 004 2005
GENBFAL POVBITITIBIL ..icoimuiasisiin it srbisabinsinsiasissansndsonsosiisrisnnsas $ 1TTTE1 5 180975 $ 165130 § 167,840
[l e U S S, 241,027 263,852 218,146 235,397
PULHIC WORKE'  cviiiiivesiiinumsiniisimimiim bives shansios siaiaisi it i rrammesbinii 150,591 155,048 113,801 116,145
ORI . s sigs oo osiom oy R s isRRnd eS R HHERRBRARE 27,251 27,036 8,715 10,029
CUlture and PEERBAtION ...............ccovmreimeemresmasssrerseiessnscassmssses 29,014 19,931 24 692 15,705
Consarvation and davelopment ... 57,967 57,245 30,874 33,030
Interest on IoNG-18MT GBIt ... s s 24,158 22,589 24188 22,589
Total Govemmental Activities ... i $ 744038 § 770,143 § 6005490 § 819015

The Table 3 above indicates that the cost of services not funded with direct program revenue increased in 2005 to $619.0
million from $600.5 million in 2004 or 3%. For 2005, Public Safety’s net cost of services represents the largest category of
fotal expenses at 38%, a increase from 36.3% compared to 2004. General Government's net cosls of services decreased its
share of total expenses from 27.5% in 2004 to 27.1% in 2005. The total costs of services increased overall by 3.5%, with the
nel cost of services also increasing 3.1%. This indicates that the program revenue for the purposes are increasing in portion
to the total cost pf governmental services.

Business-type Activities

The three major enterprises or business.type activities are water, sewer maintenance and parking operations. The Water
Works had operating expenses of $58.3 million and operating income of $15.2 million. The Sewer maintenance had operating
income of $11.9 million after generating expenses of $19.2 millien. The City parking facilities operaling expenses during 2005
were $21.6 million with net operating income of $16.7 million.

Total revenues on Table 2 shows an increase of $.9 million in 2005 compared to 2004, or .5%. Total expenses and transfers
of all enterprise funds of the City increased $17.6 million, from $157.5 million in 2004 to $175.1 million in 2005. This resulted
in a change in net assets activity for the year 2005 of a decrease of $16.6 million compared to 2004, The year-end Total Net
Assets however, increased by 36.5 million or 1.04% This increase in revenue can be attributed to the increase the rates
eamed on investiments; rate increase in the sewer user rates and increase in water sales revenues to its customers.
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Chart 2
2005 Expenses and Program Revenues - Business-type Activities
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY'S FUNDS
The City uses fund accounting o ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance related legal requirements.
Govarnmental Funds

Governmental funds are reported in the fund statements with a short-term, inflow and outflow of spendable resources focus.
This information is useful in assessing resources avallable at the end of the year in comparison with upcoming financing
requirements. In parlicular, the Reserved for Tax Stabilization in the General Fund may serve as a useful measure for the
City's nel resources available for financing subsequent year's budget to help stabilize the tax rate. Types of Governmental
funds reported by the City include the Genaral Fund, Special Revenua Funds, Debl Service Funds and Capital Project Funds.

As the City completed the year, its governmental funds (as presented in the balance sheat on Exhibits A-1) reported a
combined fund balance of $229.0 millien, an increasa of 323.5 million or 11% over last year. A major contributor for this
increase is due to a one-time recording of the a Special Item in the Special Revenue Funds-Grant and Aid Projects Fund and
the Community Development Block Fund for the transfer of a total of $14.3 million of Component Unit Neighborhood
Improvement Development Corporation's loans receivable to the City  In addition, the expenditures for various capital projects
(such as streets, tax incremental districts in advance of the issuance of debt resulted in a net fund deficit of $12.3 million in
2004; with the receipt of bond proceads in 2008, the total capital projects fund balance at year end 2005 is a deficit of $838.
Total debt issued for capital projects totaled $72.3 million in 2004 compared to $112.9 million in 2005. At year end, the capital
projects with a fund deficit were Tax Incremental Districts $9.2 million, Bridges $3.8 million, Fire $1.1million, and Sewers,
Library and Streets 5.7 million. The fund balance deficit of $15.1 million for special assessment capital projects remained
constant compared to S13.1 million in 2004. This deficit is due to the financing of capital projects prior to the issuance of the
special assessment bills. These bills, if over $125 are payable over six years, Other capital project such public buildings,
palice, urban renewal, playgrounds and special projects netted a positive fund balance at year end of $28.9 million,
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The lotal reserves of the General Fund decreased 2.3% to $85 million from $87 million in 2004, Of this amounl, $16.3 will
finance the 2006 budaet, with $46.8 avallable for 2007 and subsequent years’ budgets.

Revenues for governmental functions overall totaled $731.3 million in the fiscal year ended Decamber 31, 2005, which
represents an increase of approximataly 5.9% from the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004. Expenditures for governmental
funds totaled $893.8 million, an increase of 8.8%. In the aggregale, expenditures exceeded revenues by $163 million, or
approximately 22%. Other financing sources closed the gap,; leaving the total net change in fund balances with an increase of
$23.5 million for the year. In comparison for the year 2004, the total net change in fund balances resulled in a decrease of
$8.7 million. Other financing sources include proceeds from issuance of debt and transfers from enterprise funds and a one-
time special item of $14.3 milion for the receipt of lpans receivable transferred from the Meighborhood Improvement
Development Corporation component unit.

Major Governmental Funds

The General Fund is the City's primary operating fund and the largest source of day-to-day service delivery, The fund balance
of the General Fund decreased by 52 million or 2.3%. Key factor contributing to this decrease is revenues and other financing
sources totaled approximately 5572 million and expenditures and other financing uses totaled approximately $574 million -
detailed in Table 4 below. While revenues and other financing sources increased by 3.96% over 2004, and expendilures and
other financing uses increased 3.74% over 2004, the net result ended with expenditures exceeding revenues.

The following table presents a summary of revenues and expenditures of the General Fund compared to prior year:

Table 4
General Fund
Summary of Revenues, Expenditures and Other Financing Sources and Uses
(Thousands of Dollars)
Revenuas and Other Financing Sources Expenditures and Other Financing Uses
Revenues: 2004 2005 % Change Expenditures: 2004 2005 % Change
Propery [axes ... $129120 § 135610 5.03% Genaral Govemment......... $200,124 § 206,055 2.96%
Other taxas .........ccccccecemeecennes 3,563 3,709 4.10% Public Safety...................... 231371 248,388 7.35%
Licenses and permits ... 11,530 13,374 15.98% Public Works..........cce B9,6562 89,180 -0.43%
Intergovernmental  ................ 273 @es 272875 -0,36% 5 T | — 10,724 10,858 -0.63%
Charges for services ... 60825 63410 4.25% Culivre and recreation ... 17,822 16,744 -6.05%
Consarvation and

Fines and forfaits ... ... 5,847 5,893 4 36% development ... 34095 2,767  -20.83%
Contributions recehved ... 22,236 25,187 13.27%
DM ouonaasia s suesscatsaansnasnas 8,108 12,179 50.21% . 3

Tolal Revenues ... 514,804 532237 3.37% Total Expenditures ..., 553,088 573,768 3.74%
Other Financing Sources Othar Financing Usas
Debt proceeds ... 2,000 - =100.00%
Transfars in ....oceeveinsnens 33,269 36,725 18.41% Transfers out ................. . 10 3 -70.00%

Total Expendilures
Total Revenuss and and other Financing
Other Financing Sources . 550,163 571,962 3.96% Uses ... 3 553,108 $ 573,771 374%

Excess of Revenues

over Expenditures .............. _[38204) (41,531) 871%
Mat Change in

over Expanditures ... 5 (2945) § (1.B08) -385Th

The General Obligation Debt Service Fund increased its fund balance from $43.8 million to $44.2 million, less than 1%. The
Public Dabt Amortization Fund showed a slight decrease of 1.5% from $74.8 million to $73.7 million at year-end for its fund
balance. Other Revenues, consisting of interest on investmants, increased significantly from 3.6 million in 2004 to $5.3 million
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in 2005 primarily lo increase in inlerest rates on invesiments. In addition, inlernal transfers (o fund various routine on-going
capital projects during 2005 increased to $8.6 milllon compared to $7.2 million in 2004,

Capital Projects Funds are used to account for the financial rescurces segregated for the acquisition or construction, repair of
major capital facilities other than those financed by proprietary funds. At year end, 2005 showed a deficit fund balance of $.8
million (an increase in the fund balance of $11.4 million lessen the accumulated deficit of $12.3 million in 2004). In 2005, total
debt proceeds amounted to $112.9 million as compared to $72.3 million in 2004, a 56.2% increase. Total revenues increased
46.1% from $25.6 million to $37.4 million; expenditures also increased from $104.8 million to $139.0 million or 32.6%. Due to
the issuance of bonds and notes during 2005 for capital purposes combined with revenues and transfers were sufficient to
cover the current year's expenditures in total, but insufficient to eliminate the deficit in fund balance at year end 2005. The
capital projects with a fund deficit were Tax Incremental Districts $9.2 million, Bridges $3.8 million, Fire $1.1million, and the
remaining $.7 from Sewers, Library and Strests. The fund balance deficit of $15.1 million for special assessmant capital
projects remained constant compared to $13.1 million in 2004. This deficit is due to the financing of capital projects prior to
the Issuance of the special assessment bills. These bills, if over $125 are payable over six years. Other capital project such
public buildings, police, urban renewal, playgrounds and special projects netted a positive fund balance at year end of $28.9
millign.

Proprietary Funds

The proprietary fund statements share the same focus as the government-wide statements, reporting both shori-term and
long-term information about financial status, but in more detail.

At the end of the fiscal year, the lotal unrestricted net assels for all enterprise funds were $83.6 million. This was an decrease
fram $89 million at December 31, 2004 or 2B.5%. This decrease consists of, $3.0 million in the Water Works, $20.5 million in
the Sewer Maintenance, $1.2 million in the Parking and $.7 million in the nonmajor enterprise funds.

Total operating revenues of the enterprise funds increased 3% from 2004 - $176.7 million to $177.2 million in 2005; total
operating expenses increased to $131.7 in 2005 from $124.4 in 2004 or 5.9%. The Water Works is the largest enterprise
activity for the City, comprising approximately 40% of the total oparating revenues. The Sewer Maintenance Fund comprises
almost 18% of the total operating revenues. Both funds primarily bill customers based on water consumption. For 2005 both
revenues and water consumption have gone up from the previous year. Specifically, the Water works revenues increased by
$.450 million and gallons sold increased by 1.1 billion gallons, This increase is mainly due to the hot and dry summer that
Milwaukee experienced in 2005. Water works non-operating revenues for 2005, which is mainly composed of interést income,
increased by 54% or $.5 million from 2004. This increase is due to a favorable interest rate on investments in 2005.

The Water Works had total operating and non-operating expenses of $56.3 for 2005 compared to $54.0 for 2004. Excluding
depreciation expense, operating expenses increased by $4.2 million or 10.7% in 2005. A major porion of this increase is in
the water treatment expenses with a total increase of $2.3 million between the two categories. Two major repair projects were
undertaken in 2005. The Howard East Clearwell Roof Repair Project cost $1.1 million and the Riverside Lead Abatement
Project cost .7 million. There were no major projects of similar magnitude in 2004, Rising cost of chemicals and energy also
confributed to the increase in operating expenses. The non-operaling expenses of the Water Works decreased by $.374 due
to the declining principal balances on outstanding debt.

Tha total operating expenses of all the enterprises funds, except Water Works, remained consistent with 2004 and increassd
approximately 5.8%

General Fund Budgetary Highlights

Over the course of the year, the City Council adopled three resolutions which increased the appropriations of the general fund
due lo greater than anlicipated revenues. These increased budgets permitted depariments to spend additional appropriations
due to the increase in revenues related to the purpose being expended. $206,500 was received from third party workers'
compensation claims as insurance settiements during 2005. In addition, $10,000 was received aover the amounts anticipated
in the budget relating to the Common Council's approval for the receipt and expenditure of funds for contributions relating to
the Cans for Cash Challenge to fund recycling education and outreach efforts targeting Milwaukee schools and residents; such
donations are accounted for as Other Financing sources and uses in the General Fund. Also, $1,048,358 was received in
fringe benefil offset funds to fund the 2005 health care obligations.
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The eriginal budget for expendilures includes the adopled budgel plus the encumbrances carried over from 2004 less the
encumbrances camied over to 2006. The Final budget includes the original budget as defined plus appropriations authorized
for carmry over from 2004 by Commen Council less those approprialions authorized for camryover to 2006. In addition, cerlain
appropriations are budgeted in a general non-departmental account (i.e. contingency) and are only transferred from this non-
departmental appropriation account to specific departments to expend after authorization by the Common Council. Thesa
appropriation adjustments are part of the final budgel. As detailed in Required Supplementary Information Section, Exhibit E-
1, the General Fund original budget for expanditures was $541.1 milllon with the final budget at $558.2 millien. This is an
increase over the fiscal year 2004 with original budget at $525.8 million and final budget at $536.8 million. The resulted
increase was 2.9% and 4% for the original and final budgets, respectively.

The original budget relating to estimated revenues of the General Fund was $495, 168 with the Final budget increased by $217
to $485,385 per the authorized resolution detailed above, The 2005 original and final budgets as depicted in Exhibit E-1 show
a 2 percent net change from the previous year or 2.04% increase from the original 2004 budget, and a 1.99% increase over
the final 2004 budget of $485,261 and $485,700, respectively.

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2005, the General Fund had a positive variance of $11.7 million in revenues over
estimated revenues. All actual revenue categories increased compared to 2004 from 4.10% in Other Taxes to 15.89% in
Licenses and Permits, except for Intergovernmental Revenues (State Shared Revenue). These revenues decreased slightly
{.36%) from 2004 of $273,B65 to 2005 of $272,875 or a $990,000 decrease. An overall revenue increase of $14.4 million over
2004's total revenue of $492 658 calculates to a total for 2005 total revenue of $507,050, or a 2.82% increase. While the
categories indicate various individual fluctuations, two of the noteworthy changes over 2004 aclual revenue include $6.5
million increase In Property Taxes due to a reassessment of property values. The Other category increased $4.1 million fram
2004; interest income on investments is included in this category. The average interest rate of retum on the pooled
investments with the State's Local Government Pooled Investment Fund was 3.04857% compared to 1.5089% in 2004.

A favorable variance of $9.9 million in unexpended budget resulted by year end 2005. The general government contributed
$8.5 milion; public safety added $.8 million and public works, health culiure and recreation and conservation and
development, in the aggregate, added 5.6 million. Several major savings over the final budget for the year contributed to
approximately B5% of this total savings, or $8.4 million. A total of $.4 million in departments was saved in salary accounts due
to normal vacancies and funding for union contracts settied in 2005 which resulted in expenditures less than budgeted.. The
Employees’ Retirement System Administration Department saved $2.0 in annual professional fees and other operating costs
and $1.1 million on the special departmental project of Data Remediation which was completed in 2005. The Comptroller and
Administration departments saved a combined savings of $.3 million in other operating costs for 2005. Special Purpose non-
departmental appropriations assigned to the Department of Neighborhood Services saved $.2 million on razing and vacant
building protections costs by year end. In addition, the combined savings from the Comptrolier, Employees' Retirement and
Department of Employee Relations resulled in a favorable variance in various fringe benefil costs that were allocated to capital
projects rather than to general fund accounts, and thus saved 4.4 million for the year.

Overall the total 2005 expenditures increaszed $15.8 milllon compared to 2004. This increase can be attributed primarily to
salaries in the Public Safety category. Salaries increased 57.6 million in Fire Department and $8.1 million in Police, primarily
due to wage settlements. Significamt retro payments relating 1o the 2004 thru April 2005 for Police and 2004 thru September
2005 coupled with the installation of the new rates of pay to the year 2005 confributed greatly to this increase.

The City's General Fund's beginning fund balance of $87.0 million as reported on the General Fund Statemment of Revenues,
Expanditures and Changes in Fund Balanca differs from the General Fund's budgatary fund balance reported in the budgetary
comparison schedule by the amount of the budgeted withdrawal from the Reserve for Tax Stabilization of $16.6 million. For
budgetary purposes, this withdrawal is reflected as other financing sources, whereas for accounting purposes it is reflected as
part of the fund balancs,
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Chart 3
2005 City Spending by Function - Governmental Funds
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2005 Revenues by Source - Governmental Funds
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CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION
Capital Assets

The City's capital assets for governmental and business-type activities as of December 31, 2005, total $1,554.7 million (net of
accumulated depreciation. Capital assets include land, buildings, infrastructure, improvements other than buildings,
machinery and equipment, furniture and fumishings, non-utility property, and construction in progress. The total increase in
the City's capital assets for the current fiscal year was $52.3 million or 3.5%. Governmental activities' capital assets increased
$32 million. Business-type aclivities' capilal assels increased $20.3 million or 3.1% al the end of 2005. A schedule comparing
the assals by type for 2004 and 2005 for both governmental and business-type activities is depicted in Table & below. The net
change in assets as detailed in Note 4 reports that additions were $57 million and deletions were 525 million for 2005 for
govarnmantal activities. The sewar maintenance fund had a net change in capital assets that resulted in an increase of $15.9
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millien. Of the sewer maintenance fund's net assels al year end, 86.3% relale to lhe sewer mains infrastructures,
Infrastructure net assets of the Water Works comprise 61.35% of its total net assets and 32 3% consisting of machinery and
equipment. The tolal net change in all water works net assets was an increase of 2%.

Tabla 5
Capital Assels
{net of depreciation)
{Thousands of Dollars)
Total
Governmental Activities _ Business-type Primary Government
2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005
Capital assatls not being deprociated:
10 (il i A i $ 183552 % 183482 § 18388 $ 18012 § 181940 % 181404
Construction in progress  .................. 50 902 B4 504 45 909 46,178 105,811 110,770
Capital assats baing depraciated:........ -

T T R e it o 140,186 160,313 B4 305 84,355 224 581 244 BEE
Infrastruchum  .......ciovmmimnnmii . 1,263,354 1,288,714 576,906 606,450 1,840,300 1.805.174
Improvemants other than

DRI = +:.ciciitiatin b bbb kb 8,733 8,082 24 457 25,087 33,190 34,149
Machinery and equipment ........... ; 121,327 122,716 203,243 206,736 324 570 320,452
Fumniture and fumishings ..........c.c.... - - 70 70 70 o
MNonutility propamy  .......occomnnn - - 540 3,019 540 ame
Accumulated depreciation ... _ (916371) _ (945.157) (293 244) {308,956) 1.208615) _ (1.254.113)

DO L inciancininsiomsnsnsaisaianssning § Ba1,723 § BF3 744 § BE0, 664 § 680939 ! 1,502 387 1,654 683

Debt

At year-end, the Cily had $710.4 million in general obligation bonds and notes, $0.2 million in capital lease payable, and $71.5
million in revenue bonds oulstanding as itemized in Table 6.

Outstanding Debt
‘General Obligation and Revenus Bonds
(Thousand of Doltars)
Total
Govarnmantal Activities Businass-typa Primary Govarnmant
2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005
General obligation bonds
(backed by the City) ... 5§ 618888 § 664,285 5 53843 3§ 46,125 3 672801 3 T10410
Capilal lease payable ... 349 174 - - 348 174
Revenue bonds (backed
by specific fee revenues) ... - - 74,620 71,476 74,680 71476
OB & £ B19,337 § 684,450 £ 128633 £ 117601 £ 747870 S 782,060

Mew debt (excluding refunding bonds) issued for general obligation bonds and notes totaled $126,828 milllon, of which $1.3
million related to the Port and Parking Enterprises.

The City continues to maintain high investment grade ratings from the three major rating agencies. A rating of AA+ from Fitch

Ratings, AA from Standard and Poor's Corporation, and Aa2 from Moody's Investors Service, Inc, ware received on the City's
March 2005 and also on tha November 2005 general obligation bonds issues.
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The city's general obligalion debl per capila, excluding enterprize fund debl, was $1,029.78 al the end of 2005, a 8.02%
increase from the prior yvear. As of December 31, 2005, the City's outstanding net general obligation debt was 2.32% of the
City’s equalized properly value. The legal debt limit is 7% of equalized propery value, including Milwaukee Public Schools
debi, which also is issued by the City. Excluding the 2% [imit on School debt, the City has a 5% legal debt limit and has
reached about 51% of this limit. For the 15th year, the City issued general obligation notes to purchase a portion of General
Fund delinguent taxes in the amount of approximately $14 million. Collections on thesa taxes and related interest will be used
to meat the related debt service requiremants.

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR'S BUDGETS AND RATES

Total proparty taxes levied for all funds of the City in 2004 for 2005 purposes decreased $.44 cents per thousand dollars of
assessed valuation to a rate of $8.75. There weare no new fees for services.

= The Solid Waste Fee will increase 55T per year. The fee increased from an annual charge of 75 to $132. The
changa generates $10.6 million in additional revenues for 2008. The last time the Solid Waste Fee increased
was in 2002 when it went from $44 per year to §75. At the $75 fee, the generated $14 million in revenue, so
combined with the increase in the fee the city will receive $24.6 million in 2006. At the level of $75 the city
racoverad approximately 50% of its operating costs. The increased fee will recover nearly 875 of solid wast
operaling cosls..

= The Snow and lce Control Fee will remain at its current rate of $0.2736 per foot of property fronlage, and
generate $2.4 mililon.

= Leaf pick-up and street-sweeping cosls are recovered through the City's sewer maintenance fee. These will be
in the form of a $4.6 million transfer from the Sewer Fund to the General Fund in 2008,

The 2006 adopted City Budget s about $1.2 billion with the budget for the General Fund at $802.8 million. The General Fund
budgets increased more than 3.8% over the 2005 budget of $580.5 million. There is no question that escalating heaith care
cosls aggravate our fiscal condition, In 2008, the Cily will pay $103.3 million for health insurance and relaled cosls compared
to $94.7 million budgeted for 2005, an increase of 9.1%. Ancther majer increase invelves the cost of salaries of all General
Fund Departments due primarily to union contract setflements. The 2006 Budget of $322.1 compared fo $306.9 in 2005
results in an $15.2 milion increase or a8 4.9% increase. Eslimaled Full-lime Egquivalents (FTE) for all General Fund
Departmants have a budgeted increased of 106.5 with the Fire and Palice Departmants having a combined increasa of 136.8
FTE's.

Tha property tax levy will provide $98.8 milion revenue for the general city purposes budget in 2006, This represents an
increase of $5.0 million from 2005 or 5%. The total city tax levy increased from $203 million for 2005 to $213 million for 2006
or a $10 million increase. The resulling properly tax rale of $8.76 is a 43 cent decrease from the 2005 rate of $9.19 per
$1,000 of assessed valuation. The 2006 budget includes $73.6 million in revenue from charges for services, an increase of
$13.5 million. This category of funding encompasses revenue received for services provided by Cily operating departments.
A rate faa change in the solid waste fea from an annual charga of 575 to $132 will genaerate an additional $10.6 million for tha
general city purposes. This specific fee increase is 79% of the total increase over 2005's budget

The City's population is beginning to show a minor but continual decline since 2001, The following table depicts this change
over the last five years and represents a .46% decrease from 2001 to 2005

2001 595508
2002 595058
2003 595,245
2004 593,920
2005 592,765

CONTACTING THE CITY'S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors and creditors with a general overview
of the City's finances and to demonstrate the City's accountability for the money it received. If you have questions about this
report or need additional financial information, contact the City of Miwaukee, Office of the City Comptroller, Office, City Hall,
200 East Walls Streat Room 404, Milwaukes, W 53202,

3



32

This page lefi biank intentionally.



BASIC
FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

GOVERNMENT-WIDE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

33



CITY OF MILWALUKEE Exhibit 1
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
December 31, 2005
(Thousands of Dollars)
Primary Government
Governmental Business-type Componeant
Activities Activities Total Units
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents ............cooeinnen, $ 267,200 $ 58,804 3 326,004 $ 87839
VB s e T 45 885 - 45,8685 3320
Receivables (net):
TEXES . ooveiiiiieiisis i e e asa s s 167,873 45 167,918 -
AU L 19,694 24 982 44 G786 2318
Unbillod BOCOUNTE: ..i.. i isbissiartisbinsmassaias bessiaes 478 14,182 14,840 -
Special assesSments ... 17,500 - 17,500 -
HOtEs AR BOBOE: it s i e s b s sy 51,218 - 51,218 65,813
AcCruod Wbarast ... e siere s binds 1,827 142 2,089 1,488
Due from component units ... 15,129 - 15,129 -
Due from other governmental agencies ... 196,477 - 198,477 8,901
Inventory of materials and supplies ................... 5343 2,526 7,868 -
Inventory of property forresale ... 26 - 28 15,075
Prapaid e i e s bres 334 1 345 1,531
Defarred Charges ... 2,748 584 3,343 862
Total non-capital 8ssets ........cccoceveeeeciencnrcsenns 791,833 101,621 893,454 190,173
Capital assets:
Capital assets not being depreciated:
| B e e e e e e s 163,482 18.012 181,494 55713
Construction in progress ... 64,594 46,176 110,770 72,968
Capital assets baing depreciailed:
BUIMINGD | ot S e T e 160,313 84,355 244 668 337,227
ROTERRAFIRRTE: & izttt R b 1,208,714 606,460 1,905,174 -
Improvements other than buildings  ............... 9,082 25,087 34,149 259
Machinery and equipment ... 122,716 208,736 320452 3,009
Furniture and furnishings ... - 70 70 -
Monutility propamy ... - 3019 3,019 -
Accumulatad dapradiation ..., (945,157) {(308,956) (1,254,113) (198,141)
Tolal Capltal Assels .........cccccimnicsmmiencm e 873,744 E80,238 1,654,683 271,835
Tolal Assets ... O PR AN 1,865,577 782,580 2,448,137 462,108
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CITY OF MILWAUKEE

Exhibit 1 (Continued)

STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
December 31, 2005
{Thousands of Dollars)
Primary Government
Governmental Business-type Component
Activities Activities Total Units
LIABILITIES
ACCOUNS PAEYBDIE ..o $ 38276 $ 12105 $ 50381 $ 19311
AOCrund BOPENMBAS ..ot ptas et sies 24,081 2,074 26,135 7,869
Accrued interest payable ... 9,047 882 9,929 -
Internal bAlBNCES ... s {10,873) 10,873 = -
Due lo component units ... 34886 - 3488 =
Due 1o other governmental agencies ... 4,421 1,804 6,225 3263
Deferred rvenue ... 260,042 120 260,162 1,810
Revenue anlicipation notes payable ... 182,000 - 182,000 -
Other payables: - i i i e - - - -
Other liEbiles .. - - = 6,189
Due lo primary governmant:
Due within One YeRE ..ot - - - 843
Due in more than one year ... - - - 14,286
Long-term abligations:
Due within One Year ... 83,399 11,808 95,005 1,365
Due in more than one year ... 666,505 110,057 776,562 120,571
Total Liabiliies ........ccccvveevereecermsencrnssscsecssens 1,260,264 149,621 1,408,885 175,707
NET ASSETS
Invasted in capilal assets, net of related debt ... 492 841 560,899 1,053,740 191,720
Resliricted for;
D R e e e 108,852 8,383 117,235 .
1T g V[ ynTs e e e e S A o e e 247 - 297 ar.215
Y e R A e B P B P L e (196,6877) 63,657 {133,020) 57 466
Total Net Asgets ..........ccocivccinmmmmrsms s s $ 405313 § 632,839 $1,038,252 $ 286,401

The noles lo the financial stalements are an integral part of this statemenl.




CITY OF MILWAUKEE Exhibit 2
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

{Thousands of Dollars)

Program Revenues
Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and

Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions
Primary governmant:
Govemnmental Activilies:
General government ..., T e $ 180875 3 11.048 3 2086 3
Public saloly o it L sayersabiias 263,852 13,688 14,567
Pub e wWorke: e e e i 155,048 35,382 3.521
1 P 27,036 693 16,314 -
Culture and recrealion ... 19,931 1,808 2418 -
Conservalion and development ... 57,245 590 23,625 -
Capital conlribution to Milwaukes F'ublh:
L S R BT sy LT PO M L PR A 18,002 - -
COMUTONG i i ivisi i sininsaanbts bt art baade 25,485 - 25,187 -
Intarest on long-term debt  .............oiinmnnnins 22,589 - - -
Total Governmental Activities ... 770,143 63,410 B7. 718 -
Business-typa Activilias:
T et ot e e R 58,230 71.903 - 1.850
Sewer Maintanante .............commemmmemmen 26,096 31,072 - -
Batdng=uin el 22,369 38,961 >
Port of MilWauKee ..o i 3,252 4,959 =
Metropolitan Sewerage District
Usar Charges ............. 31,537 31,438 - -
Total Business-type amndhﬂs 141,484 178,331 - 1,850
Total Primary Government .......cvmsmimnnnsnn 8 911,627 § 241,741 $§ 87,718 $ 1,85
Component units:
Housing Authority . e S e g W 83,840 s 17.838 $ 447296 & 17,784
Redevelopment Mﬂ'lﬂﬂt‘y' 6,353 2,354 3,315 -
Milwaukes Economic ﬂmmlnpl!nﬂnt Autl!mrlly 3,879 2,323 250 -
MNelghborhood Improvement Development
COMROTBEN oot R 1,747 441 916 -
Total Component LIRS ..o § 95019 § 22,957 $ 48777 $ 17,784

Ganeral revenuas:
Froperty tepes and othertames ... e v
State aids for General Fund ..........
Grants and contributions not rﬂstr{cta:l tn sp-nctﬁc prn-grams
Miscellaneous .........
Special itern - receipt af Iaans mcahrahle ...............................................
Spacial tem - transfer of loan portfolio to other gwammnnt
Transfers ...........

Total General Rawnuas and Tmsfam
Change In Net BBBEEE ... b s nsans s e s i St s
MNet Assets - Beginning, 85 Restaled  ....cococeovcvvevvecsvsinsses e corsssmms s ssesas

Tha nofes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.




Exhibit 2 (Continued)

Net (Expenses) Revenue and Changes in Net Assets

Primary Government
Governmental  Business-type
Activities Activities Total

$ (167.840) $ (167,840)
(235,397) (235,397)
(116,145) (116,145)
(10.029) (10.029)
(15,705) (15,705)
{33,030} (33,030)
(18,002) (18,002)
(278) (278)
__(22,588) _ (22,589)
(619,015) (619,015)

= $ 15523 15,523

- 4,976 4,976

- 16,592 16,592

= 1,707 1,707
- (101) (101)

- 38,697 38,697

(619,015} 38,897 (580,318)

224918 . 224 818

272,875 - 272,875

Bz.?'ae: 1 460- 54,255:

14,325 . 14,325

33.531. {33,631- )]

628,545 (32,171) 596,374

9,530 6,526 16,056

395,783 626,413 1,022,196

$ 405313 $ 632939 $ 1,038,252

Component

Units

s (3921)
(684)
(1,408)

(390)
(6.401)

-

3,516
{12.&?:;}
_1551
(15,557)
301,958

§ 286,401
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CITY OF MILWALUKEE
BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2005

(Thousands of Dallars)

Exhibit A-1

Assels:
Caeh and cash aqgavalenks: L S e L
e s G R B e SN A N S DA b A
Rwaivubluu {net}:

Unbilled acmunls ........................................................................................................
STl B EBEEAIYITTER o oy o Lo 0 o B i A E A b e
Nl B I il i b e e bt pa e e s e i e e s
BT L= B

Da:fromn otheefunds G i e T S A s e
Diaai fromm compon b Ut e S e R R S e
Due from other govermnmental agnndua .........................................................................
Ardvancas W oter R e e A e e PR AV L R o
Inventony of matenials ant SUPPHEE .o ssssiasmss s e sassasssns assssssanses
Inventory of property TOr MBS i e
Prepald ilams .............

O el ki kit et ol e i A an

Liabilities:
RCCOUTE, BRI i i i e i il e av oAb e i T ST dea e e A LA s
Accrued eXpONBEBE ... R A R s Te e s e R
T e 1y b 1, T e e L e
TR T ey R e e e e S R e e e R
Due 1o other govemmeantal BGENGIAS ... ... it ses ke s ses b fes s n st bedns
Ly e 5Ty 2 B P S
Revenue anticipalion NOtEs PEYADIB ... e e i sessses
AT PN a IOy U TUNEEE o e A A A A B A 08 W A R

Fund Balances:

RESarwad TOr OB BRIV oo ribisns o siss i s e et e e B ndea L e e Ay s
Reserved furda{'inmnitams TRCARABS i e A R s
Reserved for economic development ... s
Reserved for encumbrances, pmpalds BN CHITYOVEIS  oovooveeiieninrimsin s e sensmsress
Reserved for inventory |
Reserved for morigage lruc.t ............................................................................. S
Reserved for environmental remediation ...
Reserved for lax stabilization - 2006 .......... 3
Resarved for tax stabilization - 2007 and wbsuquunt mm budgem ar!d advanm

B ONEE IR o i s e T T e e O T e S e v e
Unreserved:

I s e b B b b b T s B i e P

Special assessment (deficit) ... e — —— S —— rraziies g

The notas to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.

$ 103,583
297

108,403
14,936
478

214
1.546
s
810
1.002
14,673
5,069

§ 285,098

$§ 24031
23,876
509

2

151,453

199,871

16,382
5,095
297
16,328

48,822

85,227
§ 285,098
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Exhibit A-1 (Continued)

General
Obligation
Debt
Service

Public
Debt
Amortization

$ 28,001
45,568

103

o
B3|,

73,69

o

73,892

i

73,69

Capital
Projects

$ 37.508

7,078
3,151

17,500

8,351
2,554
3,013
29,458

14,673
67,840

13.981
274

Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds

$ 13,319

Total

§ 267.200
45\335

167,873
19,604
478
17,500
51,218
1,827
35,727
15,129
196,477
14,673
5,343
26

334

$ 839,484

$ 38278
24,081
24,754

3,486
4,421
318,742
182,000
14,673

610,413

127 580
6,624
1

30,383
5,369
267
303
16,328

45,822

10,497

_ (15,093)
229,071

$ 839,484
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CITY OF MILWAUKEE Exhibit A-2
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET
TO THE STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
DECEMBER 3, 2005
(Thausands of Dollars)

Fund balances - tolal governmenlal funds $ 228.0M

Amounts reported for governmental activilies in the statement of nel
assals (Exhibit A-1) are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are nol financial resources
and therefore are not reported in the funds, Those assels consist of;

Land $ 163,482
Buildings, nelof $84,104 accumulated depreciation 86,200
Infrastruclure, net of $796,783 accumulaled depreciation 501,831
Improvemants Othear than buildings, naet of $6,895 accumulated depreciation 2187
Machinery and equipment, nel of $77,375 accumulated deprecialion 45,341
Construction in progress 4,584
B73,744
Deferred charges for debt issuance costs are not available to pay for curment-
period expenditures and therefore are deferred in the funds. 2,749
Some revenues are defarred in the funds because they are not available to pay
current period's expenditures.
Taxes 1o be collecled after year end 5,839
Special assessments to ba collected after year and 16,382
MNotes and loans receivable to repay long-term bonds and notes 36,679
58,700
Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are
not reported in the funds. Interest on long-term debt Is not accrued In governmental
funds, but rather is recognized as an expenditure when due. All liabilities - both
current and long-term - are reported in the statlemant of net assets,
Accrued interest payable (9.047)
Bonds and Motes Payable (664,285)
Defermed amount on refunding 8,049
Unamortized premiums {(30,328)
Compensated absences (38,501)
Ciaims and judgments (25,665)
Capital laase payable (174)
(758,951)
Total net assets of governmantal activities (Exhibit 1) § 405313

The notes fo the financial statements are an integral part of this reconciliation.




CITY OF MILWAUKEE
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005
{Thousands of Dollars)

Exhibit A-3

Skl A I ] o i e B i b b 1
Licenses Bnd POIIME. it bt siesiadots s s tvisetins s setabs s bt e ot

ItErgovermmEITAl . s
TR L e o D e i 0 o o e B A
Gontﬁmmremmd ......................................................................................

Othear

Expenditures:
Current:

Ganaal government . o s R
=51 | e e P o i
Public works  ......... T P T L PR T LAY E R et S B T IR SR R R
Healh s nnai e A dre e et L e P U e v B B
CLRUED AN TOOBHION. ..ot b b AR s
Consarvation and devealopmBnt ... st st
Capitalootlay, fosniiala il A R R

Debt Service:

P RBE] TORMOETUONN s i s o e e S S R S S RN
Imtere R e e R L B Frrp e
Bond ISaTCo GO i s s AR A s T e

Excass (deficiancy) of Ravenues ovar Expandiluras .........ccmmmeommieenmem s

Other Financing Sources (Uses):

General obligation bonds and notes Issued i

Refunding bonds Issued ...........

PAYMEN 10 1fUNAEA DONG BSEIOW BB .v..eeveee et e

T e M e S e T T

Total Other Flmnﬂng Snurcea anr.l Uaaa ...................................................

Special Item:

Net Change in FUNd BAIANGEE .. ........ccoiviroarimstresmnsesssibesrmsensmattre ressessntins

Fund Balancas = BeginniMD ..o.ocoiciimmmiim s sissmsimssssss st s imsden s iasssssiansns oses
FLN] BalRTCON = I | o.oc:umsammcinomssimms s mninrnesshamsnssn hisssns 48 shasstinks d4nchssrabss sas

The noles to the financial stalements are an integral part of this statement.

Tutal Rn'mrluns ...........................................................................................

General

$135810
3,709

13,374
272875
63,410
5,893
25,187
12,178
532,237

206,055
248,366
89,180
10,656
16,744
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Exhibit A-3 (Continued)

General
Obligation Public
Debt Debt
Service Amuortization
§ 52942 % -
14,695 2,057
1,066 -
5,352 -
__ 5214 _ 5207
79,269 7,354
- 4
81,206
29,593
750 -
111,648 4
(32,280) 7,350
28,112
(30,492)
12,208
31,915 59
(9,064) 8,551
32,680 (8,492)
400 (1,142)
43,807 74,834
$ 44,207 $73,692

§ 12048
4,851
18,243

1,535

37,375

137
138,876

101,801

112,873

1,483

{1,315)
113,041

11,440
(12,278)
3= (6ah)

Nonmajor
Governmental
Funds Total
$ 3.707 $ 205,205
- 20,461
- 4 651
- 13,374
63,222 355,406
- 68,762
- 5,893
- 25,187
8,108 32,333
75,037 731,272
3387 2089 446
14,568 262934
3521 82,701
16,314 26970
2418 18,162
29,312 32,073
- 138,839
- 81,206
- 29,593
- 887
65,520 893 817
5517 1682 545
13,065 126,828
- 28112
- (30,492)
. 13,602
- 71,688
{19,135) (38,0e8)
(5.180) 171,771
14,325 14,325
14,662 2353
12,121 205,520
lzu,m s 229"!}11
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CITY OF MILWALUKEE Exhibit A-4
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES,
EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005
(Thousands of Dollars)

Met change In fund balances - total governmental funds (Exhibit A-3) $ 23551
Amounts reported for govemmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:
Covernmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the statement of
activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and reported
as depreciation expense. This is the amount by which capital cutlay ($75,419) exceedad
depraciation expense ($42,679) in the current period less loss on disposals ($719) 32,021
Motes and loans receivable to repay long-term bonds and notes {2)

Revenues In tha statement of activities that do not provide current financial resources are
reported as deferred revenue In the funds.

Taxes accrued in prior years 5 (748)
Special assessments deferred revenue beginning of the year $14 470 less defered
at end of the year 516,382 192
1,164
The lssuance of long-term debl (e.g., bonds, leases) provides current financial resources to
governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the
current financial resources of governmental funds. Meither transaction, however, has any
effect on net assets. Also, governmental funds report the effect of issuance costs, premiums
and similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts are deferred and amortized
in the statemant of activities. This amount is tha net affect of these differencas in the
treatment of long-term debt and related items.
Debt issued:
Bonds and notes issued (126,828)
Refunding bonds issued (28,112)
lssuance premiums (13,692)
Repayments:
Payment of refunding bonds 30,452
Principal retirement 81,206
Bond issuance costs 1,320
Capital lease current payment 176
Amortization:
|ssuance costs (542)
Premiums 8,823
Deferred amount on refunding (1,378)
(48,436)

Under the modified accrual basis of accounting used in the governmental funds, expenditures
are not recognized for transactions that are not normal paid with expendable available financial
resources. |n the statement of activities, however, which Is presented on the accrual basis,
expenses and liabilities are reported regardless of when financial resources are available. In
addition, interest on long-term dabt is not recognized under the modified accrual basis of
accounting until due, rather as it accrues. The adjustment combines the net changes of the
following balances.

Compensated absences 3.271
Ciaims and judgments (1,488)
Accrued interest on bonds and notes (541)
1,232
Changes in net assats of governmental aclivities (Exhibit 2) § 9,530

The notes lo the financial statemenis are an integral part of this reconciliation.
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CITY OF MILWAUKEE Exhibit B-1
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
ENTERPRISE FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2005
(Thousands of Dollars)
Nonmajor
Water Sewer Enterprise
Works Maintenance  Parking Funds Total
ASSETS
Currenl Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ... 5 28420 5 - 5 22,00 5 - 3 50421
Restricted cash and cash equivalents ..., 621 - - - 621
IVESIMENS s - - - - -
Receivables (net):
- P S et e e S e e - - - 45 45
AGGOUNTE .o csse s sr st ress s ey 10,571 7,163 - 7.248 24,982
Unbilled BCCOUNTE  ...oiiiiesiisiiinssissasmis s ssssmasias 9,471 2,754 - 1,837 14,162
ACCrIod IDErSat: ..o i ran bt n 135 T - - 142
Due fromother funds ..o e 6,559 801 - 2,086 9,456
Inventory of materials and supplies ... 2528 - = o 2526
Propaldlems oo i s 1 = - = 1
Deferred Charges ... - 594 - . 584
Total Cument ASSEIS ... veeeesveersens ceeeeneas 58,669 11,319 22.001 11,326 103,315
Moncurrent assats:
Restricled cash and cash equivalents ... - 7.762 - - 7,782
Capital assets:
Capital assets not being depreciated:
L i i e s i o B e e b 1,542 - B.562 7.908 18,012
Construction in Progress ... 11,525 32,354 2,297 - 46,176
Capital assets being depreciated:
BN - o s e s e T e 22,852 - 49,087 12418 B4 355
I R R e 295,104 311,356 - - 606,460
Improvemants other than buildings ................ - - 5498 19,569 25,067
Machinery and equipment ... 197 870 3247 1,011 4,608 206,736
Fumiture and fumnishings ... - 22 - 48 0
MNonutility propamty ..o 3019 - - - 3019
Accumulated depreciation ... {166,289) (94,248) (25,500 (22,821) (308,956)
Total Noncument ASSelS ........cocererenssnimennens 365,623 260,495 40,955 21,728 688,701
Total Assets ... 424,192 271,814 62,956 33,054 792,018
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CITY OF MILWAUKEE Exhibit B-1 (Continued)
STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
ENTERPRISE FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2005
(Thousands of Dallars)
Nonmajor
Water Sewer Entarprise
Works Maintenance  Parking Funds Total
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities:
Bocounts PaYEBIB .o s b e $ 3,639 § 972 $ 1,052 5 B442 £ 12.105
ACCIIEd GXPINBRT .iivvuiviimrirmatiommisirmisssmnisssmmisiss ; 933 820 404 117 2,074
Accrued interest payable ..o 410 - 187 59 656
Compensated absences ... 1,031 : = . 1,031
Due to other funds . 4,169 8,416 - 7.844 20,429
Due to nllwgc-mmn'mul ugandua ................... B03 1.001 - - 1.804
Defermred revanue ..o - - 45 75 120
General obligation debt payable - curment ... 4,692 2,080 ATT 7.249
Revenue bonds payable - cumment ..........c.ccceee B46 - - - B46
Total Current Liabilities .............. 16,523 11,009 3,768 15,014 46,314
Current Liabilities Payable from Ruslnclnd Aasuls:
Revenue bonds payable ... 2480 - - 2,480
Accrued interest payable ... 228 - 228
Total Current Liabilities Payable from
Restricted Assets ... 2,706 - 2,706
MNoncurment Liabilities:
General obligation debt ... 23,708 - 11,974 3,770 39,450
Revenue bonds payable ... ... b 12,075 58,6532 - . 70,607
Total Nencurrent Liabilities .........cocvcviiiinnns 35781 58,6532 11,974 3,770 110,057
Tolal Liabilities ... AL 52,304 72,247 15,742 18,784 158,077
Net Assets:
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt ... 324,203 191,721 27,494 17,481 560,899
Restricted for Debt Service 621 7,762 - - 8,383
Unrestricted ... i e e 47,064 84 19,720 (3,211) 63,657
Total Net ASSets ... $371,888 $ 199,567 $ 47,214 $ 14,270 $632,939

The notes to the financial stafements are an infegral part of this statement.
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CITY OF MILWALKEE Exhibit B-2
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES N FUND NET ASSETS
: ENTERPRISE FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005
(Thousands of Dollars)
Nonmajor
Water Sewer Entarprise
Weorks Maintenance Parking Funds Total
Operaling Revenues:
Chargas for Services:
T e e s R $ 50133 § - - % - § 59,133
Statutory sewer userfee ..., - - - 29,668 29,868
Sawer maintenance fee ..., - 3,087 - - 31,087
R b L ey R et AR - - 6,742 4,888 11,630
Fire proleclion SBrvice ..o 5810 - - - 5810
Parkingy IeBrS | i b i e b sy e s - - 4,188 4,188
Parking pamile s i R e bt s s et - - 2527 2527
Vehicle towing ..o - - 4,953 4,953
Parking Jorfeflures  L......coimiiimar it siasiaon - - 19,833 19,833
41y | R e e P T e e e 6,476 5 - 1,638 8,119
Total Operating REVENUES .......c.cccoeeeeveeermvrnsnnsenens 71,519 3,072 38,2563 36,394 177,238
Operaling Expenses:
Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District charges - - - 2rAT7 2TATT
EMDO0 BOIVICOB  ....eunsssreiossssssesssesarositetermaiansseinins - 7497 6,494 1,437 15,428
Administrative and general ... 4,953 - - 3 4,984
Bapracttion s s T 12,000 4,198 2218 910 19,324
Transmission and dnslnbu‘mun ..................................... 17,594 - 2 2,789 20,383
Services, supplies and materials ... - 7.525 12,865 817 21,207
Water treatment ..o ninnninininii 12,303 - - - 12,303
WOk DUMDING. i i i b ve i e v e e 7,169 - - - 7,169
Billing &nd collaCtion  .......eismssmssmssmsssmsaisasssassssres 2,266 - 1,416 3,682
Total Operaling EXPENSES .....covenmimmmmmsmsninim 56,285 19,220 21,575 34,577 131,657
Operating Income (LOSS) ..coivviiivimsimmssssmmmssisssion 15,234 11,852 16,678 1,817 45,581
Nonoparating Revenues {Eupmm}
Investment income .......... 1,142 218 - - 1,460
Interast expense ............. (1,945) (2,562) (794) (212) (5,513)
Gain (loss) on dlspnsalnfﬁmd assats. - - 5565 1 556
T e e 384 [4,314) 153 - (3,777)
Total Monoperating Revenues (Expenses) ... (419) (6,558) (BB) 211 (7,274)
Income (Loss) before Contributions and Transfers.. 14,8156 5,294 16,582 1,606 38,307
Capital contiBUtDNE ..........coooieevrere e i 1,850 - - 1,850
Transfera B ool il - - - 729 729
TR LI v mmmnon s i i i n s wp i sas sma A K (7,668) {7,000) (16,782) {2,910) (34,360)
Change in Net Assets 8,997 (1,706) (190) (575) 6,526
Total Net Assets - Beginning ..o, 362,801 201,273 47,404 14 845 626,413
Total Net Assets - Ending ...... $371,888 $199,567 $ 47,214 $14270 § 632939

The notes to the financial slatements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF MILWALIKEE Exhibit B-3
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
ENTERPRISE FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005
{Thousands of Dolfars)
Nonmajor
Water Sewar Enterprizse
Works Maintenance Parking Funds Total
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Recsipts from customers and users ... $ 71,419 § 3"}?'39 § 38,186 $35923 §$176,258
Cash receipls from other funds ..o 2442 - - 2442
Other oparating cash recaipls ... 5 - - 5
Payments 10 SUPPIIBrS ... {20.323} (9,351) (13.919) (31,595) (75.188)
Payments to employees ... (21,864) (7.418) (6.448)  (1.418) (37,147)
Payments from other funds ... - BA6 - (278) 8,140
Payments to other Funds ... (3,723) - - TE4 (2,959)
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities._............. 27,951 22 382 17,818 3,400 71,661
CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Miscallanasous nonoparating revenue ... 384 - - - B4
Other nonoperating BXPENSAE ... - {11,314) - - {11,314)
Transfers 1o othar fUnds  .........ocorerrmereesesssrsssmsssessssmmrmeresns (7.668) (16,782) (2,910) (27,360)
Met Cash Used for Noncapital Financing
ol LT s e R e bR S 7.284 {11.314) {16,782) {2,688) (38,068)
CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Capital contributions ............. - . . 537 537
Proceeds from sale of bonds and nutes ....................... - - 1,110 200 1,310
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment ..., i (15,258)  (19,089) (T60) (725) (35,832)
Retirement of bonds, notes and revenue bonds  ........... (5,676) (2,380) (3,767) (5086) (12,339)
Interest paid . (1,984) (2,782) (798) (219) {5.741)
e R e - - 1,086 - 1,086
Net Cash Used for Capital and
Related Financing Activittes ..........cccceeceevevennee. (22,888) {24,241) {3,127) (713) (50,979)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
BRI IMVCOITION s isiisiirnvssisabsirabssmssissedpbssiiivssainssiss 1,076 325 - - 1,401
Mel Increase [Dﬂﬁ'em} in Cash and Cash
ORI e e s (1.155)  (12,848) (2,001) {1 (16.095)
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning ..........ccocuiinnens 30,196 20,610 24,082 1 74,899
c"h ‘nﬁ c“h qu.lhl"lhlﬂ' 'Eﬂdiﬂﬁ TR T T LT PR TR T ET e : ﬂ,ﬂ“ ‘ TpTu " ﬂ1m1 ‘ = 3 ﬂ.m
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CITY OF MILWAUKEE Exhibit B-3 (Continued)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
ENTERPRISE FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005
{Thousands of Dolfars)
Nonmajor
Water Sawer Enterprisa
Werks Maintenance Parking Funds Total
Cash and Cash Equivalants at Year End Consist of:
Unrestricted Caah. ... s $ 28420 $ - §$201 § - § 50421
RSt R st s R s e b T 621 7.762 - - 8,383

$290417 $ 7762 522000 3% - § 58,804

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO NET
CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Operating iNCoOme (I88) ..........ccoimmemieriiiminrmmessiomssnrenes $15234 S 11852 $ 16678 $ 1817 § 45581
Adjusiments lo reconcile operaling income (loss) to nel
cash provided by (used for) operating activilies:

Depreciation ............. L s et R s s e 12,000 4,198 2,216 910 19,324

Changes in assels and liabilities:
ROCOWBHING  1ivcaivi i AW e (307) (518) - (424) (1,249)
Dues fromotherfunds ... 2,442 181 - (1,258) 1,364
IIIVEIYRONION . e viebie sk e bormsd dmase b o S s e P T * = - 71
Prepaid H8mMS ...........c..coivrmi N 2 - ] - 2
e mamnll R s e s e (19) - - - (19)
ACCOUNIS PAYBDIB ....ovovirvusscssssiossssmsssssimsssssisssise (1.481)  (1,828) (1,054) 635 (3.726)
ACCTUD NADIIHIOS  ..\.siprsireivimirrmsimmminimnssssisssbing 9 79 45 21 154
Due o other governmental agencies ... - - - - -
Dua 10 other TUNGS ..o i sissasers - 8418 - 1,748 10,164
Daformed MVenlB .......usssmssemsmmmsamsisssse - - {B7) {48) (115)

Net Cash Provided by Operaling Activities ..., 5 27,961 8 22382 § 17818 § 3400 § 71,551

Non-cash Activilies:
During the year, the city disposed of parking assets of $377 thousand nsl book valus.
During the year, water mains and related property, installed by others were deeded to the Water Works
in the amount of $1.850 million,
During the year, the Sewer Maintenance Fund donated or disposed of fixed assets with a net value of $155 thousand.

The notes lo the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF MILWAUKEE Exhibit C-1
STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS
FIDUCIARY FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2005
(Thousands of Dolfars)
Pension
and Other
Employesa Privata-
Banefit Purpose Agency
Trusts Trusis Funds
ASSETS
Cash and cash aquhalanl:s ............................. $ 200 $2.451 $ 270,107
Total ARRRDE - [ e e e 200 EIEB1 270107
LIABILITIES
Liabilities:
Accounts P&Yﬂhl& AhaREEARRARAIR 33 3 1.91?
Due to nﬂmrgwanmrtalmndas ,,,,,,,,,,,, - - 268,190
Total Liabllities ......cccccceemrrmmmmsiinecneenseesinns 33 3 i!'ﬂlﬂﬂ?
Net Assets
Employees' pension benefils

The nofes to the financial siatements are an infegral part of this statement.
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CITY OF MILWAUKEE

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET ASSETS

FIDUCIARY FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

(Thousands of Dollars)

Exhibit C-2

Additions
Contributions:
PIEN TIBIMIDOIE  L.uooeinsmsissmmisnsmnismenisssssnttssssssss s psssass s segsss sasuessas
Private donations ...
Total CONPABUIONS  ...oocvereiresimesneinerssrmsmsrmssssssmssmssmssssensmsssen
Imvestmant earnings:

Met (depreciation) appreciation in
fair value of invesiments, dividends and interest .................

Deductions
Benefits ... ey P Bty vty P p et gk T

Change In Net ASSats ........ccceveeccee s s s s es s sens e

Net Assets - Beginning, as Restated ...

The notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this staterment.

Pension
and Other
Employeasa
Banafit
Trusts
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CITY OF MILWAUKEE

COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS

COMPONENT UNITS
DECEMEER 31, 2008

(Thousands of Dollars)

Exhibit D-1

Current Assals:
Cash and cash equivalents ...........cccccmmmnren
Recelvables (net):
OO
Moles and I0BNA " ..........ccceemmcenmmimns smssssmsnsens
Dua from mmaryrgnumrmnl .......................
Due from other govemmental agencies .........
Inventory of property for resale ...
Propaid Bems .o .

Total Noncapital ASSelS ...

Capital assats:
Capilal assets not being ﬁapnwatnd
Land and land improvemants ..o
Capilal asseats being dapmniatad
Buildings ..........
Improvemeants nthar thun bulldlnga. ..........
Machinery and equipment
Accumulated depreciation

Total Capital Assets, Net of Dapreciation

Tolal ABSels - ...........ciniiiniiiio.

Milwaukee HNeighborhood
Economic |mprovement
Housing Redevelopment Development Development

Authority Authority Corporation Corporation Total
§ 25831 § 49,381 § 10822 § 1,905 § 8703
2,028 - 952 300 3,320
1,260 858 2 198 2318
12,061 14,502 38619 631 65,813
1,127 AN 238 89 1,486
829 2,517 = 140 3,486
4,193 1,699 200 809 6,901
883 1.1 1,467 1.434 15,075
1,488 a3 E . 1,531

. 862 - . 962

834 - S08 2 1,342
50,644 81,174 52,847 5,508 180,173
45;30’5 9.1“‘? - - 5’51?13
33,665 39,313 - - 72 568
318,576 17,651 - - a3r 227
258 = - - 258
3,792 - 113 4 3,809
{197,105) (951) (81) (4) (198,141)
208,783 65,120 32 - 271,935
257 427 146,204 52,879 5,508 462 108
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CITY OF MILWAUKEE
COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS
COMPONENT UNITS
DECEMBER 31, 2005
(Thousands of Dollars)

Exhibit D-1 (Continued)

Milwaukes
Economic
Housing Redevelopment Development
Authority Authority Corporation

LIABILITIES

Current Liablitias:
Accounts payable ... 3 8418 $ 10,298 5 309
ACCTUBH BXPBNBEE ..ovreiiiriiensinsssissssasssssasrsne 3,545 4,424 -
Due lo other govemmeantal agencias ... - 2,773 4930
Othar BablMIBE ........c.commininsinsmsns smssinsasnmnmsein 1,469 2,853 54T

Nelighborhood
Improvemant
Development

Corporation

281

Total

§ 19311
7,969
3,263
1,810
6,189

Total Current LIabiities ... 13,432 22168 1346

Dus (o primary governmant:
Disa within one Yaar ......ninam 718 21 10
Due in mora than one YBar ..o - 11,885 2,601

2 kg, .

I -y

[ f

__ 38642

B43
14,286

Total Due to Primary Government ... 718 11,706 2611

£

15,129

Long-term obligations:
Due within ONB YBAF ... 795 570 -
Due in more than one Year ...........c.o..ee. 27,890 92,581 -

1,365
120,571

Total Moncument Liabllities ........coonveen 28,785 83,161 -

121,036

Total LIBDHIIBE: .........c.ccocovravensiomnrssnrinn 42,935 127,025 3957

NET ASSETS:
invested in capiial assets, net of relaled debt .. 182,306 9,382 32

Restricted ... 27,968 1,521 6,830
L T s 4218 8380 41,960

Total Net Assets ... 5214,482 $ 19,269 £ 48022

2,978

5 378

175,707

181,720
37,215
57466

§ 288 401

The notes fo the financial statements are an integral part of this statement.
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CITY OF MILWAUKEE Exhibit D-2
COMBINING STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
COMPONENT UNITS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

(Thousands of Dollars)

Pragram Revenues

Opearating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and

Expenses Sarvicas Contributions Contributions

Housing Authority

Low Income housing  ........ccccoeevnvicecennsrinrsnene. 9 83,840 £ 17,838 £ 44 296 % 17,784
Redevelopment Authority

Prevantion and alimination of biight ... .. 6,353 2364 3,316 -
Milwaukee Economic Development Corporation

Increase employment & expansion of business ... 3,879 2323 250 -
Neighborhood Imwwnmmt Dw-lupmnnt Eul'p

Housing improvements . 1,747 441 816 -

Total Component Unls .......ccccovemcmnsinssmssnssnssnsans $ 85818 § 22857 $ 48,777 $ 17,784

General revenues:
IHSCBIBNBOUE it ieisssims s e sssee i e e s s e an e st s

Special item - transfer of loan portfolio to other govemment ..........
Total General Revenues and Speclal Bem ........cocevveervveereerves

Chanpe b Ml Amambs i b s sia i
Mel Assets - Beginning, as Restated....................ccccoiicninninn,

The notes to the financial statemsents are an integral part of this statement.
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Exhibit D-2 (Continued)

Net (Expense) Revenue
and Changes in Net Assets

Housing
Authority

§ (3.921)

1,178

(2,742)
217,234

$214,492

Milwaukea  MNelghborhood
Economic Improvemeant
Redevelopment Development Development

Authority Corporation Corporation Total
$ . $ - $ - $ (3.921)
(684) - - (684)
(1,408) - (1,408)
: (380) (380)
(684) 1,406 (390) (6.401)
1.5 Te1 45 3.518
. . (12,672) (12,672)
1.531 761 (12,627) (9.156)
B47 (645) (13.017) {15,557)
18,422 49,567 16,735 301,958
$ 19,269 5 48,922 $ 3718 $286,401
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CITY OF MILWAUKEE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accompanying basic financial statements have been prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles as prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The following is a summary of the
significant accounting policies.

A. Reporting Entity

Tha City of Milwaukee (the “City") was incorporated on January 31, 1846, and operates under a Council-Mayor form of
government. Thase financial stalemenis present the Cily (the primary government) and other organizations, including
component units, for which the nature and significance of their relalionship with the primary government are such that their
exclusion would cause the reporting entity’s financial staterments to be misleading or incomplete. The component units
discussed below are legally separate organizations for which the elected officials of the City are accountable. The City is
considerad financially accountable if it appeoints a voling majority ef Ihe organizalion’s governing bedy and is able lo impose ils
will on the organization, or there is a polential for the organization o provide specific financial benefits to or burdens on the
City. The City may be financially accountable if an organization is fiscally dependant on the primary governmant.

Discrately Presented Component Units

The component units columns in the govermment-wide financial statements includes the financial data of the City's component
units. They are reported in a separate column to emphasize that they are legally separale from the City. The City has the
following discretely presented component units:

Housing Authority - This antity is used to account for the Federal and State grants relating primarily to low-income housing
and rental assistance programs. The entire goveming board is appointad by the Mayor of the City. The dally operations of
the Housing Authority of the City of Milwaukee (HACM) are managed by City employees.

Redevelopment Authoniy - The Redevelopment Authority of the City of Milwaukee (RACM) is responsible for activiies
ralated to the prevention and slimination of blighted conditions in the City. The City appoints all members of the Board and
approves the budget,

Milwaukes Economic Developmen! Corporation - The Miwaukee Economic Development Corporation (MEDC) is a
nonprofit organization formed to promole economic development within the City. The principal objective of the corporation
Is to benafit the community by fostering Increased employment through expansion of business and industry within tha
metropolitan Milwaukee area. MEDC's primary source of funds is interest on loans originally granted through the City.

Naighborhood Improvemeant Development Corporation - The Neighborhood Improvement Development Corparation (MIDC)
is @ nonprofit organization established to promote reinvestment in both housing and commercial structures within the City.
NIDC programs encourage private landing institutions and property owners to make improvements to the community's
homes and businesses. Corporate officers of NIDC are provided by the City and daily operations are managed by City
employees,

Financial statements of the individual component units can be obtained from their respective administrative offices.
Addresses of the component units are as follows: HACM, B0S North Broadway, 3™ Floor, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202;
RACM, 809 North Broadway, 2™ Floor, Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202, MEDC, 809 North Broadway, 2™ Floor, Milwaukee,
Wisconsin 53202; NIDC, 841 North Broadway, Room 105, Milwaukee, Wisconsin  53202.

The basic financial statements exclude the accounts of the Wisconsin Center District, Milwaukee Public Schools, the
Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District, World Festivals Inc. ("Summerfest”) and the Employes' Relirement System of the
City of Milwaukee, because these enlilies operate with separate goveming boards and do not meel the criteria established by
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement 14 as component units of the City. The Miwaukee
Metropolitan Sewerage District (MMSD) is a special purpose municipal corporafion created to provide sewsrage treatment
services in the Miwaukee metropolitan area. The City Is responsible for paying usage charges within its jurisdiction. These
amounts, in turn, are billed by the City to its water customers. The City has no equity interest in MMSD. Financial slatements
for MMSD can be oblained from its administrative office.
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CITY OF MILWALUKEE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

B. Basls of Presentation

Governmenl-wide Statements. The government-wide stalement of net assets and statement of activities report the overall
financlal activity of the City, excluding fiduciary activities. Eliminations have been made to minimize the double-counting of
internal activities of the City. These statements distinguish between the governmental and business-lype activities of the City.
Governmental activities generally are financed through taxes, intergovemmental revenues, and other nonexchange
transactions. Business-type activities are financed in whole or in part by fees charged to external parties.

Tha statemant of activities presents a comparison batween direct expenses and program revenues for the different business-
type activities of the City and for each function of the City’s governmental activities. Direct expenses are those that are clearly
identifiable with a specific function. Program revenues include (a) fines, fees and charges paid by the recipients of goods or
services offered by the programs and (b) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeling the operalional or capital
requirements of a particular program. Rewvenues that are not classified as program revenues, including all taxes, are
presanted as general revenues.

Fund Financial Statements. The fund financial stalements provide information about the City's funds, including fiduciary
funds. Separate statements for each fund category—governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary are presented. The emphasis
on fund financial statements Is on major govemmental and enterprise funds, each displayed In a separate column. All
remaining governmental and enterprise funds are aggregated and reported as nonmajor funds,

Proprigtary fund operating revenuas, such as charges for services, result from exchange transactions associated with the
principal activity of the fund. Exchange transaclions are those in which each party receives and gives up essentially equal
valuas. Monopearating revenuas, such as subsidies and investment eamings, result from nonexchange transactions or ancillary
activiies.

The City reports the following major governmental funds:

General Fund - The General Fund |5 used to account for all financial resources, except those required to be accounted for
in another fund.

General Obligation Dabt — This fund accounts for the resources accumulated and paymants made for principal and
interest on the City's culstanding long-term general obligation debt.

Public Debt Amortization — This fund accounts for one-third of all interest on general City investments and interest on
Fund investments lor the relirement of debl. The Public Debl Amortization Fund is governed by Section 67.101 of the
Wisconsin Statutes for the ratiremeant of the public debt. See Note 7 for further discussion.

Capital Projects Fund — The Capital Projects Fund is used to account for the financial resources segregated for the
acquisilion or construction of major capilal expendilures other than those financed by proprietary funds.

The City reports the following major enterprise funds:

Water Works - All activities necessary to provide water services (o residents of the City and outlying areas. Fund activilies
include administration, billing and collection, operations, maintenance and financing.

Sewer Maintenance — This fund accounts for the maintenance of the City's sewer system. Wisconsin State Statutes
Section 66.076, parmit municipalities to implemant sewer feas to recovar the costs of operation, maintananca, rapair, and
depreciation of sewer collection and transportation facilities. Sewer maintenance costs are recovered through a user fee
rather than through the property tax.

Parking = This fund accounts for revenues derived from parking meters, parking permits, rentals and leasing of parking
faciliies and other revenues aftributable io parking. The revenues are used (o defray administrative and operational costs
related to parking operations, and to acquire, landscape and construct parking lots and structures,




CITY OF MILWAUKEE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

Additionally, the City reports the following fiduciary fund types:

Pension and Other Employee Benefit Trusts - This fund accounts for resources for employee flexible spending
plans. As of 2005 the Deferred Compensation plan is no longer reported, The City reevaluated its responsibility
and has determined thal the fiduciary accountability and trustee responsibiliies are with the lrustee, financial
advisor, and third-party administrator.

Private Purpose Trust — These funds account for resources legally held in trust for use by various individuals,
governmental entities, and nonpublic corporations. Al resources of these funds, including any samings on invested
resources, may be used to support each trust's initiatives.

Agency — Thesa funds account for taxes and deposits collected by the City, acting in the capacity of an agent, for
distribution to other govemmental units or designated beneficiarias,

C. Basis of Accounting

The govemment-wide, proprietary, and fiduciary fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources
measurament focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earnad and expanses are recorded at
the time liabllities are incurred, regardiess of when the related cash flow takes place. Non-exchange transactions, in which the
City receives value without direclly giving equal value in return, include properly tax revenue, grants, and other coniributions.
On an accrual basis, revenua from property taxas is recognized in the pariod for which the levy is intended to finance, which is
the year after the taxes are levied. Taxes levied in 2005 that will be collected in 2006 are recorded as receivable and defered
revenue. Deferred revenue arises when assets are recognized before revenue recognition criteria have been satisfied.
Revenue from grants and other contributions are recognized in the year in which all eligibility requirements have been salisfied.
Eligibility requirements include timing requirements, which specify the year when the resources are required to be used or the
fiscal year when usa is first parmitted; matching requirements, in which the City must provide local resources to be used for a
specified purpose; and expenditure requirements, in which the resources are provided to the City on a reimbursement basis,

Governmental funds are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of
accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be
available when thay are collectible within tha curment period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the cument period.
For this purpose, the City considers revenues, excluding property taxes, 1o be available if they are collected within 90 days of
the end of the current year. Properly taxes are considerad to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the
current year. Expenditures generally are recorded when the liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However,
principal and interest on general long-term debt, claims and judgments, and compensated absences are recorded only when
payment is due. General capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds. Proceeds of general
long-term debl and acquisitions under capital leases are reporied as other financing sources.

Significant revenue sources, which are susceptible to accrual Include property taxes, state shared revenues, grants,
contributions, and interesl. All other revenue sources including licenses, permits, fines and forfeits are considerad to be
measurable and available only when cash is received.

Private-sactor standards of accounting and financial reporting issued prior to December 1, 1989 are followed in both the
government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements to the extent that those standards do not conflict with or contradict
guidance of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. The City also has the option of following subsequent private-
sactor guidance for their business-type activities and anterprise funds, subject to this same limitation. The City has elected not
to follow subsequent privale-sector guidance.

D. Cash and Cash Equivalents

For purposes of the statements of cash flows, all highly liguid investments (including restricted cash and invesiments)
purchased with a maturity of three months or lass are considered to be cash equivalents. The City manages a cash and
investment pool to maximize return on funds while providing liquidity to meet day to day obligations. Each fund's equity in the
City's investment pool is considered lo be a cash equivalent, since the funds can deposit or effectively withdraw cash at
anytime without prior notice or penalty. The Housing Authority considers amounts on deposit with fiscal agents to be
investments and not cash equivalents dua to their restrictive nature.




CITY OF MILWALUKEE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

E. Investments

Investments, primarily consisting of fived income secunties, are reported at fair value based on quoted market prices.
Commercial paper, which is short-term, defined as having an original maturity of ona year or less, and highly liquid is carried at
amortized cosl. Investmentl transactions are recorded on the trade date. Under Wisconsin Statutes, one-third of all interest on
pooled cash and investments is allocated to the Public Debt Amortization Fund. The remaining two-thirds is credited to the
General Fund. Each fund type's portion of pooled cash and investmants is included in the cash and cash equivalents line on
the Statement of Net Assets/Balance Sheet.

Wisconsin Statutes permil the City to invest funds not immediately needed in any of the following:

Time deposits maturing within three years in any credit union, bank, savings bank, trust company or savings and loan
association which are authorized to transact business in the State of Wisconsin.

Bonds or securities issued or guaranteed by the Federal government.

Bonds or securities of any county, city, drainage district, technical college district, village, town or school district of the
State of Wisconsin, as well as bonds issued by a local exposition district, a local professional baseball park district, or the
Univarsity of Wisconsin Hospitals and Clinics Authority.

Local Government Investment Pool - Investment Fund of the State of Wisconsin. The Local Government Pooled —
Investment Fund is an external investment pool administerad by the State of Wisconsin. The fair value of the City's
investmant in the fund is the same as the value of the pooled shares, Although not subject to direct regulatory oversight,
the fund is administered in accordance with the provisions of Section 25.50 of the Wisconsin Statutes.

Repurchase agreements with public depasitories, if the agreement is secured by federal bonds or securities.

' Any Security which matures or which may be tendered for purchase at the option of the holder within not more than seven
years of the date on which it is acquired, if that security has a raling which is the highest or second highest rating category
assigned by Standard & Poor’'s Corporation, Moody's Investors Service, Inc. or other similar nationally recognized rating
agency or if that security is senior to, or on a parity with, 8 security of the same issuer which has such a rating.

Securities of open-end management investment companies or investment trusts (mutual funds) if the porifolio is limited to
{a) bonds and securities issued by the federal govermment or a commission, board or other instrumentality of the federal
government, (b) bonds that are guaranteed as to principal and interest by the federal govemment or a commission, board
or octher instrumentality of the federal govemment, and (c) repurchase agresments that are fully collateralized by thesae
bonds or securities.

F. Property Taxes

Property taxes are recorded as receivables and deferred revenues in the taxing fund in the year levied because the taxes are
restricted to funding the succeeding year's budget appropriations. Property tax payments received pricr o year-end are also
reflected in the taxing fund, Properly taxes are recognized in the appropriate funds as revenues in the succeeding year when
they are collected and available to finance Cily services. If not collected al year-end, the delinquent property taxes are
reflected as receivables and deferred revenues. Delinquent property taxes and related interest are recognized as revenues
when collected.

The allowance for uncollectible proparty taxes is based on an analysis of the delinquent property taxes and, in management's
judgment, represents an amount adeguate to provide for potential uncollectible taxes. The allowance is increased by
provisions charged against revenues and is reduced by taxes recaivable written off,

The City, through its Special Revenue Fund - Delinguent Tax, issues general obligation short-term promissory notes to finance
the purchasa of the most recent delinquent taxes from its General Fund. Collections on thesa delinquancies are usad for the
associated debt service requiremeants.




CITY OF MILWAUKEE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

G. Accounts Recelvable

Accounts receivables are presented net of allowances. The amount of the General Fund allowance as of Dacember 31, 2005
is $2,679,000,

H. Unbllled Services

Unbllled water and sewer services at year end are recognized as revenues and recelvables in the accompanying financial
statements,

I Speclal Assessments

Special assessments consist of capital projects constructed through non-special assessment debt. In governmental fund
financial statements, special assessments are recorded as receivables and deferred réevenues when the related capital outlays
are made and are recorded as revenues when due and payable. In the government-wide financial statemants, special
assessmeants are recorded as receivables and capital contribution revenue when the capital outlays are made. Al special
assessments are due when billed and may be pald on an installment basis with interest. Special assessment recelvables that
become delinquent are added to the general tax roll. The method of enforcing collections is the same as for general city taxes
with like force and effect.

Jd. Motes and Loan Recelvables

The General Fund, the Special Revenus Fund - Community Development Block Grant, and Meighborhood Improvement
Development Corporation hold notes and loans receivable from individuals, small businesses and corporations in the
Milwaukee area that are secured by primary or secondary security interests in real estate or other assets. The City periodically
analyzes the colleclibility of the noles and loans that are not insured and provides allowances as congidered necessary, The
amount of the allowance in the nonmajor govemmental fund is $11,533,000 as of December 31, 2005.

The City creales tax incremental districts (TID) to issue debt to fund redevelopment projects. Pursuant lo a cooperation
agreement baetween the City, the Redevelopment Authority of the City of Milwaukee (Authority), and the Milwaukee Economic
Development Corporation (Corporation), the City provides the Authority and the Corporation with the funds necessary to camy
out the loan to a private developer to finance the redevelopment projects. Loan repayments to the Authority and the
Corporation from the private developer, including interest income as well as olher project income, are transferred to the City
until the City's loan has been repaid or the TID expires. The City reflects these loans as notes receivable and deferred
revenue in governmental fund financial statements based on an amount estimated to be repaid from the Authority and the
Corporation,

K. Inventories

Inventories of malerials and supplies are staled al moving average cosl, based upon perpelual recordkeeping systems and
periodic cycle counts of quantiies on hand. Inventories of governmental funds are recorded as expenditures when consumed
rather than when purchased. Inventories in governmental funds are resenved for in fund balance, because inventores are not
expendable available financial resources.

L. Prepaid tems

Cash payments benefiting fulure periods have been recorded as prepaid items. They will be reflected as expenditures or
expenses when incurred in the subsequent year. Prepaid items in govermnmental funds are reserved for in fund balance,
because prepalds are not expendable available financial resources.

M. Capital Assets

Capital assets, which includes property, plant, and equipment, and infrastructure, are reported at cost or estimated historical
cosl. Conlribuled assets are reporled al estimated fair value al the lime received, General infrastructure assets, such as
roads, bridges, curbs, gutters, streets, sidewalks and drainage and lighting systems, acquired prior to January 1, 2002 are
reported at estimatad historical cost using deflated replacement cost. Capital assels are depreciated using tha straight-line
meathod, The cost of normal maintenanca and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or malerially extend asset's
lives are not capitalized.




CITY OF MILWALUKEE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

Major capital outlays for capital assets of business-type activities are included as part of the capitalized value of the assets
constructed. Interest expenses incurred during construction were not capitalized as part of the additions to capital assets.

Capitalization thresholds and the estimated useful lives for the City and component units are as follows:

Capitalization | Estimated
Capital Assel Calegory Thrashold Useaful Lifa
Infrastructurs § 5000| 5-50years
Land 5,000 MiA
Land Improvemants 5,000 NfA
Site Improvements 5,000 3-50
Buildings 5,000 10-60
Building Improvements 5,000 10-45
Machinery and eguipment 5,000 3-25
Warks of Art, Historical Treasuras 5,000 NIA

N. Pansion Contributions

The employer's share of the annual contribution is recorded in the proprietary funds and government-wide financial statements
as an expense when the liability is incurred and in the governmental funds as an expenditure when the liabliity is llquidated with
expendable available financial resources.

0. Compansated Absancas

The liability for compensated absences reported in the government-wide, proprietary and fiduciary fund financial statements
consists of unpaid, accumulated vacation and sick leave balances. The liability has been calculated using the vesting method,
in which lsave amounts for both employeas who currently ara eligible to receive termination payments and other employeas
who are expected to become eligible in the future to receive such payments upon termination are included. The liability has
been calculated based on the employees’ currenl salary level and include salary related cosls (e.g. social security and
Medicare tax). A liability for these amounis is reported in governmental funds only if they have matured, for example, as a
result of employee resignalions and retiremeants.

City employees accrue sick leave in accordance with labor agreements or Section 350-37 of the Code of Ordinances.
P. Claims and Judgmeants

The liability for claims and judgments Is reported In the govemment-wide, proprietary and fiduciary fund financial statements
when they are bath probable and estimable. A liability for claims and judgments is reported in governmental funds only if they
have matured (i.e. are due). The City accrues environmental remediation obligations when related liabilities are probable and
reasonably estimable. These accruals generally are recognized no later than completion of a remedial feasibility study and are
adjusted as further information develops or circumstances change. Costs of future expenditures for environmental remediation
obligations are not discounted ta their present value.

Q. Bond Premiums, Discounts, and Issuance Costs

In the government-wide and proprietary fund financial staterments, bond premiums and discounts, as well as issuance costs
are deferred and amortized over the life of the bonds using the effective interest method. Bonds payable are reporied net of
the applicable bond premium or discount. Bond Issuance costs are reported as deferred charges and amortized over the term
of the related debt.

In the fund financial statements, governmeantal fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as bond issuance
costs, during the curment perod. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources. Premiums on debt
issuance ara reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses,
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Issuance costs, whether or not withheld frem the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as dabt service expenditures,
The City records bond premiums for governmental fund types in the General Obligation Debl Service Fund.

R. Advance Refundings of Debt

In the government-wide and proprietary fund financial slatements, gains and losses from advance refundings of debt resulling
in defeasance are deferred and amortized as a component of interest expense over the shorter of the remaining life of the old
debt or the life of the new debt using the effective interest method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable defemed
amount.

S. Fund Balances

In the fund financial statemants, govemmental funds report reservations of fund balance for amounts that are not available for
appropriation or are legally restricted by outside parties for specific purposes.

T. Net Assets
In the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements, equity is displayed in three components as follows:

Invested In Capital Assets, Net of Related Debt — This consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, less
the outstanding balances of any bonds, mortgages, notes, or other bormowings that are atitributable to the acquisition,
construction, or improvement of those assets.

Restricted — This consists of net assets that are legally restricted by outside parties or by law through constitutional
provisions or enabling legislation. When bolh restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, generally it is the
City’s policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted resources when they are needed.

Unrestricted — This consists of net assats that do not meet the definition of "restricted” or “invested in capital assets, net of
related debt.”

L. Interfund Transactions
The City has the fallowing types of interfund transactions:

Loans - amounts provided with a requirement for repayment. Interfund loans are reporled as interfund receivables (i.e.
due from ather funds) in lender funds and interfund payables (i.e. due to other funds) in borrower funds. The noncurrent
portions of long-term interfund loans receivable are reported as advances.

Servicas provided and used - sales and purchases of goods and services between funds for a price approximating their
extemnal exchange value. Interfund services provided and used are reported as revenues in seller funds and expenditures
or expenses in purchaser funds. Unpaid amounts are reported as interfund receivables and payables in the fund balance
sheats or fund statements of nel assets,

Reimbursements - repayments from the funds responsible for paricular expendilures or expenses to the funds that
initially paid for them. Reimbursement is reported as expenditures in the reimbursing fund and as a reduction of
expenditures in the reimbursed fund.

Transfars - flows of assels (such as cash or goods) without equivalent flows of assats in return, including paymants in lisu
of taxes, and without a requirement for repayment. In governmental funds, transfers are reported as other financing uses
in the funds making transfers and as other financing sources in the funds receiving transfers. In proprietary funds,
iransfers are reporied after nonoperating revenues and expenses,

V. Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. ganerally accepted accounting principles requires managament
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of asseis and liabilities and disclosure of contingant
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.




CITY OF MILWALUKEE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

W. Naw Accounting Pronouncemants

The City implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 40, Deposit and Invesiment Risk
Disclosures — an amendment of GASB Statement No. 3 during the year ended December 31, 2005. This statement revised
the deposit and investment risks disclosed in the notes to the finencial statements.

The City implemented GASB Statemeant No. 42, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Impairmeant of Capifal Assats and for
Insurance Recoveries during the year ended December 31, 2005. This statement eslablishes accounting and financial
reporting standands for impairment of capital assets. No changes were made to the reported value of capital assets based on
the City's implementation of this pronouncement.

In June 2004, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued Statement No. 45, Financial Reporting by
Employers for Postemployment Banefits Other Than Pensions. This statemaent will establish uniform financial reporting
standards for other post employment benefits. The City will implement Statement No. 45 beginning with the year ending
December 31, 2007,

In December, 2004, the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) issued Statement No. 46, Net Assels Restricled
by Enabling Legisiation. This statement establishes and modifies accounting requirements for net assels restricled by
legislation. The City will implement Statement No. 46 beginning with the year ending December 31, 2006
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2. Deposits and Investments

A, Primary Government

The description of the city's deposit and investment policy is discussed in Note 1 D and E.
As of December 31, 2005, the City's deposits and investments are as follows:

Investment Maturities: (in Years)
(Thousands of Dallars)
Fair Less More Credit
Value than 1 15 610 Than 10 Rating
Governmental and Business-type activities:
Investment fype
Fooled Deposits and Investments ... 5 217.883 § 182382 § 35501 1 . 5 588 balow
Segregated Deposits and Investments
Interest Chacking .......ccmwmmmmnmmim. 23,308 23,208 - - - not rated
Wisconsin Local Emmmmunl
Investment Pool ..o 77,348 77.348 . - - not rated
ULS. TroBBUIeE .iiiiniiiomismiorassbsnsinssinn 20,246 8,480 8,481 arr 368 AAA
Treasurigs (Fiscal .kgunt} ..................... : 2,606 2,608 . - < AAR
Municipal Bonds and Notes  ................... 25,342 600 3,645 T34 13,756 AA
U.5. Agency Securities
Federal National Morigage Association 5,156 5. 156 - = & AARA
§ 371,889 $ 300,880 § 48837 § B8 § 14,154
Fiduciary activities:
Imvestmont type
Investmants in the Fool ... § 272,266 § 272266 5 - $ - 3 - s6a bélow
Oty DOpORIIE | oo isssssisiona s aassssanians a3 33 . . - not rated
Segregated Deposits and Investments
Wisconsin Local Governmeant
Investment Poal ..., 178 178 - - - not rated
R | T —————————— 3,840 480 1.558 1,522 270 AAA

§ 276,598 § 273248 § 1558 § 1522 § 2n0

Pooled Deposits and Investments

The City maintains a cash and investment poo! (Pool) that is available for use by all the funds, except for Debt Service Funds,
Water Works Enterprise Fund, and component entities. Each fund's share of pooled cash and investments Is included in the
cash and cash equivalents line on the Statement of Net Assels/Balance Sheet.
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As of December 31, 2005, the City had the following investments and maturities in the Pool:

Investment Maturities (in Years)
{Thousands of Dollars)
Fair Less Maore Cradit
Value than 1 1-5 €-10 Than 10 Rating
Pooled Deposits and Investmeants
Bank Demand Daposits ........cocvniena. 5 39,042 § 39,042 $ - 3 - $ - not raled
Other Dapbaits ... 548 548 - - - not rated
Deposits and Investments
Interesl Chacking ..o 350,088 350,088 - - - not rabed
Wisconsin Local Governmant
Investment Pool .......ccccninmmccmnnnininnn 3.9 3380 - - - not rated
Governmant Monay Markel ..o 103 103 - - - AAA
Cerificates of Deposits .................cccoc... 17,000 17,000 - - - not rated
LL.5. Agency Securilies
Federal Farm Credil Bank  .....c.oocovviii 982 - a82 ARA
Federal Home Loan Bank ..................... 36,568 9,922 26,646 Al
TR ™ ... s it i e 7.894 3.956 3.938 AR
Federal National Morigage Association 3,835 - 3,935 - ABA
5 480,148 454 G48 5 35501 5 - 3

Custodial Credit Risk — Deposits

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that in the event of a financial institution failure, the City's deposits may not be
retumed. Per Common Council the City Treasurer shall require collateralization of certificates of time daposit (including
interast checking) at financial institutions when the total amount of such certificates of deposit with any institution exceeds the
combined insured limit of $500,000. As of December 31, 2005, the City's bank balances of $253,000 were subject lo custodial
credit risk as they were neither insured nor collateralized.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of the City's investments will decrease as a result of an increase in interest rates.
The City's investment policy does not explicitly limit investment maturities. However, the City manages its exposure to interest
risk based on lhe anticipaled cash flow needs of the Gity and limiting the amounl of pooled investments to $60,000,000 with
maturities greater than one year.

Credit risk

Credit nisk is the nsk that the City will not recover its invesiments due to the ability of the counterparty to fulfill its obligations.
Wisconsin Statutes expressly limit the City to invest in certain allowable investments as listed in Nole 1. E. The City's
investment policy generally does not further limit its investment cholces.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributable to the magnitude of the City's investment in a single issuer or
depository. Per Common Council the City Treasurer shall use as criteria for investment in certificates of time deposit (including
interest checking) a sum not to exceed the total of equity capital or net worth of each financial institution designated as a

depository under the Socially Responsible Investment Program. The following invesiments represent more than 5% of the
City's (primary govemment) total investments as of December 31, 2005:

Amount Percentage

Federal Home Loan Bank Agency Securifies 36,587 16.77%
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B. Component Units
Daposits and Investmants

Daposits in each local and area bank are insured by the FDIC in the amount of $100,000 for interast bearing accounts and
$100,000 for noninterest bearing accounts. An additional $400,000 is covered by the State Deposit Guarantee Fund,

In addition, the Milwaukee Economic Development Corporation has insured investmenis of $215,014 covered by The
Securities Investor Protection Corporation.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of the Component Unit investments are exposed to losses as a resull of
increases in inleresl rates,

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or olher counter party to an investment will not Tulfill its obligation.

The component units have the following investments on Decembar 31, 2005:

Investment Maturities (in Years)
(Thousands of Dollars)
Fair Less 15 and Cradit
valua than 1 1-2 1015 greater  Rating
Component Units:
Local Govemment Investment Pool § 34930 % 34,830 - - - not rated
U3 Treasury Money Markel Fund 13,045 13,045 - = = Aaa
US. Treasury Bond 1.164 589 565 - - Aaa
US Traasury Note 1 - 1 - - Aaz
LS Agencies
Government National Morlgage Association 1.545 54 . 1.3 160 Aaa
Federal Home Loan Bank Bonds 199 199 - - - AAA
Federal Homa Loan Bank Discount Note 10.600 10,600 - - - Aaa
Faderal Merigagae Mational Association 8,250 9,250 - - - Aaa
Corificates of Doposit 355 355 = - WA

$ 71089 5 60032 § 576 5 133 S 160

Custodial Cradit Risk

Custodial credit rigk is the risk that in the event of a financial institution failure, the Component Units deposits may nol be
retumed.

As of December 31, 2005 Component Units Custodial Credit Risk is as follows:

Uninsured and

Bank Balance Uncollateralized
Redevelopment Authority 2,160,120 1,664 375
Milwaukee Economic Development Corporation 5,650,614 4,833,891
Meighborhood Improvement Development Corporation 2,469,301 1,636,418
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Concentration of Credit Risk
The Redevelopment Authority has concentration of credit risk at December 31, 2005 for its investment portfolio as follows:

Pearcentage

Investment Type Issuer of Portfolio

Fedaral Home Loan Bank Discount Note JPMorgan 26.68%
Federal Morigage National Association JPMorgan 19.58%

3. PROPERTY TAXES

The City's properly taxes are levied on or before December 31, on the assessed (taxable) value as of the prior January 1, for
all general property located in the City. Taxes become a lien against the property upon filing the roll in the Office of the City
Clark. This generally takes place in December. The taxes are due January 31, but may be paid in ten monthly installments
without Interest from January through October. Foreclosure can be commenced after one year from date of delinquency.

The City purchases property taxes receivable from other taxing authorities at the unpaid amounts o facilitate the collection of
the taxes. The purchases are a financing arrangement and are not included in property tax revenues. Also, delinquent water
and sewer charges and special assessment receivables are transferred to the General Fund at the unpaid amounts,

Al December 31, 2005, delinguent property taxes include delinquent sewer and waler charges and special assessments by
yaar lavied, tax deedad property, and allowanca for uncollectible taxes. Thesa delinquent property taxes are reported as part of
taxes receivable in the General Fund and Special Revenue Fund - Delinquent Tax and consist of the following:

Purchased

City Taxes
Levy Recuivable Total

{Thousands of Dollars)

OO panel qalelr) ot L e e S - £ 11564 $§ 1637 & 2™
DML ivisiid i N S T 380 551 841
DI v st R R PR A A e i e RN 1.584 2,361 3,845
11 SO 5,682 4,059 14,741
Tatal delinquent property taxes recaivable ..., £ 9526 % 14672 24,184
Proparty taxes recaivable on foreciosed proparty ... 14,206
Less: Allowance for uncollectible tRes  .............ocoviieiinicnnns {18,114}
Nel delinguent property laxes receivable, including tax deeded propearty § 22290
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4. CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2005 was as follows:

Balance Balance
01-01-05 Additions Deletions 12-31-05
Governmental activities (Thousands of Dollars)
Capital azsels nol being depreciated:
LRI oo scnicsimsinnssan nuassqunassasnssa inkanuaaben snsninng nnsa s snismmane $ 163,552 - . 5 T0 § 163,482
Construction in prograss  ..........cc.cememmsmimim 58 802 28,017 24,325 54,584
Tetal capital assels not being dopreciated ... 223,454 20,017 24,395 228,076
Capﬂ'al'nmeq'a bahgdaprmrad
Buildings . sasnsunas pnenn s enmnananan 140,186 21,435 1,308 160,313
Inl'mnu‘i.u:lur'e 1,263,384 a8.221 2,901 1,208,714
Imwunmnﬂ'lﬂrihun bulldlngs 8,733 406 57 8,082
Machinery and equipmeant ..., 121,327 10,665 9,278 122 716
Tolal capital assals being depraciated ... rEEnEhE v 1,533,640 __Tog27 13,542 1,590 825
Less accumulated depraciation for:
ERIMCIIR'S oo s b i bR s BB . 62,116 3,083 1,105 64,104
Infrastructure ..., et 788,943 30,740 2,900 796,783
|mprovements other than bulunns .................. 6,750 197 52 6,845
Machinary and aquipmant . 77,562 8,649 8,836 77,375
Total accumulated depreciation  ..........cccoeee 815,371 42,679 12,893 945,157
Total capital assets being depreciated, net .. 618 28,048 649 645,668
Government activity capltal assets, net .............. 841,723 § 57,065 5 25044 873,744
Depreciation expense for govermnmental aclivities
was chargad to functions as follows:
Seneral GOVEMMENT ..o s 151
PRl WOl i e i 36,483
R o T R i i 4R 104
Culture and recregtion ..o 522

Total ...... S b Bk BRI 1493 H M43 R B " § 42879
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Balance
01-01-05 Additions Deletions
Business-type aclivities (Thousands of Dollars)
Waterworks
Capital assets nol being depreciated:
LB B s ron o cammm A A AR E BT AR LA P R e n R pra e $§ 1,588 5 - $ 26
Construclion in progress ..., 20,251 18,32 27.047
Tolal capital assets not being depreciated ... 21.818 18,321 27073
Capital assets being dopreciated:
BN i5ors miteatin et ol a5k M Sk i T 22 887 - 135
INFASIUEIIIE ..o e ssres s 275,708 22,070 2675
Machinery and equipment ...................................... 105,798 4,978 2,904
Nonutility property . 540 2,470 -
Total capital assets being depreciated ... 495,034 20,525 5,714
Less accumulated depreciation for:
B e e s s e s 13,547 722 120
Infrastructure ............ 69,276 3,295 1,697
Mumlnnryrmmmm 74,731 7.983 2,844
NonUttY DRODBMY ...oocrmssssnsianiiss seissssesasanssas 127 1,319 -
Total accumuiated dapreciation ... 157,731 13,319 4 661
Total capital assels being deprecialed, net ... 337,303 16,206 1,053
Waterworks capital assets, nat ....occocviiiiinn 358,122 4,527 28,126
Soewer Maintenance
Capital assets mrmduprmm
Construction in progress .........ccceecereesssssnsssssserenn: 23,938 19,083 10,6867
Total capital assets not being depreciated ... 23,838 18,083 10,667
Capilal assels baing dnprml'nd
Infrastructure ............ 301,197 10,302 143
Machinery and uqunpmmt ................................... 1,887 1,375 15
Fumiture and fumishings .................ccoooveinins ! et - -
Tolal capital azsels being depreciated ... 303,106 11,877 158
Less sccumulated depreciation for:
Infrastructure ... 89,409 3873 140
Machinary and lm.ipmam ................................ 780 222 15
Furniture and fumishings ..........c.coouoiememe. 14 3 -
Total accumuiated depreciation ... 80,203 4,198 155
Total capital assets being depreciated, net ... 212,903 7.479 3
Sewer maintenance capital agsets, nel ... 236,841 26,562 10,670

Balance
12-31-05

5 1547
11,525

13,067

22,852
285,104
197 870

3,019

518,845

14,199
70,874
79,870

e 1448,

166,389

352,456

365,523

42,354

311,356
3.247

314 625
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Balance Balance
01-01-05 Additions Deletions 123105
(Thousands of Dollars)
Parking
Capital azseiz nol being depreciated.
LRI i aimrinice it St s e g § 8913 -] . § 35 $ 8562
Construction in Prograss ... 1,548 748 - 2,287
Tolal capital assels not being depraciated ... . 1D£1 749 351 10,859
Capital assets being depreciated:
BN | izt e e 49,076 1" . 49,087
Impravements other than buildings .................coene. 5,630 - 132 5488
Machinary and aquIpmBnt ... 1.011 - - 1,011
Tolal capital assets being depreciated ................ 85,717 11 132 55,596
Less accumulated depreciation for:
RTINS » ikt it s s sl s 20,332 1,889 - 2221
Improvements other than buildings ... 2,747 226 106 2,867
Machinery and equipment ..o, an 101 - 412
Tolal accumutated depreciation .......ccccewcei 23,380 2,218 108 25,500
Tolal capital assels being depreciated, net ... 32327 (2,205) 26 30,086
Parking capital assets, Bt ..o 42,788 {1,456) 377 40,955
Other business-type activities:
Capifal azsals naot being depracialed:
TLBTRT oo om0 00 AN A BB s T.907 1 - 7,008
Construction in progress ... 172 - 172 .
Tolal capital assets not being depreciated ... 8,079 1 172 7.908
Capifal assols baing deprociated.
Building® ... 12,332 B4 . 12,418
Improvements other than buildings ... 18,827 T42 - 19,569
Machinery and squipment ... 4,47 70 8 4,608
Furnitura and Fumishings ...........c.cceencemmsssmnsnnnns 48 - 48
Total capital assets being depraciated ... 35754 Bag 8 36,641
Less accumulated depreciation for:
Improvemeants other than buildings ... 12,964 465 - 13,429
Machinary and equipment ..., 3,252 208 9 3452
Furniture and fumishings ... 33 4 37
Tolal accumulated depreciation ..o 21,920 910 g 22821
Total capital assels being depreciated, net ... 13,834 [14) . 13.820
DOther businass-type activitias, nat ... 21,913 (13) 172 21,728
Busines-type activity capital assets, net ... § 660,664 5 B0 620 £ 30 345 £ 680,930
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Balance Balance
01-01-05 Additions Deletions 12-31-05
{Thousands of Dollars)
Total Component Units
Capital assets nof being depreciated:
Construction in Progress ..o ieessssssimins 21,787 51,256 75 72,958
Total capital assets not being depreciated ... 77,575 51.256 150 128,681
Capital assots baing dapraciatad;
IO ot et e T e i B i L 337,789 24 586 337227
Improvemenis other than bulldings ... 258 1 - 259
Machinery and equipment ... 3,893 17 1 3,009
Total capital assats baing depraciated ... 341,840 42 BAT 341,385
Less accumulated depreciation for:
BURINDE: e eirribusrsuesnd s st piaherarsar aRT NS 178,055 16,527 117 194,469
Improvements other than buildings ... ; B4 19 - 83
Machinery and equipment ... 3,360 230 1 3,589
Total seccumulated depreciation ... 181,483 16,776 118 198,141
Total capital assets being depreciated, nel . 160457 (16.734) 489 143,254
Component units capital assets, net ... $ 238,032 $ 34522 $§ 619 $ 271,935

Certain prior year balances for the component units have been adjusted to commespond with the proper classification reflected in
the Staterment of Net Assels,

S5, DEFERRED REVENUE

Deferred revenue is recorded in the governmental funds for amounts not yel available and for resources received prior to baing
earned by the City. Related ravenue is recognized when these amounts becoma available or whan samad. The composition
of the defarred revenuea balances in the govemmental funds is as follows:

General
Obligation Nonmajor
Debt Capital Governmental
Genaral Sarvice Praojacts Funds Total
(Thousands of Dollars)
Current propery AMBE ............cooeveeneccmsansennsnens 5 145,696 3 TT.E58 $ 11,900 - . § 235462
Dalinquant proparty EXEE ..o 4,133 - - 1,506 5,638
UNEamed FEVENUE ..........ooeveeeceieoneseesessseseesns e 1,624 . 4,834 7,502 13,960
Long-term raceivabiBs ... - 50,965 s . 50,965
Unbilled special assassments ... . . 12,716 . 12,716

TOEI v $.151,453  §$ 128,823  $20458  § 9008 § 318742
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8. SHORT-TERM DEBT

During 2005, the City issued $56,000,000 of Revenue Anticipation Notes (RANs) The RANs were issued for the purpose of
financing the City's operating budget on an interim basis pending receipt of State of Wisconsin shared revenue payments dus
in November 2005.

As of December 31, 2004, the City had outstanding $172,000,000 of short-term RANs on behalf of Miwaukee Public Schools.
In 2005, the City repaid the outslanding balance and issued $182,000,000 shori-term RAMNs for the same purpose. The new
notes bear interest at the rate of 5.5% and will mature on September 7, 2006. The liability and related receivable to repay the
revenue anticipation notes are recorded in the Debt Service Fund.
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7. LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS

A. Changes In Long-Term Obligations

Changes in long-term obligations for the year ended December 31, 2005 were as follows:

Governmental activities:
Ganaral ubﬁgart}nn bonds and notas.
City .

Defared amount on refundings ...,
Unamortized premiums ... e ssans
Capital loase paysble ... s,

Compensated BBSENCEE ...
Claims and judgmenls ...

Total governmental activities ............... e repe e AT T

Business-type activities

Water Works

General obligation bonds and notes ...........ccoeeeececeinnenne,

Defarmad amount on refundings ...

Unamortized premiums ..........coccenemmmsmmsns s cismmmersmnssmsssmnes

Revanua Bonds  ......oovenmmeremmms

Compansabed BDSEN0BE .........cccoiimiimmmmmmmmmmem s
Total Waber WorkE ... i

Ganeral obligation bonds and notes ...
Deferred amount on refundings ...
Unamortized premmitims  .ooeeecesmmmimmim e

Other Enterprise Funds
Ganeral obligation bonds and notes

Defermed amount on refundings ...
Unamortized premiums ...

Total Other Enterprise ...

Amounts
Balance New Balanca  Dua within
01-01-08 lssues Repayments 123105 Onae Year
{Thousands of Dollars)
$497,103 §$ 133805 § 93212 $537698 2§ 6387
121,885 21,135 16,431 126,589 10,775
(8,372) (2,055) (1,378) (8,043) 3
25,669 13,692 8923 a0.32a -
345 - 175 174 174
37,003 2,768 1,270 38,501 3,086
28,536 10,934 14 205 25,665 5413
§ 702,483 § 180,279 § 132,838 5 749,504 $ 83,300
§ 32801 - - g 4851 § 27850 § 4692
{1.118) - (228) (891) -
1,548 - 209 1,339 -
13,745 - B24 12,821 B46
943 895 T 1,031 1,031
47,918 95 5,663 42,350 6,569
60,945 - 2,350 58,555 2480
2,712 - 255 2,457 -
63,657 - 2,645 61.012 2480
16,813 1,421 4,081 13,853 2,080
(314) (25) (68) (271) -
407 29 B4 372 -
16,706 1,425 4,077 14,054 2,080
4,528 303 610 4,222 47T
(B7) (8) (10) (65)
85 8 14 80 -
4 557 304 614 4,247 47T
£132838 § 1824 § 12999 § 121663 § 11,608

Compensated absences have been liguidated by the applicable govemmental funds that account for the salaries and wages of
the related employees. Claims and judgments typically have been liguidated from the special purpose damages and claims

account in the general fund,
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Amounts
Balance Meow Balance Due within
01-0105 lssues Repayments  12-31-05 One Year
(Thousands of Dolars)
Total Componant Units
RENVINUB DONEE: - i ot s s e aas CVia it s angs i £ 30158 $ 68,210 § 1368 § 106,000 8 G595
Daefarred amount on MefUNdiNgs oo - - - - -
Unamortized premilms  .......ccccvecemsnssnsninsonennnmeerssmssenns - - - -
Unamortized GIBCOUNTS. ......comsmmmssasinniissimnsemssssssssssionss (130) - (B) {124}
OO ORI e o o o B e i o i i 20,307 4,845 0,392 15,760 70
Advance from other organizations ..., 700 - 400 300 300
Tokal cOmpOET NS ..o iuineasamsnsini ssgapmssssnss pupusasasinianss $§ 60035 § 7A055 § 11164 $ 424836 § 1,365

B, General Obligation Bonds

The City issues general obligation bonds to provide funds for the acquisition and construction of major capital facilities for the
City and for Milwaukee Public Schools. General obligation bonds have bean issued for bath governmental and business-type
activilies. General obligation bonds are secured by the full faith and unlimited taxing power of tha City. The debt for
governmental activities will be retired by future property tax levies and other resources accumulated in the Debt Service Funds.
The debt for business-type activities (i.e. Water Works, Parking, and Port of Milwaukee Enterprise Funds) will be refired by
revenues from those operations or, if the revenues are not sufficient, by future tax levies. During the year ended December
31, 2005, general obligation bonds totaling $72,110,000 were issued to finance capital improvements.

Use of Public Debt Amorization Fund for retiremeant of the public debl is governad by the Wisconsin Statutes, The Statutes
provide that when tolal principal and accrued interest in the Public Debt Amortization Fund is substantially equal to the
outstanding general obligation bonds and notes, the resources in the fund shall be applied o make annual interest and
principal payments on that debt to maturity, The Statutes provide, in part, that *The Public Debt Commission may, howaver, at
any time, apply the fund, not to exceed in any one year 40 percent of the balance in said fund on the preceding December 31,
to acquire for cancellation general obligation bonds or notes prior to their maturity dates at prices not {o exceed principal plus
accruad interast to date of maturity, but the fund shall not be decreasad balow $2,000,000 as a result of such purchasas and
cancellations.” Principal sources of revenue are one-third of all interest on general City investments and interest on Fund
investments. As authorized by the Statutes, the Public Debt Amorization Fund may purchase for investment or for
cancellation, notes issued by the General Fund to fund operations.

Through 2005, $109 784 235 has been bommowed and outstanding for forty-six tax incremental districts (TID), Total debt
service requirements associated with these debt issues amounts to $153,011,075. Tax increments received through 2005
total $123,241,901. In any year in which TID debt service requirements for the ensuing year are greater than folal tax
increments received, the shortfall is funded by the property tax levy.

Under the Wisconsin Statutes, the City is required, if requested by the Board of Milwaukee Public Schools, and if approved by
referendum, o issue general obligation bonds o finance purchases of school sites and to construct or remodel school
buildings. Mo such bonds are cumrently outstanding. The $126,588,000 of Milwaukea Public School long-term debt outstanding
at December 31, 2005 consists of a portion of the City's general obligation bonds and notes which has been designated for
school purposes. Under the Wisconsin Statutes, the City has fitle to the land and buildings of the Milwaukee Public Schools.
However, the City does not control the use of the assets or receive the proceeds upon disposition of the assets. At June 30,
2005, the historical costs of the land and buildings as reported by Milwaukee Public Schools was approximately $842,799,000,
Thesea assets are excluded from the financial statements of the City,

C. Revenue Bonds

Tha City issues revenua bonds to provide funds for water and sewer improvements. As such, they are not backed by the
general credit or taxing powers of the City. During the year ended Dacember 31, 2005, the City did not issue revenuea bonds,

The component unils issue revenue bonds to provide funds for capital construction and mortgage-backed securities. As such,
thay are not backed by the general credit or taxing powers of the City.
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D. Motes Payable

Tha City issues installment notes to provide funds for various public improvement projects, cashfiow for the school district and
purchases of delinquent taxes. During the year ended December 31, 2005, installment loans tolaling $56,030,000 were issued
to provide the school district cashfiow, finance building projects and purchase 2004's delinguent taxes.

E. Capital Leases Payable

The City has entered into a lease agreement as lessee for financing the acquisition of automated defibrillators/EKG monitors.
This laase agreement qualifies as a capital lease for accounting purposes and, therefore, has bean recorded at the presant
value of the future minimum lease payments in the appropriate capital asset accounts in the amount of $174,000 as of
December 31, 2005.

The future minimum lease obligation and the net present value for Governmental Activities of the minimum lease payments as
of December 31, 2005 is $174,000 equal to the 2006 payment.

a1



CITY OF MILWAUKEE
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

F. Debt Service Requirements

The maturities of the cutstanding principal and related interest requirements are as follows:

Total
General Obligation Dabt Revenue Bonds Payable Dabt
Year Principal Interest Principal Interest Service
{Thousands of Dollars)
-] 74,746 £ 30,048 5 - ] - S 104,794
67,246 27 152 - - 84,398
64,072 24,205 - - 88,277
57,836 2170 - - 749,006
54277 18,657 - - 72934
1) B 1 203,860 60,613 - - 264 473
BOTB-ZDR0  1iovinisinsrssrassssassasiasisnis ivsisss 104,482 27,802 - - 132,284
L] 1 o R S 37,758 12117 - - 49 873
T 5 e iV i i § 664,285 § 221,764 ] - 5 - & BB86,049
Business-type activities
Water Works
BUNIT: [oaeaanessoesrraasizes veaveain IR saR AR BRREsaTaRBEEs 3,362 1.120 BGE 307 5,657
2008 1,988 851 915 260 4,015
2010 2,492 754 939 236 4421
=BG iisinmiinsiisnisiiniisiisisiine ibsbavs 11,522 1.881 5,080 788 18,272
i1 [ 1) [ 1,048 59 3,382 135 4,624
TRl -fiiiniii i i minmimn s ] 27,950 $§ 6933 3 12,91 § 2341 g 50,195
3 - 5 - 5 2480 $ 2667 § 5147
E . 2,570 2,575 5,145
- 2,650 2.487 5,137
- - 2,740 2,286 5,128
- 2,840 2274 5114
- = 15,840 9,273 25213
. - 19,920 4 B46 24,766
s k. 9,415 553 9,978
L] £ ] = $ 58 555 $ 27,071 & 85628
Parking
2006 § 2,080 $ 664 5 - 5 - F 2744
2007 2,058 563 - - 2,619
2008 2,103 464 . - 2,567
2009 1.51 am - - 1,882
2010 1,107 305 - - 1,412
2011-2015 4,028 BOB - - 4,836
DOIBROR  «cocissinciinnnamsisnig 1,068 :i1] - - 1,167
T e e il i sl sipdsnas 8 13,853 § 3274 3 - 5 - & 17227
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Total
_ General Obligation Debt Revenue Bonds Payable Deobt
Yoar Principal Intarest Principal Interast Service
(Thousands of Dollars)

Other Enferprise
DODB. .yt pimeems i s mspivamssns o g 477 s 204 3 - § - 3 681
31, G A e s e S 4 e 454 182 - . 636
BOOE e e 458 183 - - 619
e L 477 138 - - 616
111 | | R — RSk e Y 398 1"z - . 815
BOTH-201E  nvsciinnaimninnniaimaminmeiinrni s 1.669 300 - : 1,869
. g e S Cy e S i TP 213 3 - - ao4
L,y (20,1 O R SRR R 18 1 - - 19
[ [ T ————. s 4,222 § 1137 $ ~ 5 - §__535

Total Component Units

S 0 liwrss el sk e 5 68 5 614 5 §485 § 3066 § 4744
L A e o mpe LT eE L 73 609 1,040 3,024 4,746
REDMEE - i AR 3134 604 465 2979 7.182
i e e o s el ; 85 sq7 495 2,956 4,133
11y [| R R YT a2 591 515 2932 4,130
.13 1) 5 1) | S p—————— 1,720 2,693 3,005 14,233 21,851
g L K LS R 2,103 2,483 . 13,359 17,925
RO 20D | oo aiironiissnsimsasaisaii smasiarariiss 44 1,845 275 12,151 45415
OO o iccainaipiisiapbiatinassism e a7 1.931 - 9,725 11,7113
OB DO .. oot catni i v nin 2,073 1,880 - 9,725 13,678
e T T e e s 95 1,373 68,210 9,078 78,756
- F g s —— 4,805 304 . . 5,208
2048-2050 ... 1.310 15 - - 1.325
2051-2082 i vnriria s s b - - - - -
TERBL Tiniamsesiniivtinsamaniyivsarrersihrrrpirs ] 15,760 $ 15619 $ 108,000 § 83,228 $ 220,607

G. Debt Limit

Wisconsin Statutes limit direct general obligation borrowing in the amount equivalent to 7% of the equalized valuation of
taxable property. The Statutes further provide that within the 79 limitation, bormowing for school construction purposes may
not exceed 2% of the equalized valuation and borrowing for general city purposes may not exceed 5% of the equalized
valuation. At December 31, 2005 the City's legal debt margin was $1,171,767,000. Of this amount, $525,134,000 was for
school purposes and $646,633,100 was for City purposes.

H. Refundings

During June 2005, the City issued general obligation refunding bonds. Series 2005 A5 was in the par amount of $28,525,000
with an interest rate of 5% for the purpose of advance refunding $26,855,000 of existing general obligation bonds. This
refunding will reduce the future debt service payments by $845,000 and result in an economic gain of $763,000.

In prior years, the City defeased certain general obligation bonds by placing the proceeds from new general obligation bonds in
an imevocable trust to provide all future debl service payments on the bonds. Accordingly, the trust account assets and liability
for the defeased bonds are not included in the City's financial statements. At December 31, 2005, $160,205,000 of bonds
outstanding are considered defeased, which Includes debt defeased during the curmrent year.

. Conduit Debt

From time to time, the City, as well as the Housing Authority and the Redevelopment Authority, has issued revenue bonds in
order to provide financing to private sector entities for the purpose of acquiring, constructing, or rehabilitating housing units and
for retiing the existing debt associated with housing units, These obligations are primarily secured by morigage or revenue
agreements on the associated projects and, together with the interest obligation, is payable solely by lhe developers from
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leased rentals and other funds or revenues. |n addition, these obligations do not constitute indebtedness of the City, as the
City has no responsibility for the debt beyond the resources provided by relaled leases or loans. Accordingly, the bonds are
not reporled as liabilities in the accompanying financial stalements. The aggregate amount of all revenue bonds outstanding
al Dacembaer 31, 2005 is approximataly $72 825 000 for the City and $531,000,000 for RACM.

8. RETIREMENT PLAMNS
Pension Benefits

Plan Description - The City makes contributions to the Employes’ Retirement System of the City of Milwaukes (the “System”), a
cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan, on behalf of all eligible City employees. The System provides
retirament, disability, and death benefits to plan members and beneficiaries. The City Charter assigns the authority to
astablish and amend benefit provisions. The Syslem issues a publicly avallable financial report that includes financial
statements and required supplementary information for the System. Thal reporl may be obtained by wriling lo the Employes’
Retirement System of the City of Milwaukee, 200 East Wells Street, Room 610, Milwaukee, WI 53202

Funding Polley - Plan members are required to contibute, or have contributed on their behalf, a percentage of their annual
eamable compensation equal to 5.5%, 7%, 7%, and 7% for general City employees, police officers, firefighters, and elected
officials, respectively. New hires who are not swom policeffire must pay 1.6% of pensionable eamings for 8 years to fund the
cost of benefit escalators due 1o the Global Pension Settlement. The City is required to contribute the actuarially determined
amount. The City Charter assigns the authority to establish and amend contribution requirements. The City’s contributions to
the System for the years ending December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, were 523,618,000, 521,683,000, and $22,015,000,
respectively, equal 1o the required contributicns on behalf of the plan members for each year,

Other Postemployment Benefits

The City provides medical insurance benefits for substantially all retirees in accordance with terms set forth in labor contracts
or by Common Council resolution, Retireas are eligible to enroll in any of the group plans offered by the City. Aside from the
Basic Plan, this includes any of the Health Maintenance Organizations (HMO) plans currently offered to active employees.

The City provides full heallh insurance coverage o general City employees who retine al age 55, bul less than age 65, with 30
years of creditable service or age B0, but less Ihan age B5, with 15 years of credilable service until the age of 65.
Management employeas retiring baginning in 2004 at aga 55, but less than 65, pay a portion of haalth insuranca the sama as
active management employees. In accordance with a “percentage formula® as provided in labor agreements, the City provides
between 85% and 100% of the cost of the Basic Plan coverage for firefighters and police officers who retire with 25 years of
creditable service and having attained at least the age of 52 but less than 60. Upon reaching the age of 60 but prior to the age
of 65, the City provides full health insurance coverage for firefighters with single enroliment status and police officers with
single enrollment status. The City contribution for firefighters between the ages of 60 and 65 with family enroliment status is
the greater of 100% of the cost of single enroliment in the Basic Plan or an amount determined using the "percentage formula.”
The “percentage formula® used o determine the City contribution in the labor agreements is based on the amount of unused
sick leave at retirament.

After attaining the age of 65 and having completed a minimum of 15 years of creditable service, all retirees are eligible to enroll
in a “subsidized plan” for medical insurance. Under this plan, the City contributes 25% of the base rale loward retirees enrolled
in the Basic Plan, whila the retiree pays 75% of the base rate and 100% of the major medical rate. For thosa retirees enrolled
in an HMO, the City contributes a 25% subsidy of the applicable HMO pramium.

Medical insurance for ratirees is financed on a pay-as-you-go basis. Approximately 4,357 employees are eligible to receive
these benefits. For 2005, the City paid approximately $31,343,000 toward medical insurance for its relirees.

In addition to medical insurance, the City allows ils employees to continue life insurance coverage under the Group Life
Insurance Plan offered to active employees in accordance with Section 350-25 of the Code of Ordinances. The base amount
of coverage for general City employees is equal to the employee's annual basic salary to the next higher thousand dollars.
The base amount of coverage for firefighters and police officers is equal to cne and one-half the employee's annual basic
salary to the next higher thousand dollars.

Genaral City smployees retiring at age 55 or older with 20 years of service or at age 80 regardless of years of service and
covered under the group life insuranca plan at retirement are eligible to continue coverage at the level on the date prior to their
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date of retirement. Firefighters and police officers retiring at age 52 or older with 20 years of service or at age 57 regardiess of
years of service and covered under the group life insurance plan at retirement are eligible to continue coverage up to their
base amount of coverage on the date prior lo their date of retirement. Prior lo age 65, all retirees are required to pay the full
pramium rates as established by the insurance carrier, less an adjustment for estimated dividends. The rates established are
group rates applied consistently to all employees, without regard to age or health. Upon reaching the age of 65, thosa ratirees
slill part of the group life plan have their coverage reduced in accordance with the reduction schedule in effect on their lasl day
phiysically at work, with the City assuming all fulure premiums.

For 2005, the group's rate for life insurance for the City population as a whole was approximately fifty-three cents per month
per 51,000 of coverage after eslimated dividends. The effect on this rate as a result of inciuding relirees in the pool is not
determinable. Group life insurance for retirees age 865 or older are financed on a pay-as-you-go basis and cannot be readily
saparated from amounts paid on behalf of active employees. The City astimates 51,087,000 out of a total $4,018,000 for
group life insurance for 2005 is attributable to approximately 4,968 retirees on the basis of the common group life rate.

Terminal Leave Payments

Upon retirement, employees receive a portion of their unused sick leave as terminal leave, in accordance with labor contracts
and Section 350-38 of the Code of Ordinances. Firefighters whose normal hours of work exceed 40 hours per week receive
between $45 and $65 for each work shift equivalent of unused sick leave, Firefighters whose normal hours of work average 40
hours per week receive between $21 and $30 for each work shift equivalent of unused sick leave. Police officers receive
payment for up to 55 days of unused sick leave at base pay. Management pay plan employees are entitied to payment of 30%
of unused sick leave (maximum 980 hours) plus one-half of the sick leave days accumulated during the last twalve months of
service for up o six additional days for a total maximum of 42 days at the rate of pay at retirement. Substantially all remaining
City employees receive up to 30 days for unused sick leave as terminal leave, although some bargaining units receive slightly
different benefits in accordance with related labor agreements. In 2005, approximately $10,004,000 was paid for sick leave
from all funds. At December 31, 2005 accumulated sick leave eamed but not taken totaled approximately $120,825000
determined on the basis of current salary rates.

Temminal leave pay is funded on a pay-as-you-go basis and provided for in the salary budgets of the respective departments
annually, In 2005 terminal leave payments totaled $1,642,000 to employees retiing during the year. As of December 31,
2005, the City has accrued approximataly $20,187,000 in the govemment-wide statements for futura terminal leave paymants.
This amount is included under the unfunded compensated absences of $38,601,000 with the remainder accrued vacation
leave of $18,304,000.

9. FUND EQUITY
Reserved for Tax Stabilization and Advances to Other Funds

The Reserved for Tax Stabilization, $63,150,000 at December 31, 2005, is govemned by the City's Code of Ordinances. This
reserve includes an amount for advances of $14,673,000 from the general fund to the capital projects fund. The general fund
has advanced this amount to fund special assessment projecls. The availability of the $14,873,000 for Tax Stabilization is
contingent upon future collection of the special assessments receivable. All General Fund appropriation balances not
encumbered or carried over are reserved for tax stabilization in subsequent years. The total amount that can be withdrawn
from the Reserved for Tax Stabilization in any one year is an amount that prevents an increase of more than three percent in
the City's property tax rate, as defined, and is anticipated to be available as of April 15 of the year covered by the budget.
Such amount must be included in the adopted budget, which requires a majority affirmative vole of the Common Council.
Fund withdrawals not needed to stabilize the tax rate can be made for up to 50% of the available balance, but require a three-
fourths affirmative vote of the Commaon Council.

Deficit Fund Equity

The Capital Projects Fund has a deficit fund balance of $838,000. The deficit is the result of construction in advance of
collecting assessments from property ownars and issuing of long-term debt for other construction contracts.
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10. INTERFUND RECEIVABLE AND PAYABLE BALANCES AND NET TRANSFERS

The individual interfund receivable and payable balances at December 31, 2005, were as follows:

I Due From |

Sewer NHonmajor

General ‘Water Maintenance Proprietary

Fund Works Fund Funds Total
{Thousands of Dollars)

General Fund .......... | - % 500 % - % - - 509
o Ganaralﬂbhgahonnabt ........ 3,126 6,050 . . 8,176
l: Capital Projects ......... 8,351 . - i 8,351
3 Nmmwﬁwnmanml Funds 5,718 - - - 6,718
Watar Works  ..........ccee 1.272 - 801 2,086 4,168
Sower Mainlanancs ... 8416 - - - 8,416
Nmmajanmpu'lﬂmr)rFuruIs ! 7,844 * - - 7,844
TOlE oo $ 35727 % BS59 8 B01 0§ 2008 8§ 45183

Balances resulted from the timing differences between the dales that (1) interfund goods and services are provided or
reimbursable expenditures occur, (2} fransactions are recorded in the accounting system, (3) payments between funds are
made, (4) and funds overdraw their share of pooled cash or when there are transactions between funds where one fund does
not participate in the City's pooled cash.
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Interfund transfers for the year ended December 31, 2005 were as follows:

Funds Transfermed To

General Fund

Debt Sorvice

Fublic Debt Amortization

MNonmajor Propristary

Fund Transferred From

Genaral Obligation Dabt
Capital Projacts

Monmajor Governmental Funds
Nonmajor Governmental Funds
Water Works

Parking

Parking

Monmajor Propriatary Funds
Subtotal General Fund

Public Dabt Amaortization
Capilal Projects

Monmajor Governmental Funds
Sewer Maintenanca

Parking

Subtotal Debt Sarvice

Capital Projects

Genaral Fund

General Obligation Debt
Subtotal Nenmajor Proprietary

Total Interfund Transfers

Amount

$ 8338
18

4,320

7

7,668
1,082
15,210

__ 2810
39,725

8,551
1,240
14,644
7,000

1,3

318, 8 L’.E

§ 72428

Furpose

Funding for debt payments
Complated project closeouls
Subsidize uncolleciad property laxes
Complated grant closeouts

Payment in Lieu of taxes

Payment in Lisu of laxes

Subsidy for oparations

Excass samings of Port

Funding for debt payments

Tax Incremantal District clossouts
Funding for dabt payments
Subsidy for oparations

Subsidy for operations

Interast on Schools Financing

Subsidy for operations
Funding for debt payments

Transfers are used to (1) move revanues from the fund that statute or budget requires collection from to the fund that statute or
budget required to expend them. (2) move receipts resiricled to debt service from the funds collecting the receipts to the debi
service fund as debl service payments become due, and (3) use unrestricled revenues collected in the general fund to finance
various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with budgetary authorizations.
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1.

Balances due to and due from component units as of December 31, 2005, consist of the following:

BALANCES BETWEEN THE CITY AND COMPONENT UNITS

Component Unit Payabla

Due from HACM for reimbursable expenditues .............
Due from RACM for loans issuad o developers for
the purpose of renovalions and improvemenls lo

endsting parcels of real astate
Due from MEDC for lax incramental district loans

Dua from NIDC for reimbursements for expenditures ...

Componaent Unit Recaivable

Dua to HACM for project expanditungs...........c.cveninn.
Due to RACM for project axpanditunes. ...
Due to NIDC for reimbursements for programmatic

sxpanditures passed through the City

12. OPERATING LEASES

The City leases various properties under operating lease agreements expinng at various dates through 2007 and beyond.

Certain laases contain provisions for possible renewal at term of the leasa.

Primary
Government's
Receivable

{Thousands of Dollars)

§ Te

11.706
2811
o4

$ 15129

Primary
Governmant's
Payabla

(Thausands of Dollers)

$ 829
2,517

140

L]

3.486

Scheduled minimum lease payments for years ending December 31 are as foliows:

Yaar Amaount
{Thousands of Doffars)
2006 § 3286
2007 3.230
2008 3,047
2009 2,685
2010 3,084
2011-2015 14,584
2016-2020 12,685
2021-2025 3,801
Total $ 46,502
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13. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Claims and Other Legal Proceedings

The City is exposed to various risks of losses related to torts, thefi of, damage to, and destruction of assets; emors and
omissions; injuries to employee or natural disaster. With cerlain exceplions, it is not the policy of the City to purchase
commercial insurance for the risks of losses to which it is exposed. Instead, the City belisves it is more economical to manage
its risks intemally and set aside funds as needed for reasonably estimated cument claim settlements and unfavorable
judgments through annual appropriations and supplemental appropriations. Current setllements are paid from the General
Fund and recorded as expenditures when paid in the fund based statements. The liabiliies are recorded in the government-
wida financial statemant.

Under Wisconsin Statutes, the amount recoverable by any person for any damages, injuries or death in any action founded on
fact against the City, agencies, cfficials, officers or employees cannot exceed $50,000, with certain axceptions.

The City is seif-insured for workers' compensation, heaith insurance (basic plan), uninsured meotorist motor vehicle coverage
for City employees, and general liability. Liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss can be reasonable estimated,
These losses include an estimale of claims thal have been incurred bul nol reported. Liabililies are based on the eslimaled
ultimate cost of sattling the claims, including the effects of inflation and other economic and social factors. Claims are paid
from the General Fund and recorded as expenditures when paid in the fund based financial statements. The liabilities are
recorded in the government-wida stalemanis.

The liabilities recorded as long-term debt in the government-wide statements are as follows:

General Hably Clallis  .......ccooviiiviiiimmmmn s s sasissmsinssa i s 3 16,375,000
Workers' compansation Slaims ... 5,752,000
LTI TONTL DTN oo nsio irnssivosiemrrdopasai e A s b damirab ey asanan dami 1,037,000
Hoealth inBUMBNGE CEETIE ..o s reees s ssamssassssa e essenmnsas 2,501,000

Changes in the balances of claim liabilities during the past two years are as follows:

2004 2005
Beginning of year labllly ... e s s § 33.804.000 5 28.936.000
Curant yaar claims and changas in eslimates ... 8,881,000 10,834,000
oM PEYMBIIE ... isiiins et s ssssss as bk bk e kA ne s a4k ae b kb a0 3 (13,759 ,000) (14,205 000)
Endof year lability .........ccoooiiiiinmiiminiimmmmsssmsn s s s ssmsssss ssssasssss $ 28,936,000 § 25,665,000

Starting in October 2002, seventean white male lieutenants in the MPD filed a series of EEOC charges alleging discrimination
on the basis of race and gender in their fallure to be promoted to the rank of Captain of Police. The EEOC concluded its
investigation without finding cause, and issued notice of rights to sue letters, on April 1, 2003 and the seventean plaintiffs filed
a suit on June 27, 2003. The complaint alleges a class action on behalf of all white male lieutenants of the MPFD who have
sought or will seek promotion from the position of lieutenant to captain, or who in the future will be denied equal employment
opportunity by the MPD due to their being white males. The Complaint names the City, the Board of the FPC, and former
Chief of Police Arthur Jones in his individual and official capacity. It also names each of the FPC Commissioners as of the
suit's commencement, in their individual and official capacities. The Complaint alleges violations of Title VIl of the Civil Rights
Act of 1964, as amanded as well as aqual protection violations actionabla under 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983 and 1981. Plaintiffs seak
compensatory damages In the sum of $300,000 each, plus unspecified sums In punitive damages, as well as other relief
avallable such as attorneys’ fees and costs. The case was tried in March, 2005, and decided against the City. The jury
awarded $2,198,500 in compensatory and punitive damages. In addition, the court awarded economic damages, attomey fees
and costs for a total award of $4,167,684. On February 13, 2006, the City filed a notice to appeal to the Seventh Circuit Court
of Appeals.

The City and the privale property owners in Business Improvement District No. 15 ("BID-15"), a business improvement district,
received an August 6, 2003 communication from the United States Department of Justice ("DOJ"). That communication
indicated that the United States Attorney for the Eastemn District of Wisconsin had opened an investigation of a complaint made
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fo the DOU. The complaint alleged that the owners and operators of the Milwaukes Riverwalk ara in violation of the Americans
with Disabilities Act and the DOJ's requlations implementing that Act. The City and BID-15 retained the services of a
consultant to assist in the response to the DOJ's communication. The consultant developed a set of recommendations that
would remedy the alleged ADA viplations, and concluded that many, but not all, of the alleged violations had marit. The
estimated cost of implementing the recommendations is $1,500,000. The City and BID-15 have reached a settlement
agreement with DOJ regarding the timing and method of implementing the recommendations 1o remedy the alleged violations.
The City will pay for the entire cost of the project and then recover back 22% of those costs through special assessments
against private property owners within BID-15.

The Miwaukee Police Association (MPA) alleged that The Milwaukee Employes’ Retirement Systemn (ERS) was prohibited by
City ordinance from spending more than $3 million to purchase and install a computer information system. It is estimates that
the total cost of ERS information system is approximately $25 million. The MPA suit was subsequently voluntarily dismissed in
2005 and a clone case was brought by the Milwaukee Police Supervisors Organization (MPS0). The dispute in the case is
over the interpretation of the section of the City ordinance that transferred all administrative, operational, and investment
axpansas for the City to ERS.

Environmental Liabilities

Tha City is exposed to numerous environmental liabilities, the most significant of which relate to seven landfills. Two of the
saven landfills have bean closed. OFf the remaining four landfills that are no longer accepling waste, the Wisconsin Department
of Matural Resources has imposed closure requirements on the North College Avenue Site, which the City substantially closed
during 2000. The Hartung landfill, which is used exclusively for clean fill, is expecied fo ba closed within three years. The City
has accrued $550,000 in the government-wide financial statement, as part of general liability claims, for landfill closure related
to the four sites. These amounts are based upon what it would cost to perform all closure activities in 2001. Actual costs may
be higher due to inflation, changes in technology, or changes in regulations.

GASE Statamaent No. 18 “Accounting for Municipal Solid Wasfe Landfill Closure and Postelosure Cara Costs” establishes
requirements for disclosure of closure and postclosure requirements for all municipal solid waste landfills receiving solid waste
after October 9, 1991, The City's landfills have nol accepted waste of this type since 1976 and is therefore not required to
accrue for closure and postclosune cane in accordance with GASB Statement No. 18,

Construction Commitments

The governmental activites and the Water Works Fund (enterprise) have construction commitments of $53,341,000 and
$5,124,000, respactivaly, for various capital improvemant projects at December 31, 2005.

Intergovernmental grants

Intergovermmental awards received by the City are subject to audit and adjustment by the funding agency or their
representatives. If grant revenues are received for expenditures, which are subsequently disallowed, the City may be required
to repay the revenues to the funding agency. In the oplnion of management, liabilites resulting from such disallowed
expenditures, if any, will not be material to the accompanying financial statements at December 31, 2005.

14. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On March 16, 2006, the City issued 525,540,000 of general obligation corporate purpose bonds for the purpose of financing
various public improvement projects of the City. These bonds mature on February 15 of each year beginning 2017 until 2023,
Interest is payable on February 15 and August 15 commencing August 15, 2006.

On March 18, 2008, the City issued $83,310,000 of general obligation short-term promissory notes for the purpose of financing
various public improvement projects and fiscal requirements of the City. The noles malure on February 15 of each year
beginning 2007 until 2016. Interest is payable on February 15 and August 15 commencing August 15, 2006.

On March 16, 2006, the City issued $66,000,000 of short-term revenua anticipation notes for the purpose of temporarily
financing the City's operating budget until the receipt of State shared revenues. These notes mature on April 5, 2007 with
interest.
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CITY OF MILWAUKEE Exhibit E-1
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
EUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - GENERAL FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2005

(Thousands of Dollars)

Actual -
Budgeted Amounts Amounts Variance
Original Final Budgatary Positiva
Budget Budget Basis (Negative)

Revenues:

R R~ % 138,930 $ 139,830 % 135,610 5 (4,320)
e B - e e R 2915 2,915 3,709 794
Licensas and pamils ...........coiiineiieiise s 10,231 10,231 13,374 3,143
IntergovemmenEal- ... i 272,544 272,544 272,875 an
Charges for SBIVICEE ... i e emans 56,523 56,523 63,410 6,887
Finasand forfalts: oo b s e 5213 5,213 5,883 680
3= g e A e T S e T R T 7.812 8,029 12,179 4 150

Tolal ROVONUDE oiciiiiissmissiimisssstsssinisssitasisiiissistins 495,168 405,385 507,050 11,665

Expenditures:

Current:
Genaral GOVEIMMBNE .. ...t nmssasesansmaes 202,239 189,091 180,590 8,501
PUblE Salaly .. i ramanassnssnnnsmarassuysssasnss snnsrrasnns 228,145 249,184 248,366 a18
T S e e e 80,740 89,415 89,180 235
Health ............. 9,765 10,688 10,656 a2
Cuﬂumandr&u‘aaﬂnn 16,279 16,841 16,744 a7
Conservation and development ... 2,963 2,968 2,767 199

Total Expendunes: i 541,131 558,185 548,303 8,882

Deficiency of Revenues over Expendilures ......... (45,963) (62,800) (41,253) 21,547

Other Financing Sources {le]
T R Y e e B e e 26,064 34, 402 39,725 5,323
i 3 e A P e - {3) (3) -
Contribulions recaived ... it beies 25,008 25,008 25,187 89
COntIoUNOrE BT | ittt pes e b ins b beanns (23,335) (27.223) (25,465) 1.758
Usa of fund balance - reserved for tax stabilization ... 16,621 16,621 16,621 -

Total Other Financing Sources and Uses ............. 44,448 48,895 56,065

Net Change in Fund Balance ... (1,515) (13,805) 14,812 28717

Fund Balance - Beginning (Excludes Resarved for
Toox SEDUEAHONY oo srismissmissmismsisssisssbansssiion 70415 70,415 70,415

Fund Balance - ENAING  .......ccocamsismsmmmsmreismssmmsmsns § 68,900 $ 56,510 $ B527 §28,717

Explanation of Differences of Budget to GAAP:

For budget purposes, the fund balance - reserved for tax stabilization is reflected as other financing sources whereas

for accounting purposes, it is reflected as part of fund balance. The difference between the fund balance on a GAAP
basis compared to budget basis is $16.621 million at January 1, 2005. In addition, budgeted expenditures do not include
capital lease paymenis as public safety expendituras.

Contributions received and used for budget purposes are reported as other financing sources, bul for GAAP are
considered to be revanuas and expenditures.

See accompanying indepandent auditors’ report.
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July 17,2007

The City Comptroller and the
Commissioners of the Public Debt of the
City of Milwaukee, Wisconsin

We have examined a record of proceedings relating to the issuance of $42,740,000
aggregate principal amount of General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series 2007 N4 (the
“Notes”) of the City of Milwaukee (the “City”), a municipal corporation of the State of
Wisconsin. The Notes are authorized and issued pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 65 and
Chapter 67 of the Wisconsin Statutes and the City Charter and by virtue of a resolution passed by
the Common Council of the City on December 12, 2006.

The Notes constitute an issue of “promissory notes” under Section 67.12(12) of the
Wisconsin Statutes, are issuable in fully registered form in the denominations of $5,000 or any
integral multiple thereof, and are dated as of July 17, 2007. The Notes mature (without option of
prior redemption) on February 15 in each of the following years in the respective principal
amount set forth opposite each such year in the following table, and bear interest from their date,
payable on February 15, 2008 and semiannually thereafter on February 15 and August 15 of each
year, at the respective rate of interest per annum set forth opposite such year:

Year Principal Amount Interest Rate
2008 $19,930,000 4.00%
2009 5,230,000 5.00
2010 2,795,000 4.25
2011 2,580,000 4.25
2012 2,430,000 4.25
2013 2,365,000 4.25
2014 1,830,000 4.50
2015 1,845,000 4.50
2016 1,860,000 4.25
2017 1,875,000 4.25

In our opinion, the Notes are valid and legally binding general obligations of the City,
and the City has power and is obligated to levy ad valorem taxes upon all the taxable property
within the City for the payment of the Notes and the interest thereon, without limitation as to rate
or amount. The enforceability of rights or remedies with respect to the Notes, however, may be
limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or other laws affecting creditors’ rights and remedies
heretofore or hereafter enacted.

We are further of the opinion that, under existing law, interest on the Notes is not
includable in the gross income of the owners thereof for Federal income tax purposes. If there is
continuing compliance with the applicable requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986
(the “Code”), we are of the opinion that interest on the Notes will continue to be excluded from
the gross income of the owners thereof for Federal income tax purposes. We are further of the
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opinion that the Notes are not “private activity bonds” within the meaning of Section 141(a) of
the Code; accordingly, interest on the Notes is not an item of tax preference for purposes of
computing individual or corporate alternative minimum taxable income. Interest on the Notes,
however, is includable in earnings and profits of a corporation and therefore must be taken into
account when computing corporate alternative minimum taxable income for purposes of the
corporate alternative minimum tax.

The Code contains certain requirements that must be satisfied from and after the date
hereof in order to preserve the exclusion from gross income for Federal income tax purposes of
interest on the Notes. These requirements relate to the use and investment of the proceeds of the
Notes, the payment of certain amounts to the United States, the security and source of payment
of the Notes and the use of the property financed with the proceeds of the Notes. The City has
covenanted to comply with these requirements.

Interest on the Notes is not exempt from Wisconsin income taxes.

Respectfully submitted,

LG/be

B-2
CHI02_60572042_2_335658_00006 6/18/2007 6:04 PM



July 17,2007

The City Comptroller and the
Commissioners of the Public Debt of the
City of Milwaukee, Wisconsin

We have examined a record of proceedings relating to the issuance of $7,090,000
aggregate principal amount of General Obligation Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 2007 BS5 (the
“Bonds”) of the City of Milwaukee (the “City”), a municipal corporation of the State of
Wisconsin. The Bonds are authorized and issued pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 65 and
Chapter 67 of the Wisconsin Statutes and the City Charter and by virtue of resolutions passed by
the Common Council of the City on January 18, 2006, December 12, 2006 and February 27,
2007.

The Bonds constitute an issue of “corporate purpose bonds” under Section 67.05 of the
Wisconsin Statutes, are issuable in fully registered form in the denominations of $5,000 or any
integral multiple thereof, and are dated as of July 17, 2007. The Bonds bear interest from their
date at the rate of five percentum (5%) per annum, payable on February 15, 2008 and
semiannually thereafter on February 15 and August 15 of each year. The Bonds mature on
February 15 in each of the following years in the respective principal amount set forth opposite
each such year in the following table:

Year Principal Amount
2018 $1,170,000
2019 1,190,000
2020 1,210,000
2021 1,225,000
2022 1,250,000
2023 510,000
2024 535,000

The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of the City, in such
principal amounts and from such maturities as the City shall determine and by lot within a single
maturity, on February 15, 2017 and on any date thereafter, at a redemption price equal to the
principal amount thereof to be redeemed, plus accrued interest thereon to the date fixed for
redemption.

In our opinion, the Bonds are valid and legally binding general obligations of the City,
and the City has power and is obligated to levy ad valorem taxes upon all the taxable property
within the City for the payment of the Bonds and the interest thereon, without limitation as to
rate or amount. The enforceability of rights or remedies with respect to the Bonds, however,
may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or other laws affecting creditors’ rights and remedies
heretofore or hereafter enacted.
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We are further of the opinion that, under existing law, interest on the Bonds is not
includable in the gross income of the owners thereof for Federal income tax purposes. If there is
continuing compliance with the applicable requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986
(the “Code”), we are of the opinion that interest on the Bonds will continue to be excluded from
the gross income of the owners thereof for Federal income tax purposes. We are further of the
opinion that the Bonds are not “private activity bonds” within the meaning of Section 141(a) of
the Code; accordingly, interest on the Bonds is not an item of tax preference for purposes of
computing individual or corporate alternative minimum taxable income. Interest on the Bonds,
however, is includable in earnings and profits of a corporation and therefore must be taken into
account when computing corporate alternative minimum taxable income for purposes of the
corporate alternative minimum tax.

The Code contains certain requirements that must be satisfied from and after the date
hereof in order to preserve the exclusion from gross income for Federal income tax purposes of
interest on the Bonds. These requirements relate to the use and investment of the proceeds of the
Bonds, the payment of certain amounts to the United States, the security and source of payment
of the Bonds and the use of the property financed with the proceeds of the Bonds. The City has
covenanted to comply with these requirements.

Interest on the Bonds is not exempt from Wisconsin income taxes.
Respectfully submitted,

LG/be
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MASTER CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE

This Master Continuing Disclosure Certificate (the “Certificate”) dated as of March 1, 2004 is executed and delivered in
connection with the issuance, from time to time, of municipal securities of the City of Milwaukee, Wisconsin (the “City”) and
pursuant to resolution 031384 duly adopted by the Common Council of the City on February 10, 2004 (the “Resolution”).
Capitalized terms used in this Certificate shall have the respective meanings specified above or in Article I hereof. Pursuant to the
Resolution, the City agrees as follows:

ARTICLE I - Definitions

Section 1.1. Definitions. The following capitalized terms used in this Certificate shall have the following respective
meanings:

(1) “Annual Financial Information” means, collectively, (i) the financial information and operating data as described
in an Addendum Describing Annual Report (Exhibit B); and (ii) information regarding amendments to this Certificate
required pursuant to Sections 4.2(c) and (d) of this Certificate.

The descriptions contained in clause (i) above of financial information and operating data constituting Annual
Financial Information are of general categories of financial information and operating data. Where such descriptions
include information that no longer can be generated because the operations to which it related have been materially
changed or discontinued, a new Addendum Describing Annual Report shall be executed describing the information to be
provided.

(2) “Audited Financial Statements” means the annual financial statements, if any, of the City, audited by such auditor
as shall then be required or permitted by State law or the Resolution. Audited Financial Statements shall be prepared in
accordance with GAAP for governmental units as prescribed by GASB; provided, however, that the City may from time to
time, if required by federal or State legal requirements, modify the basis upon which its financial statements are prepared.
Notice of any such modification, other than modifications prescribed by GASB, shall be provided to each NRMSIR and the
SID, and shall include a reference to the specific federal or State law or regulation describing such accounting basis.

(3) “Counsel” means a nationally recognized bond counsel or counsel expert in federal securities laws, acceptable to
the City.

(4) “GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles for governmental units as prescribed by GASB.
(5) “GASB” means the Governmental Accounting Standards Board.

(6) “Material Event” means any of the following events with respect to the Offered Obligations, whether relating to
the City or otherwise, if material:

1) principal and interest payment delinquencies;

(ii) non-payment related defaults;

(iii) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;

(iv) unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;

) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;

(vi) adverse tax opinions or events affecting the tax-exempt status of the Offered Obligations;
(vii) modifications to rights of Security Holders;

(viii) bond calls;

(ix) defeasances;

x) release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the Offered Obligations; and
(xi) rating changes.

(7) “Material Event Notice” means notice of a Material Event.

(8) “MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board established pursuant to the provisions of
Section 15B(b)(1) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

(9) “NRMSIR” means, at any time, a then existing nationally recognized municipal securities information repository,
as recognized from time to time by the SEC for the purposes referred to in the Rule. The NRMSIRs and filing information
relating to such NRMSIR’s are set forth in the Addendum Describing NRMSIRs (Exhibit A) as may be revised from time
to time.

(10) “Offered Obligations” means an issue of municipal securities of the City in connection with which the City has
executed and delivered a Supplemental Certificate (Exhibit C).

(11) “Official Statement” means the “final official statement” as defined in paragraph (f)(3) of the Rule.

(12) “Rule” means Rule 15¢2-12 promulgated by the SEC under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (17 CFR Part
240, §240.15¢2-12), as in effect on the date of this Certificate, including any amendments and official interpretations
thereof issued either before or after the effective date of this Certificate which are applicable to this Certificate.
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(13) “SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.
(14) “Security Holders” means the holders from time to time of Offered Obligations.

(15) “SID” means, at any time, a then-existing state information depository, if any, as operated or designated as such
by or on behalf of the State for the purposes referred to in the Rule. As of the date of this Certificate, there is no SID.

(16) “State” means the State of Wisconsin.

(17) “Unaudited Financial Statements” means the same as Audited Financial Statements, except the same shall not
have been unaudited.

(18) “Underwriters” means the underwriter(s) purchasing an issue of Offered Obligations.
ARTICLE II - The Undertaking

Section 2.1. Purpose. This Certificate shall apply to Offered Obligations, and shall constitute a written undertaking for the
benefit of the Security Holders, and is being executed and delivered solely to assist the Underwriters in complying with subsection
(b)(5) of the Rule.

Section 2.2. Annual Financial Information. (a) The City shall provide Annual Financial Information for the City with
respect to each fiscal year of the City, by no later than nine months after the end of the respective fiscal year, to each NRMSIR and
the SID.

(b) The City shall provide, in a timely manner, notice of any failure of the City to provide the Annual Financial
Information by the date specified in subsection (a) above to (i) either the MSRB or each NRMSIR, and (ii) the SID.

Section 2.3. Audited Financial Statements. If not provided as part of Annual Financial Information by the dates required
by Section 2.2(a) hereof, the City shall provide Audited Financial Statements, when and if available, to each NRMSIR and the SID.

Section 2.4. Notices of Material Events. (a) If a Material Event occurs, the City shall provide, in a timely manner, a
Material Event Notice to (i) either the MSRB or each NRMSIR and (ii) the SID.

(b) Upon any legal defeasance of an Offered Obligation, the City shall provide notice of such defeasance to (i) each
NRMSIR or the MSRB and (ii) the SID, which notice shall state whether the Offered Obligations to be defeased have been defeased
to maturity or to redemption and the timing of such maturity or redemption.

Section 2.5. Additional Disclosure Obligations. The City acknowledges and understands that other state and federal laws,
including but not limited to the Securities Act of 1933 and SEC Rule 10b-5 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
may apply to the City, and that under some circumstances compliance with this Certificate, without additional disclosures or other
action, may not fully discharge all duties and obligations of the City under such laws.

Section 2.6. Additional Information. Nothing in this Certificate shall be deemed to prevent the City from disseminating
any other information, using the means of dissemination set forth in this Certificate or any other means of communication, or
including any other information in any Annual Financial Information or Material Event Notice, in addition to that which is required
by this Certificate. If the City chooses to include any information in any Annual Financial Information or Material Event Notice in
addition to that which is specifically required by this Certificate, the City shall have no obligation under this Certificate to update
such information or include it in any future Annual Financial Information or Material Event Notice.

Section 2.7. No Previous Non-Compliance. The City represents that since July 3, 1995, it has not failed to comply in any
material respect with any previous undertaking in a written contract or agreement specified in paragraph (b)(5)(i) of the Rule.

ARTICLE III - Operating Rules

Section 3.1. Reference to Other Documents. It shall be sufficient for purposes of Section 2.2 hereof if the City provides
Annual Financial Information by specific reference to documents (i) either (1) provided to each NRMSIR existing at the time of such
reference and the SID, or (2) filed with the SEC, or (i1) if such a document is an Official Statement, available from the MSRB.

Section 3.2. Submission of Information. Annual Financial Information may be provided in one document or multiple
documents, and at one time or in part from time to time.

Section 3.3. Material Event Notices. Each Material Event Notice shall be so captioned and shall prominently state the title,
date and CUSIP numbers of the Offered Obligations.

Section 3.4. Transmission of Information and Notices. Unless otherwise required by law and, in the City’s sole
determination, subject to technical and economic feasibility, the City shall employ such methods of information and notice
transmission as shall be requested or recommended by the herein-designated recipients of the City’s information and notices.

ARTICLE IV - Termination, Amendment and Enforcement

Section 4.1. Termination. (a) The City’s obligations under this Certificate with respect to an Offered Obligation shall
terminate upon legal defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of the Offered Obligation.
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(b) This Certificate or any provision hereof, shall be null and void in the event that the City (1) delivers to the City an
opinion of Counsel, addressed to the City, to the effect that those portions of the Rule which require the provisions of this Certificate
or any of such provisions, do not or no longer apply to the Offered Obligations, whether because such portions of the Rule are
invalid, have been repealed, or otherwise, as shall be specified in such opinion, and (2) delivers copies of such opinion to each
NRMSIR and the SID.

Section 4.2. Amendment. (a) This Certificate may be amended, by written certificate of the Comptroller, without the
consent of the Security Holders if all of the following conditions are satisfied: (1) such amendment is made in connection with a
change in circumstances that arises from a change in legal (including regulatory) requirements, a change in law (including rules or
regulations) or in interpretations thereof, or a change in the identity, nature or status of the City or the type of business conducted
thereby; (2) this Certificate as so amended would have complied with the requirements of the Rule as of the date of this Certificate,
after taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in circumstances; (3) the City shall
have received an opinion of Counsel addressed to the City, to the same effect as set forth in clause (2) above and further to the effect
that the amendment does not materially impair the interests of the Security Holders; and (4) the City delivers copies of such opinion
and amendment to each NRMSIR and the SID.

(b) In addition to subsection (a) above, this Certificate may be amended and any provision of this Certificate may be
waived, without the consent of the Security Holders, if all of the following conditions are satisfied: (1) an amendment to the Rule is
adopted, or a new or modified official interpretation of the Rule is issued, after the effective date hereof which is applicable to this
Certificate; (2) the City shall have received an opinion of Counsel to the effect that performance by the City under this Certificate as
so amended or giving effect to such waiver, as the case may be, will not result in a violation of the Rule; and (3) the City shall have
delivered copies of such opinion and amendment to each NRMSIR and the SID.

(c) To the extent any amendment to this Certificate results in a change in the types of financial information or operating
data provided pursuant to this Certificate, the first Annual Financial Information provided thereafter shall include a narrative
explanation of the reasons for the amendment and the impact of the change.

(d) If an amendment is made to the accounting principles to be followed in preparing financial statements, other than
changes prescribed by GASB, the Annual Financial Information for the year in which the change is made shall present a comparison
between the financial statements or information prepared on the basis of the new accounting principles and those prepared on the
basis of the former accounting principles. Such comparison shall include a qualitative and, to the extent reasonably feasible,
quantitative discussion of the differences in the accounting principles and the impact of the change in the accounting principles on the
presentation of the financial information. Notice of any such amendment shall be provided by the City to (i) either the MSRB or each
NRMSIR, and (ii) the SID.

Section 4.3. Benefit; Third-Party Beneficiaries; Enforcement. (a) The provisions of this Certificate shall constitute a
contract with and inure solely to the benefit of the Security Holders. Beneficial owners of Offered Obligations shall be third-party
beneficiaries of this Certificate.

(b) Except as provided in this subparagraph (b), the provisions of this Certificate shall create no rights in any person or
entity. The obligations of the City to comply with the provisions of this Certificate shall be enforceable by the Security Holders,
including beneficial owners of Offered Obligations. The Security Holders’ rights to enforce the provisions of this Certificate shall be
limited solely to a right, by action in mandamus or for specific performance, to compel performance of the City’s obligations under
this Certificate and the Resolution. In consideration of the third-party beneficiary status of beneficial owners of Offered Obligations
pursuant to subsection (a) of this Section, beneficial owners shall be deemed to be Security Holders for purposes of this
subsection (b).

(c) Any failure by the City to perform in accordance with this Certificate shall not constitute a default under the
Resolution and any rights and remedies provided by the Resolution upon the occurrence of a default shall not apply to any such
failure.

(d) This Certificate shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State, and any suits and actions
arising out of this Certificate shall be instituted in a court of competent jurisdiction in the State; provided, however, that to the extent
this Certificate addresses matters of federal securities laws, including the Rule, this Certificate shall be construed in accordance with
such federal securities laws and official interpretations thereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOQF, I have hereunto executed this Certificate this 1st day of March, 2004.

CITY OF MILWAUKEE, WISCONSIN

By:

Comptroller
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ADDENDUM DESCRIBING NRMSIRs

This Addendum Describing NRMSIRs (the "Addendum") is delivered by the City of Milwaukee, Wisconsin (the
"Issuer") pursuant to the Master Continuing Disclosure Certificate, executed and delivered by the Issuer and dated
March 1, 2004. This Addendum describes the filing information relating to the Nationally Recognized Municipal
Securities Information Repositories approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Repositories and Contact Information
Pursuant to the Securities and Exchange Commission interpretive letter to the Texas Municipal Advisory
Council (the “MAC”) dated September 7, 2004, the Issuer elects to transmit filings to the MAC as provided
at http://www.disclosureusa.org for submission to the NRMSIRs and any applicable SID.

Disclosure USA
www.disclosureusa.org

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto executed this Addendum this 1* day of March, 2005.

CITY OF MILWAUKEE, WISCONSIN

By:
Comptroller




SUPPLEMENTAL CERTIFICATE

This Supplemental Certificate is executed and delivered by the City of Milwaukee, Wisconsin (the
"Issuer™) to supplement the Master Continuing Disclosure Certificate (the "Certificate"), executed and delivered
by the Issuer and dated March 1, 2004. Pursuant to the provisions of the Certificate, the Issuer hereby determines
that the Certificate and the Addendum Describing Annual Report, as described below, shall apply to the following
issue of obligations:

Name of Obligations:

$42,740,000 General Obligation Promissory Notes, Series 2007 N4
$7,090,000 General Obligation Corporate Purpose Bonds, Series 2007 B5

Addendum Describing Annual Report:

ADDENDUM DESCRIBING ANNUAL REPORT

FOR GENERAL OBLIGATION DEBT OF THE ISSUER
Date of Issues:

July 17, 2007

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have caused this Supplemental Certificate to be executed this
17" day of July, 2007.

CITY OF MILWAUKEE, WISCONSIN

By:

Comptroller

WMM:RSL



This Page Has Been Intentionally Left Blank



APPENDIX D

SPECIMEN OF MUNICIPAL BOND INSURANCE POLICY



This Page Has Been Intentionally Left Blank



m
FINANCIAL GUARANTY INSURANCE POLICY

MBIA Insurance Corporation
Armonk, New York 10504

Policy No. [NUMBER]

MBIA Insurance Corporation (the "Insurer"), in consideration of the payment of the premium and subject to the terms of this policy, hereby
unconditionally and irrevocably guarantees to any owner, as hereinafter defined, of the following described obligations, the full and complete payment
required to be made by or on behalf of the Issuer to [PAYING AGENT/TRUSTEE] or its successor (the "Paying Agent™) of an amount equal to (i) the
principal of (either at the stated maturity or by any advancement of maturity pursuant to a mandatory sinking fund payment) and interest on, the
Obligations (as that term is defined below) as such payments shall become due but shall not be so paid (except that in the event of any acceleration of
the due date of such principal by reason of mandatory or optional redemption or acceleration resulting from default or otherwise, other than any
advancement of maturity pursuant to a mandatory sinking fund payment, the payments guaranteed hereby shall be made in such amounts and at such
times as such payments of principal would have been due had there not been any such acceleration, unless the Insurer elects, in its sole discretion, to pay
in whole or in part any principal due by reason of such acceleration); and (ii) the reimbursement of any such payment which is subsequently recovered
from any owner pursuant to a final judgment by a court of competent jurisdiction that such payment constitutes an avoidable preference to such owner
within the meaning of any applicable bankruptcy law. The amounts referred to in clauses (i) and (ii) of the preceding sentence shall be referred to herein
collectively as the "Insured Amounts." "Obligations" shall mean:

[PAR]
[LEGAL NAME OF ISSUE]

Upon receipt of telephonic or telegraphic notice, such notice subsequently confirmed in writing by registered or certified mail, or upon receipt of written
notice by registered or certified mail, by the Insurer from the Paying Agent or any owner of an Obligation the payment of an Insured Amount for which
is then due, that such required payment has not been made, the Insurer on the due date of such payment or within one business day after receipt of notice
of such nonpayment, whichever is later, will make a deposit of funds, in an account with U.S. Bank Trust National Association, in New York, New
York, or its successor, sufficient for the payment of any such Insured Amounts which are then due. Upon presentment and surrender of such
Obligations or presentment of such other proof of ownership of the Obligations, together with any appropriate instruments of assignment to evidence
the assignment of the Insured Amounts due on the Obligations as are paid by the Insurer, and appropriate instruments to effect the appointment of the
Insurer as agent for such owners of the Obligations in any legal proceeding related to payment of Insured Amounts on the Obligations, such instruments
being in a form satisfactory to U.S. Bank Trust National Association, U.S. Bank Trust National Association shall disburse to such owners, or the Paying
Agent payment of the Insured Amounts due on such Obligations, less any amount held by the Paying Agent for the payment of such Insured Amounts
and legally available therefor. This policy does not insure against loss of any prepayment premium which may at any time be payable with respect to
any Obligation.

As used herein, the term "owner" shall mean the registered owner of any Obligation as indicated in the books maintained by the Paying Agent, the
Issuer, or any designee of the Issuer for such purpose. The term owner shall not include the Issuer or any party whose agreement with the Issuer
constitutes the underlying security for the Obligations.

Any service of process on the Insurer may be made to the Insurer at its offices located at 113 King Street, Armonk, New York 10504 and such service
of process shall be valid and binding.

This policy is non-cancellable for any reason. The premium on this policy is not refundable for any reason including the payment prior to maturity of
the Obligations.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Insurer has caused this policy to be executed in facsimile on its behalf by its duly authorized officers, this [DAY] day of
[MONTH, YEAR].

MBIA Insurance Corporation

PrgSilent

Attest:

Assistant Secretary

STD-R-7
01/05
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